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Passionate about

animal care

CVS Group plc is one of the leading
integrated veterinary services providers
in the UK, the Netherlands and the Republic
of Ireland. Our success is derived from
the passion our people have for providing
excellent care for animals.
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Operational highlights

« Qur people have demonstrated resilience and
continued excellence throughout the year despite
many challenges across our industry

- As well as offering first class care to sick or injured
animals we are continuaily improving the levels of
preventative health care through our Healthy Pet Club

« Qur annual Quality Improvement report reflects
our commitment to patient safety and consistent
clinical improvement, and has gained us significant
recognition in the profession, not least by our regulator
the Roval College of Veterinary Surgeons ("RCVS")

« We are committed to enhancing the clinical
services we offer, particularly in the quality of
our facilities and as such we have completed
13 refurbishments and relocations in FY21

« We have continued to organically grow our revenues,
supplementing this with nine synergistic acquisitions
during the year

Read the report at
cvsukltd.co.uk



THANK
YOU

CVS cares about the contribution
of our colleagues and we want to
thank every single one of them
for their extraordinary efforts to
provide the best possible care
for animals, and for delivering
exceptional performance across
all our business areas.




CVS
‘Thank
Holiday’

In recognition of the
support that we received
from colleagues during
the initial COVID-19
lockdown period, we
offered all our colleagues
an additional day’s

holiday in December 2020.

Early
bonus
payment

In March 2021, to
recognise the significant
efforts of our colleagues

in recovering from the
COVID-19 pandemic, we
made a partial early
bonus payment to clinical
colleagues and gave
shopping vouchers
to all colleagues.

‘Holiday
of a
lifetime’

In April 2021, we ran
a prize draw in which
all colleagues who
successfully referred a
friend to work for CVS
were entered into a prize
draw to win a ‘holiday
of a lifetime’, This was
won by one of our
valued nurses.

Wellbeing

Our people are our
biggest asset and they
have demonstrated
resilience and dedication
over the past year. We
improved our wellbeing
offering in 2021, rolling
out a new dedicated
Wellbeing Hub
with support and
resources available
to all our colleagues.



Highlights

Financial highlights’

Revenue increased by 19.2%, to £510.1m from
£427.8m, with strong Group like-for-like? growth
of 17.4% benefitting from favourable market
dynamics and a continued focus on providing
high quality care to our clients and their animals.

« Profit before income tax increased by 234.3%

to £33.1m from £9.9m.

Leverage® fell to 0.68x from 1.14x as a result of
strong EBITDA growth and reduction in net debt.

Cash generated from operations decreased to

The Group delivered adjusted EBITDA growth

of 37.3%, to £97.5m from £71.0m, through an
increase in revenue across all divisions and
effective management of costs.

Revenue {(Em}

Adjusted EBITDA" (Em)

£80.3m from £94.8m despite the increase in
adjusted EBITDA, due to VAT and taxes deferred
in the prior year due to COVID-19, paid in the

current year.

Adjusted profit before

Adjusted earnings

income tax® (Em) per share® {p)
£510.1m £97.5m £66.2m 75.1p
+19.2% +37.3% +73.3% +78.8%
2021/ 5104 2021 975 2021 862 2021 75.1
2020 | 427.8 2020 71.0 2020 382 2020 ‘ 42.0
2019 406.5 2019 B54.5 2019 | o 2019 ‘ u67
2018 327.3 2018 L7.6 2018 36.0 208 L2l
2017 271.8 2017 421 2017 235 2017 | L2.3
Proposed dividend Cash generated Profit before income tax  Basic earnings per share
per share (p) from operations (fm) (Em) (P
6.5p £80.3m £33.1m 27.3p
n/a -15,.3% +234.3% +237.0%
2021 65 2021, 80.3 2021 331 2021 ‘ 27.3
2020 n/a 2020 948 2020 99 2020 | 8.1
2015 55 2019 | 521 209 17 2019 1.6
2018 5.0 2018 | 467 2018 141 2018 ‘ 16.0
2017 .5 37.2 2017 145 2017 18.5

20177 |

Adjusted financial measures {(adjusted Larnings Before Interes:, Tax, Depreciation and Amortsation {adjusted EBITDA™) adjusted prof 1 cefore incomic tax
and adjusted carmings per s1are} are defined below. ana reconc lad to the financial measu-es dafinea by Internztional Financial Report ng Srandards
["IFRS"} on pages 90 and 118 IFR3 18, 'Leases’ has been apphed prospectively and, therefore, yoars 2013 and onor are all stated before tne mpact of IF33 16

Like-for-like sales shows revenue gererated from like-for-like operations compared to the prior year, adiusted for the number of working days For sxample,

2
for a plactica acquired in Septermber 2019, revenue s included from September 2020 10 the like-far-lke calculat ons

3 Leverage on a bark test bass s drawn bark dett less cash at bank, dwides b, adjusted ERITDA annLalised for ihe effect o7 acguisitions, ncluding costs
relating to business comb nations and exclud ng share ooton costs, prion ta the adoption of IFR3 16

4 Adjusted FBITDA {(Earmings Before nterest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation} s profit uatore ncome tax adjusted for interest {net finance expense)
depreciation, ameortisation, costs relating to busingss comb nations, ard exceptiorclitems Adjusted FRITDA 15 used as a finacal metrnic that remows
the cost of debt, costs relating to depreciation and amortisation and one-off costs to ach eve a nurmalised earrings figure that 1s rot distarted by
irregular items or structural investment

5 Adjusted profit before income tax s caleulated ag profit before amortisation taxztion costsrelating 1o business combinations, and cxceptional items

6 Adjusted earmings per share s caloulated as adjusted profit bafore income tax less acol cable taxa or divided by the we ghted average numbe-

of Ordinary shares in issug .n the year.
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Strategic roadmap

Delivering our
vision for the future

Our purpose

Our purpose 15 to gve the best possible care to animals

Our key strategic pillars

1.

We recommend
and provide the
best clinical

care every time

2.

We are a great
place to work and
have a career

Discover more about our strotegy on pages 22 and 23

Our values

Customer focus

Our dedication 1o our
customers s at the heart
of our business and we
are focused cn our
customers” and ther
animals needs.

Underpinned by our commitment to Environmental,

Commitment to
excellence

We corstantly strive

to achieve the highes:
possible standards in
the quahty of services
and products we provide

Social and Governance (“ESG™)

Read more about our approach to ESG on pages 42 to 48

2 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Qur vision

Our vision 1s to be the veterinary company pecple

maost want to work for

3.

We provide great
facilities and
equipment

Success through

our people

We aim to attract, develop
and retain the best people
and to be the veterinary
company people most
want to work for.

HC

We take our
responsibilities
seriously

Honesty and integrity

We treat our colieagues
and customers with
honesty and respect. We
strive to achieve long-term
relationships with cur
customers and suppliers,
and ensure safety and
accessibility ir all areas

of our business.



At a glance

A fully integrated veterinary

services platform

Breakdown of revenue

85.4% 5.3% 1.5%

Veterinary
practices

Qur first-opinion and
referral practices provide
speciahst treatment for
companion, equine and
farm animals. We provide
high guality healthcare
either when required, or
through our preventative
healthcare schemes: the
Healthy Pet Club ("HPC™)
and Healthy Horse
Programme {"HHP"},

We also operate buying
qgroups, a veterinary
consumable business,
“Vet Direct”, and we
supply a number of
own-brand medicines
and products.

Laboratories

Qur |zboratories provide
diagnostic services to
CVS veterinary practices
and third parues. We
offer an extensive range
of tasts with the ability
to tailor specific profiles

to our customers’ needs.

Our team of pathologists
and experts specialise in
a variety of disciplines in
ail areas of the laboratory
and their aims to offer
a level of service and
expertise beyond our
customers’ expectations

Crematoria

Cur crematoria provide
pet crematich and
clinical waste services
to CVE practices and
third-party pracuces,
and cremations to
animal owners.

we offer a range of
sarvices o help our
cliens remember
and say goodbye
tothenr pets

Discover more about our operations on pages 28 to 35

* Revenue share before intercompany sales between practices
and other divisions.

Our locations

We have a solid geographical spread across
the UK and a presence in the Netherlands
and the Republic of freland.

Key

Verennary practices [506)
Laboratories (3)
Crematara {7

7.8%

Online retail
business

Qur online retail

business, "Animed Direc?”,

sells prescrnption and
non-prescription
med:cines, premium
pet foods and an
aver-INcreasing range
of pet care products,
which can be delivered

diractly to our customers’

doors, sav:ng them time
as well as morey.

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 |
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Investment case

Foundations are in
place for future growth

CVS is a high-performing business with
a fully-integrated model which positions
it well for further growth.

Market

Sizeable and growing
market with consumers
spending more ori
their pets

Discover more about our
markets on pages 13 to 16

Strategy

Clear, people-focused
strategy to drive
organic growth

Discover more about
our strategy on pages
22and 23

Business model

Fully integrated model with
first-opinion prachices,
supported by specialist-led
mutti-disciplinary referral
hospitals. laboratores,
crematona and anonlire
retall business

Discover more about
our business mode| on
pages 16 and 17
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Sectors

Attractive sector which has
proven resilient despite
COVID-19 restrictions

Discover more in our
Operational review
on pages 28 to 35

Management

Strong management team
with a broad range of
experience and expertise
of which 50% of our
Executive team are
veterinary surgeons

af NUrses

Discover more about
our Board of Directors
on pages 58 and 59

Acquisitions

increased opportunity for
acguisitions To supplement
organic growth

Discaver more in our
Chief Executive Officer’s
review on pages 9 te 11



Strategy in action

We recommend and provide
the best clinical care every time

Service quality
is driving
client value

During the year, we have made efforts to reduce the prescribing
of Higheast Priority Critically Important Antimicrobials ("HPClAs"),
for which we have been internationally recegnised. Thanks to the
excellent work of CVS practices, we now have an evidence based
frarmmework for reducing HPCIA prescriptions in companion anima
practices The CVS Antimicrobial Resistance policy 1s shaping the
approach to antimicrobtal prescrbing across clinical and
laboratory teams, and this framework will be used Group-wide,

w th the hope of realising benefits on a larger scale

This 15 just one example of how we recommend and provide the
pest clhinical care for our patients, which 1s one of the reasons for
our high client lovalty.

+8.4% +c.31%

Membership of our preventative Cases seen by our specialist
healthcare scheme, Healthy Pat  referral hospitals have grown
Club, has grown 8.4%, by ¢.31% compared to FY20
to 450,000 members

+c.23%

Cur companion animal and
naw client registrations have
increased by ¢.23% in 2021
compared to FY20

www.cvsukltd.co.uk/
cvs-group-publishes-2020-
quality-improvement-report/
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Chairman’s statement

Well positioned to deliver further
growth in shareholder value

66

CVS has emerged as a stronger
business in light of actions
taken to manage the business
through the COVID-19
pandemic, with excellent
growth opportunities ahead.”

Richard Connell
Chairman

& | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Finangial Statements 2021

Introduction

When | wrote to you last year, CVS was emerging fram the
first phase of an unprecedented pernod of disruption caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic. Over the past year, we have
continued to face challenges but have taken a number of
appropriate and decisive actions as a Board Through this
effective leadership, combined with the ongoing dedication
o our colleagues. | am delighted thal CVS has demonstrated
the resilience of its business model and has emerged as a
stronger business with excellent growth opportunities ahead

The fundaimental strength of CVS is our people and this has
been a key factor in our strong performance over the past
yealr CVS colleagues have continued to work tirelessly to
provide high quality care 1o our clients and their patients
and, on behalf of the Board, | would ke to take this opportunity
to thank the all for their hard work and commitment.

Strong financial performance

CVS has delivered improved financial performance in the
past finarcial year as a result of positive mammentum in
trading across the Group.

We generated revenue growth of 19 2% which reflects strong
organic growth, with like for-Ike sales increasing by 17 4% for
the Group This reflects an increased client base and our
continued focus on delivening high quality clinical care. We
completed nine acguisitions during tne financial year and
revenue of £61m was generated from these (2020 four
acquisitons w th revenue of £4.3m).

Our adjusted EBITDA increased by 37.3% to £975m
(2020: £71.0rm) reflecting good performance across all
areas of our business and close control of expenses
Adjusted ERS increased by 78 8% to 75.1p (2020: 42 0p)

Profit before income tax increased by 234.3% to £33.1m
{(2020.£9 9} This dual benefit of the increase in revenue
and tne careful management of costs has resultea in a
sigruficant improvement in returns. Basic EPS .ncreased
by 237.0% to 27.3p (2020 8.1p).

We continued to generate strorg cash flow from operations
of £80.3m (2020: £34 8m), with the year-on-year decrease
of 156.3% due to the repayrment of VAT of £15 Om to HMRC,
which was deferred from 2020 under the COVID-1Q VAT
Deferral scheme.



Strategic progress

We have a very clear purpose 1 provide the best possible care
o animals ard this 1s underpinned by our vision to be the
vetennary company people most want to work for

In recognition of the essential part our colleagues play In the
success of CVS, we have continued to review reward and
benefits across CVS to ensure we remain well positionad to
retain and altract the very best Lalent in the profession. We also
support employee sharehotding in CvS and, with this in mind,
we increased the discount 10 20.0% for our latest emplovee Save
As You Earn scheme which launched in November 2020

We continue to expand our coileague base in response to
the increased demand for our integrated veterinary services,
particularly in light of a growing pet population. In the year
endea 30 June 2021, CVS employed an average of 7241
colleagues (30 June 2020: 6,767 including 1,962 vetennary
surgeons (30 June 2020: 1,781} and 2,548 nurses {30 June
2020: 2,359) who we support through our comprehensive
training and development programmes.

We have delivered strong underlying financial performarce
over the past year from a focus on organic growth through
the delivery of first class clinical care. We continue to invest
Inimproving our practice facilities and clinical equipment,
completing 13 practice refurbishment and relocation
projects in the past financial year. We have also announced
plans to create a specialist, multi-disciplinary referral hospital
in Bristol and look forward 1o welcoming our first clients to
this new facility in 2022

Alengside our focus on organic growth and cur continued
investrment in practice and clinical facilities, we are well placed
tc make further acquisiticns of first-cpinion veterinary
practices. Acguisitions can widen our offer of high quality
and integrated veterninary services, whilst augmenting our
organic growth, positioning CVS well to deliver further
growth in shareholder value over the medisvm term.

Governance and the Board

We remair committed to the highest levels of corporate
governance and, as an AIM-guoted company, we voluntarily
adopt the FRC UK Corporate Governance Code (2018).

We are commutted 1o ensuring we have the right balance of
skills and experience within the Board. 0 July 2020 we
appointed an additional Non-Execative Director, Richard
Gray. Richard s the Chair of tne Nominations Cormmittes,

Our Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,

Mike McCollum has announced his intention to stand aowr,
after serving for eight and a half years, and will leave CVS at
the end of h s current service agreement, which expires on
23 September 2021, On behalf of the Board, | would ke (o
take this opportunity to thank Mike for his tremendous
sarvice and to wish him every success in the future.

Ihe Nom nations Committee is proposing that we

appoint David Wiltor as a new Non-Executive Director

on 24 September 2021 to replace Mike McCollum as Audt
Committee Chair. David 1s a Chartered Accountant and has
awaalth of experence in senior financial roles, most
recently as Chief Financial Officer of Sumo Group plc In
ight of Mike MeCaollun's departure, Deborah Kerap will
become the Senior Independent Director

On 16 August 2027, we appointed lenny Farrer as our new
Company Secretary. Jenny is a Chartered Governance
Professional and has a wealth of experience ir company
secretarial roles.

| am delighted to welcome David and Jenny to CVS.

In the year, we consulted with maior shareholders on
governance and other matters and, in light of their feedback
and independence considerations, | siood down from all
Board committees with effect from 30 April 20271

Dividends

The robust performance delivered over the past year
demonstraies both the resillience of our business and

the strength of our integrated vetennary services model.
The Group contirues to be highly cash generative, ard
despite continuing strong levels of investment n facilities,
aquipment and acouisitions in the year, we recuced our not
debt by £11.9m over the course of the year,

In ight of the iImprovements in financial performance and the
continued strong cash generation, the Board is recomrmending
a return to our prograssive dividend policy, with the payment
of a final dividend of 6.5p per share {(2020: £nil).

CVS Group plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021| 7
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Chairman’s statement continued

Shareholder engagement

During the yvear, the Directors regularly held one-to-one
rmeetngs and calls with existing and potental new sharenolders,
hosted a number of readshows and attended several virtual
hroker conferences.

We appo nted MHP Cormmurisations as our financ &l public
relations {"PR"Y agency in the year and we will continue to
develop our shareholder engagement ard reporting in line
with best practice The Executive Directors held the Croup's
first ever live webcast of the Group’s mtenm results
presentation in Margh 2021 and we witl contmue to oresen
future resdlts in this way, with a replay fac.lty avalable

Outlook

Mme veterinary sector 18 undergoing structural groweh,
througn a numbar of contiumg trends incliuchirg the
huarmarisation of pets, an increase 10 the aemand for
companion arimals accelerated npy COVID-1S restnctions,
cansumers who are keen to provide the best possible care to
thenr pets. and clinical enhancements which are increasing
the range of services we can offer to achieve the hest
potential outcomes

Our fully Integrated veterinary services model, with first-opinion
vetennary practices supported by specalbist referral hospitals,
laboratonies, crernatoria and our online retall business all
posiion CVS well o benefit from these favouracle sector

and consumer trends Through our improved financial
nerformance and strengthened balance sheet, we a2 well
placed o invest further inour people, our facilites and chrical
equipmeant, and in selective acguisinons to drive growth and
enhianced retuns.

As we contnue to expand and develcp our business. our
focus will nghtly remain on attracthry ana retaining the very
best talent and working as a team to prov.de the h grest
qaalty care 1o our chients and therr an mals,

Hoox forward vath confiaence 1o a successful *uture.

Richard Conneli
Chairman
23 September 2021
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We care by taking a leading role in driving
standards and responsible practices across
the profession

In our companon animal practces, we are using
an evidence-based framework to report on
antibotic prescriptions and promote responsible
prescriping of antimicrobials. We encourage our
practices to participate in ‘Farm Vet Champions,
sponsored by RCVS Knowledge, a charity partner
of the Roval Caollege of Veteninary Surgeons. Tnis
online learning platform supports farm vets to
establish good antimicrobial stewardship In
eguine practices, we are working to baseline

and benchmark prescnbing data and develop
annmicrobial stewardship guidelines



Chief Executive Officer’s review

Care at our heart

66

| am immensely proud to lead
our team of highly skilled and
committed CVS colleagues who
provide outstanding service to
our clients and their animals.”

Richard Fairman
Chief Executive Officer

Introduction
am pleased to share our 2021 Annual Report and
Financial Statements.

We nave delivered a strong performance in the past firancal
year. Our business model has proven to be resilient, despite
the diff cult backdrop of COVID-19, ard we nave asricn a
proposition as ever, focused on providing the very highest
stancards of clinical care. This 1s all due to the efforts and
collacoration of our outstanding team of colleagues.

Throughout the past vear, we have had to respond to
evolving regulazory guidance and new ways of working in
order to provide ongoing care to animals, whilst <eening
our colleagues and chents safe

Fwould like to take this opportunity to thank all CvS colleagues
for their professionalism, sheer hard work and continued
commitment to providing tre hignest lavels of service

Favourable market and consumer trends

We nave seen a continued ncrease in pet ownership in the
past year and, whilst there s no definitive pet popuiation
data available, results of a recent survey published by the
Pet Food Manufacturers Association indicate that ©.3.2 mullion
UK households have acquired a pupoy or kitten s'nce the
start of lockdown restrictions and that there are now over
24 milion cats and dogs in the UK. This 1s clearly a positive
trend for CVS, and whilst there are short-term benefits
from first consultations, vaccinations and in some cases
reuternng procedures, we anticipate the benefits to be
recognised over the medium term as these puppies and
kittens reach tneir mature stages of life and require more
veterinary intervention.,

We continue to see a favourable trend of numanisation
of pets, with consumers willing to spend more on looking
after therr anumals. In many households, pets are seen as
a core member of the family and as with human healtn,
improvements in clinical diets and advances in chnical
treatments available are likely to lead 1o increased life
expectancy of pets

CVS Group ple Annual Repaort and Financial Statements 2021 ¢
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Favourable market and consumer trends continued
Our fully integrated veterinary services madel positions CvS
well to benefit from these favourable market and consurmer
trerds. Qur first-opinion practices provide access to advice
and clinical care and our preventative pet health scheme.
the Healthy Pet Club, provides regular vaccinations. check-
ups and flea and worming treatments. Our specizlist-led,
multi-disciplinary referral nospitals provide access to
aclvanced procedures where required and ourin-house
laboratories provide an increasing ranga of diagnostc tests
nsupport of cur first-apimion and specialist clinical tears
Our online retail business provides a large range o pet food,
drugs and other products end our cremateria provide &
compassionate and valued end-of-life service to our chents.

Strong financial performance

We have delivered a strong financial performance in the
past year, with revenue of £510.1m representing an increase
o 19 2% over that achieved in the prior yvear. This reflects a
17.4% increase in like-for-ike sales. Adjusted EBITDA increased
to £975m, with all divisions cortributing to this 37.3% increase
over the prior vear.

This improved financial performance coupled with continued
good operaticnal cash conversion led 10 a reduction in
leverage to 0.68x at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020 114x)

Strategy

Our purpose is 1o provide the best possible care 1o animals
and our integrated veternary services are key to enabling
this Ourirtegrated model ana our breadt of skills. services
and facilites position us well te provide outstanding care to
our chents and therr animals

Gur kighly skilled and dedicated tearmn of clinicians and sapport
colleagues are at the centre of our strategy and our vision 1s
te be the veternary company people most want to work for.
We are conmm tied to making CVS a great place to work and
Fave a career and we continue o develop our reward anc
benefits to ensure we remain well positioned 1 s competitive
rnarketplace. Our leading Learning, Education and Developrment
team have delvered s'gnificant onfine training over “he past
year in suoport of our colleague developrient

i prde ourselves on our hugh chinical standards and remain
‘ooused o recommending anc providing the best ¢l'nical

10 | CVS Group ple Annucl Report and Financial Statements 2021

care Retaining and attracting the very best veterinary talent
is clearly key to this, but we also recognise the need for
continued investment in our practice facilities and clinical
equipment. | am delighted that we have completed 13 practice
refurbishments/relocations in the past vear and we have
invested £3 8m in new clinical equipment.

Gur focus on deliverning organic growth through our existing
operations will continue 1o be augmented by the selective
acquisition of veterinary practices and the investment in
existing and new facilives. We made nine acquisttions in the
past year and | am delighted to welcome our new colleagues
to CVS We also announced plans to open a birand new,
state of the art multi-disciplinary referral hospital in Bristol
and | look forward to the opening of this new facility in
2022 This new facility will allow us to continue to provicle
speclalist support to our clients and their animals for more
complex cases. complementing the first-opinion services we
provide in CVS. This will also increase the services we supply to
third-party practices.

Recruitment of more clinicians

We have expandead CVS over the past vear and inthe year
ended 30 June 2021 we employed an average of 181 (10.2%)
more vets and 189 (8.0%) more nurses than in the year
ended 30 June 2020. Notwithstanding this increase. we are
keen to recruit more climoians to support our growth and
are advertising for a number of new pasitions. This has the
effect of inflating cur vetennary surgeon vacancy rate which
15 calculated as the number of vet vacancies diviced by
the total number of roles (being both employed vets and
new vacancies).

RCVS consultation on legislative review

We have been proactively engaging with the RCvS as a
bus.ness for some tme, for changes in legislation that would
allow aur highly skilled nurses to perform a greater range of
procedures withou: the need for vet supervision,

We are delghted that the RCVS undertook consultation on a
number of proposed reforms to tne Veternary Surgeons Act,
1966 (the Act’). includ ng proposals to enable nurses

to undertake a broader range of procedures such as feline
castrations. We actively participated in this consultation process
arnd we broadly support the RCVS reform recommendations
whichwere formally aporoved by the RCVS Council or 10 June 2027,
We now encourage the govarnment 1o supoor: these reforms so
that rev sed legislation can be enacted.



We care by supporting vets from the very

start of their careers

We ran the fist fully-paid, three-week Summer Camp in
August 2021 to enhance opportunities available to new
starters i the profession The vets who participatea
received a week of residential training and a week with'n 3
practice. with coerating experience. This was supported
by a weex of applied onling learning celivered through the
CVS Knowledge Hub, cur online learning, education and

development platform.

Sustainability and ESG

Our focus on providing the very best possible care to our
clients and thetr animals and our focus on making CVS a
great place to work and have a career are central
components of our strategy.

The Board of CVS Is acutely aware that today companies
must also be managed so that wider society benefrss from
their business operations and services. Whilst CVS has always
taken its broader societal ohligations sernously, we have
recently begun the process of understanding our impact on,
and the wider contribution we make to society, in order to
ensure that CVS becomes a truly sustainable business focused
on delivering value to all of our stakeholders. This initiative,
which commenced in the second half of this financial year,
bullds on cur mission and purpose and will. over ime, evolve
into & fully costed and measurable ESG strategy.

We describe this approach as "Care at our Heart”, having
worked to identify and articulate the core pricrities for all
arms of our business, using interral interviews and analysis.
The concept of "care” resonated strongly across these
discussicns - we are, of course, a business that provides
best-in-class clinical care. But care, in its broader sense,
goes to the very heart of what we do.

As a Company, we strive: to reflect this in the work we do. Care
is mour DNA, and it is the foundation of our ESG strategy.

- We care deeply about protecting the wellbeing of our
celleagues, and equipping them with the support,
resources, traning and access to personal development
oppcrtunities that they need.

» We care about driving standards of clinical excellence in
the profession and providing the best possible health care
for animals.

-+ We care about making a positive impact in the
communities in which we work.

- We care about doing our job in a way that 15 sustainable
and that doesn’'t comprarnise the natural environment.

« We care about delivering value for our investors by
doing good.

As & business we have made a number of changes to
progress cur sustamability agenda, and we are extremely
committed to further development in the future. | am

delignted that our stakeholders are equally committed to
making demenstrable changes and through working
together. [ am confident that we will deliver rreanirgful
improvements across all aspects of ESG witnin CVS.

We 1ave outlined some of cur progress in tus Annuak
Report and | look forward to sharng further developments
in due course.

Wellbeing and mental health

As a canng employer, we are committed 1o supporting
our colleagues in their wellbeing and mental health, Given
the challenges over t1e past 18 months to our working and
personal lives from the COVID-19 pandemic, wellbeing and
mental health supoort is more important than ever.

We continue to aevelop ways to support all colleagues and
we now have cver 300 First Aiders for Mentzl Healtn across
CV5 who are actively championing wellbeing and positive
mental health across our business.

We launched a range of new initiatives over the past year
supported by our wellbeing ambassador, Sally Gunnell OBE.

Outlook

With our improved financial performance in the past year,
contnued strong cash flow and strengthened balance
sheet, CVS1s well positioned for further growth and to
benefit from the favourable market and consumer trends,

we will continue to focus on organic growth through
providing great care to our clients and animals and through
further investment in our pecple, our clinical facilities and
our practices. This organic growth can be augmenited by
further acquisitions and we have acguired a further eight
pracuce sites since the financial year end.

Qur highly skilled and dedicated team of colleagues are
key to our business and with their continued suppaort and
dedication. | look forward to sharing further succeass in
the future.

Richard Fairman
Chief Executive Officer
23 September 2021
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Strategy in action

We are a great place to
work and have a career

Helping our
colleagues
achieve their
full potential

We are committed to supporting our calleagues in their
career progression, and o retarming and develooing
the best talent in the vetennary protessior. Creating
opportunities for diverse and rewarding ca-eersis a key
part of our strategy and we have an in-house careers
tearr who can help ary colleagaes looking for a change
of directior, location or career progression. Tnis helps
s not only 1o attract new talent, but a2lso 1o retan our
existing colleaguies

In Spring 2021, we ran an additional rewa-ds programme
which saw alt colleagues who successfully recommended
a ‘nend to work at CvS entered Into a free draw to win
the holiaay of a ifetime. This was won by one of our
valued nurses.

196 10,675

Live courses on Views of clinical webinars
Knowledge Hub in 2021

First Aiders for Mental Roles filled by internal
Health in our business candidates

12 | GVS Group plc Arnual Report and Finangial Statements 2021

Percentage of roles filled by internal candidates
CVS Exec

Clinical Directors
Head/Lead/Senior Vet
Practice Directors
Fractice Managers
Head Veterinary Nurses

Head Receptionists

Student Nurses

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%



Market review

The UK veterinary
continues to grow

market

The veterinary market benefits from the tailwinds of increasing
pet ownership as we change the way we live and work.

Increasing pet ownership

Market size (Ebn)?

+ There 1s a growing pet population, with ¢.24 million 70 79

cats and dogs in the UK. &5 6.8
+ Demand for pets has increased due to lifestyle changes:

¢.3.2m UK heuseholds have bought a pet since the

start of the pandemic.

»
Growing focus/spend on 2017 208 =0 2020
a nim0| care © Pa:Food lianufactarers Asscc;au?n 2021
G oweww stalista comstalistics/30EYEE/Corsamer-spenaing on-pets-and-

- There is a growing trend towards humanisation of pets,
resulting in an increased average spend on pet care
and products.

« 58% of dogs and 41% of cats have some form
of insurance?, giving owners affordable access
to veterinary care, especially in emergencies

+ Great veteninary care, particularly preventative care,
enables owners to maintain the social benefits of
pet ownership.

- Advances in clinical care pravide access to a wider
range of treatments.

related nroddcts-in-the-uritec-«ngrom-uk/

3 OPDSA 2020 28 report

We provide integrated care throughout the life cycle...

Typical life expectancy of 12 years for a dog (14-17 years for a cat)

1-3 years 3-8 years

8 years +

First-opinion practices servicing whole life veterinary care requirements

Online retail business food sales

Laboratory tests

Specialist referral interventions

Compassionate end of life care and cremation service
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Market review continued

Market drivers
and responses

A growing UK
pet population

The U< oet poputation has grown ir the past 1%
mcnths wth COYVID-1G lockdown restrictions
resulling n ar increased demand for
companior animals.

Thr Pet Ford Manfactirars Assaciation, ir
their =acert suveyr, ad cate that there ae ~ow
and cogs inthe UK w.t~ ¢ 3 2m
< bourerolds hav rg acou red aatrer o

2 start of fockdown resinennns

el Zam

TrLE Y EINGE

Thas e creasce e tho vet populat on -5 a velotul
mnarket drver ot just o the short ene when

Kk ttens and ol pries reguire vaconations 0t al
check ups andir sorme cases reutanng bt
canficantly 'nte med um and longer ter as
they secome matur e arimrals requinrg more
VELEINATY ITRTVENLION

Our approach

14

W aontitle th axnand car 1etwark of high
faciiies. accass hle across t1ne UX the
Pm@ laras and the Repushe of hela~d for ali

fcamoan onanimals

SLILCNENS D

= [prov Jde aceess o DTeveEntat ve care Tnig
o sizeesstdl Healthy Pet Club schame w
reveatat ve nealtncace includirg
anrual vacziranons anc
i g treatirents,

Cadvice Te Cl 2nts o the

& naricer of S first-opiniet practices

nk to strategy
cages 22and 23

I elt X!

w

e o**er puppy 50C1alisation

66

As with human health, better
clinical diets and advances in

the clinical treatments available
should lead to an increased
life expectancy.”

Advances in
veterinary care

Cortinued soientt ¢ resea ch leads to furthes
aclvanceas in veteraly care ottenng net
owners avar ety of treatments for therr a1mals

I provenen:s i tachnology have aovarced
throffeting of telerradicire and remmote
cialist d Aagrostic image mterpretaticn

andanvies

v 18 becom ry more affordable and
£ around the wo

N sl sre able to
Buy MRl and CT scaarers, We provide supoort

thereuge our Vet Dracle business

2 auTIC

Our approach

Lin
Sea

1

We smatunae fo meest i our ol niciars, offe'mg
e ndest, leading cl mical train ng. arc we
cicane a cdlture of recommending the best
sl teaimnnt L our Zhents

dee C0oTt nLe s grov. our et Oracle
ieleratolng., ard Teleracholngy special sms
wherzhy oLr scecizlists are able 10 ey ew
rrages rerrotels ard prov de advice on ol nical
tregirmerts for nesT-Cco nicn vets wthn CuS and

thia-party conea practices

W Pave invested in new ol nical egquiprmert
nelag ng 2ental -ad ograchy and state of
the art keynols neuteing ega prrent in

4L practices

k to strategy
ad more or nages 22 and 23

2z 3 W
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Availability of vets to
perform services

- Trere continues to be a shortage of vetennary
surgeons and, to a lesser extent, nurses in the UK
Trese srortages were rmore pranounced followirg
the Brexit referendam result in June 2016 wh ch
increased the level of uncertainty for EU vets already
wor<ing 1n the UK or considenng maoving 1o the UK

Ir tesponss to this shortage, the UK Gevernmrent
~2instated the vatennary surgesn onts tha UK
Shortage CGecupanon List in 20189 making it sasar
1o employ overseas vats from outside the LU

The RCYS have also now con*irmed that, post Brext,
vetarinary sdrgesns who have quelfied inthe FU can
come Lo wor< 1IN the UK provided they nave gualhied
trom Eurcpean Losoc atior of Estaklishments for
vetenna'y Educaticn ("EAEVE”) accienitea

inst tutions without any 1erredhal rrainirg

« Tne number of veteninary schools inthe Lk has
increased 1o nine currently with propaosals for a fuither
th'eerecently announced [he number of graduate
vets each year continues to increase as a restlt

The RCVE has recently undertaken a consultation on
proposed reforrrs to the veternary Surgeons Act 1086
which amongst other things would enable tahly skillsd
nurses to undertake a broader range of praceddres
withcout direct vatennary surgeon sunerision

Our approach

o Wecont nue to put cuwr peaple first wth our v
becorre the veterinary comosary pecole mos
to wark for

« We have implemrented many inmiatives with the
aim of attracting new colleagues ard ~etaimning
cur talented colleagues including enhances
wellbeiry resources

+ e continue to enbarce our Lean ng Cducation
and Development nsuneort of our chrical
colleagues .norder o enatzle the corunued

crofessional developmen?

We cortinue Lo menitor our main KPE ot vet vacancy
rate along with tracking calleague satistactinn
thraugh emplo e Net Pramaar Score

Link to strategy
Read more on pages 22 and 23

1 2 L]



We care by supporting veterinary surgeons

around the world

Vet Oracle 1s a specialist-led team that accepts digital CT
and MRl scans from first-opinion practices for diagnastic
nterpretation and support with treatment plans. The latest
technology enables the team to support and mentor vets
and imaging technicians across the world, providing fast,
high-quality reporting and guidance even on non-Lrgent
cases. This innovation and knowledge-sharing helps to dnve
clinical standards for the veterinary profession as a whole,

Humanisation of pets

« The Fet naustry has benel ttea fiom the
hunanisation of pets n -ecerl years as poes
are realec NoIBasINGly as Campanors

Online purchasing

+ Increasingly our customers are switching to t .
shopping online far ther pet food for |
convenience and to obtamn tae mos:
competitive price

| Consolidated market

The UK and European veter nary mar<st
continues to consal date ard ¢ 50%
compan:o= amnral UK market s now owned oy

: the six largest coporates i - )
i + Intreecent PDSA ZOZ0 PAY eport 1t was

- Whilst the majonty of our clients purchase ' Werecogn se the importance of prvaiely renarted that “-lealthy pets make bappy
drugs It our practices, tney can also purchase owned independent practices | orwners” with
drugs anline |

of e

- 94% of pet cwhes saying cwning a paf
rmakes them happy

« Where private practice owrars are fooking o

sell we are well cosmoned W anauro further
| + 85% of pet cwners saving
| Improves me-tal health, 2

NG S et
]

v B4% saying owning a pet masgs them

‘ less lonely
‘ |
i
‘ |
’ |
Our approach Our approach | Our approach
We continue to snvest i our intagralecd - We continue to have a culture o* h gh qualir /7

We continue to explore opporiunities withm ‘ .
aur ondine platform, increasing our wehsite
capabilites and ensunng we have sustarable
COMPELINYE PrciNg

care and vath our Integesten sTraoture we ca
orovige all reund animal care, from first-

o non, specialist referrals, diagnost o teshng
toerdof fe care and crematona

model ard support argaric and select ve '
acquisitve growth ‘

- We have invested in and launched a new primanly “0c.sng On comMpanion anirmasls
walehouse management system (o Improve

the efficiency of our arde- fulfilment.

« o punng the year we acoured nine pracuces,
‘ |
|

we understand the ermotional band betwses
our custeners and their pats and the v dor
socizl benefits of pet ownership Wth
advances in ¢l nisal care, 2nd our ntegrateu
madel we can suppert oun herts trroughout
o pets lives,

our buying groups, aur laboratones, car
referral specialists, our ot Cracle service
and our crematoria |

‘ = Wae support independent pract cos through
+ We are teVIEwINg New Spporiunities to expand |
out anfire offering to our practice customers

« Wewill continue to looe tor further acowsition it
opportunties wnich are value acorative

yioday diBapng 2y L

Link to strategy Link to strategy Link to strategy
Read more or pages 22 and 23 Read more on pages 22 and 23 Fead more on pages 22and 23
1 3 3 1 2

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 15



B

usiness model

Competitive advantage through
our integrated veterinary platform

16

Our inputs

Passionate people

we employ deoicated professiorals
w10 are committed to excellent
chnical care

7,241

Employees

1,962

Veterinary surgeons

2,548

Nurses

Financial strength

¥e continue 1o deliver growth nrovenue,
adiusted ERITDA and urderlying cash
gereratad from operations.

£510.1m

Revenue

£97.5m
Adjusted EBITDA

£80.3m

Cash generated from
operations

High quality clinical care

&l of our pract ces are registered with
11e RCYS Pract ce Standards Scheme
anciwe are cormitted toinvesung

1 and dsitg mocern diagnostic
techrIgLes, We invest in chical
tanng and savanced qualificanions.

95

Veterinary specialists

Customer focused

Oor colleagLes are dedicated o prov ding
aauahty servca wath the hignest lovels of
castomer and clineal care

450,000

Healthy Pet Club members

Integrated veterinary platform

We have a fully integrated model with first-opinion veterinary practices at the core
of our business, supported by specialist-led multi-chsciplinary referral hospitals,
our own diagnostic laboratores, our network of crematoria and our online retail
business for pet food, medicines and pet care products. Through our fully
mtegrated model, we can prov.de high guality end-te-end care 1o owr clients

and their patients

I
yabora tor;'es
5
&5
o
N
.3’\)‘) ot 2 Q‘“
& odo [P %
& IS > %
& * ) 0
@ @ T =
£ ) [+
7 = .
O First
opinion
% &
L) &
” 6’5:0 \g\QO 5
1Y) ) Q as
1111 %, R\ 111
%,
Ce

8uying Group®

See our Operational review on pages 28 to 35
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i
A vertically
integrated
platform with
veterinary
practices at
our core
+ Strong barriers to entry

« High guality integrated
clinical care

- Scale benefits

ii ]
Operating in Supplemented by
a sizeable and prudent capital

growing market allocation
with resilient - Investment in new factities and
. ae equipment, and increase 1In
ChquCterIStlcs clinical specialists, to drive
+ Increased population of pets organic growth
« Humarisation of pets - Opportunity fo- accretive
with consumers willing acquisitions
to spend more - Progressive dividend palicy

« Recurring robust revenues

Find out more in our financial
review on pages 36 to k0

Stakeholder value creation

Employees

Sharehclders continued

- Reward and benefits are kept under regular “eview o ensuse we reman « Changss in Exscltve remuncration to petter align with shareholdor
competitive As a thark you 1o all colleagues we gave an addiional value crear on ovel the iredium and longer term

day’s holiday in the financial year

» Inzreased ‘ocus on Sustanabibt fand £SG ahgned to

- Corsideable career progression cpportunities across chnical shareholder interests

and leadership rales

- Accesstoan ngust'y leading Learming, Educaton and Developmert

Caonsultation with mayor shareholagrs undertaker in the year
1

ragrammea —a number of couses were ava lanle online during the Industrg bodies

financal yea

- Contnued investmeart in practice taci tes znd enhanced chincal

equipment

» Enhanced matcrmity pay to sepport colleagues 10 starting a family

and ther retarning o work.

» Comprenensive wellbeng programme with resources and

support available

+ Insurance cover provided through corporate membersh.p of toe

vetenna'y Detence Society

< degular contact with RCvS and wther industry bodies,

« Rarucipation n KOVS Fractce Standards Scheme oy sl OVS oracloes
Sl engagement with RCVE as part of therr recent consultat on on
prooosed retorms of the Vetermary Surgeona Act 1966 w th written
submiss on from CWSrto this consdltation
Fublcaten of anncal Qualty Improvement report e proTote
mprovements across the professior,

+ Lrasor with RCVE onwellbeing ana ESG matters

Customers

- Acoess to frst class 24/7 vetennary care from our first-opinion

Community

« Owr first-coeion practices provide an mgontant service in the
local communit es

practices, our out-of-hours centres, our specialist-lad, mult-disciphnary

referral hospitals and cur laborator es

+ pccess s provided 1o deaf chents through aur Sign Videw services
N “00% of our companion a~imal pract.ces in the UK

- Increasing range of advanced clinical procedures avallasle, with our
penpaietc advanced practitioners offering ar increas ng range of « Colleagues raise money for aur chanty of the year whinh s chosan

serviges inthe chients' local prachces

« Preventative health services through our Healthy Pet Club { HPCY)

and Healthy Horse Programme ( HHP™

- Corvenience of purchasing pet tood and medicatcn onling

by colieagues. CV3 make an equal danatian to Vet Life achanty
which supports vorerinary calleagues in wellboing and moental fealik

Suppliers

Farr ading terms win our suppliers which promaotes the coliectiva

+ Advice on awide range of IssLes includ.ng selecting tha nght por mierast of CvwS and oun suppler hase

and caniny for them

Regula: imeetings wit senior management 18ams TC ersure nterests

Shareholders

+ Increase in sharehalder value through iIncrease in share prce over

the f:nancial year,

+ Return to progressive d vidend policy

- Increased access to management and improved communication

are algned
Supphers conunue 6 benefis from the growen of CvE arganicatly
and throLgh our sUrateglc acguisiions

Zngagement o ESS matters to ersure collective improvemant

Find out more in our holder engag

report on poges 18 to 21
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Section 172 statement and stakeholder engagement

Creating
value for our
stakeholders

Section 172 statement

Our Sectior 172 statement sets out how the Board has
had regard to the matte-s set ocut Ir section 172(1) (a} to
(f} of the Companies Act 2006 {"s1727) in carrying out
its duties over the course of the year. The Company’s
purnose, vision and strategy are underpinned by the
codified duty to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a whole, whilst having
regard to the rmatters set out in $172(1), beirg:

a) the likely conseqguences of any decis or in the
long term:

f3) theinterests of the Company's employees;

¢} the reed to foster the Company's business
relationships with supphers, customers ard others,

di thempact of the Company's operations on the
community and the envirerment;

e} the desrability of the Company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct; and

1 the needto act fairly between members of
the Campany

The underlying principles set out in 5172 form the basis
for decision making by the Board. The Board has
identified six key stakeholders who are essential to
delivery of the Company's strategy and long-term
success of the Group, details of which are set outin
the following pages. Duning the year, the Boara have
met more frequently to focus on stakeholder needs,
and in particular the needs of our customers and our
colleagues durning the COVID-19 panceric

Engaging with our stakeholders for meaningful impact
“he s x key stakeholders identified by the Board are at the
heart of what we do, beimng; our employees; cur customers,
our sharenolders; our industry boedies; our community, and
our suppliers Its of the highest importance o us that we
engage with all of our stakeholders meaningfully, to inform
decision-making and ensure we provide value r alf areas of
oudr bus.ness. Itis challenging to ensdre all 2° our stakeholders
have the same excerience with the Group, due o our wide
range of locatiors, operations and roles; therefors, we promote
ar orgoing dialogue with all cur stakeholders to enable s to
offectively ect on feedback. and we foster a culture of honesty
and 1mtegrty

18 | CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021

Employees

Why we engage

CWVS proudly strives 1o be the veterinary company that
people most want to work for. By engaging with our
colleagues, we can understand their motivations and
work with them to maximise colleague engagement
and welfare. Our focus is continuing to provide our
colleagues with the flexibility and support they need
to develop their careers.

How we engage

We issue Group-wide correspondence in the form of
weekly emails, a monthly magazine and guarterly video
briefings, which are issued In English and Dutch with
subtities, to improve accessibility. Usually, we host an
annual conference, however this was delayed 'n the vear
due to COVID-19.

We actively monitor our colleague satistaction via

our employee Neat Promoter Score, which 1s updated
monthly. The score is oroken down on a divisional basis,
and business leaders seek feedback In response to
changes in the score.

Although much of our day-to-day engagement with
cotleagues is delegated to local teams, a Non-Executive
Director regularly meets with our colleagues to discuss
key matters.

Outcomes

Cur colleagues have provided a lot of valuable feedback
over the past year, with all of cur people facing
uncertainty as the COVID-19 pandemic continued We
hosted live question and answer webinars throughout
the year with our Chef Executive Cfficer and Chief
Operating Off'cer, and our colleagues’ questions were
answered in writing in the menthly company magazine,

We expanded the Vet Oracle telemedicine serv ce after
feedback from our clinical colleagues that they wanted
more access 1o referrals advice.

inwhat has been a difficult time for our colleagues
across the business, we have increases our resources to
support colleagues In managing their wellbeing This
includes implementing Wellbeing Champions, providing
First Aucl for Mental Health train'ng, and launching a new
wellbeing portal with free access to web'nars, alongsde
our existing Employee Assistance Programme.,



Customers

Why we engage

Customers are increasingly expecting the highest
quality care for their animals We provide this nat only
through the customer experience but also our high
clinical standards and guality of facilities.

We engage with our customers tc ensure we are
meeting their high standards of service, and to identify
opportunities to iImprove client service.

How we engage

Alongside contact within our practices, we regularly
comrmunicate with our customers through s variety

of channels such as social media, emall and direct mail,
promoting animal wellbeing in addinion to discounts
and benefits. We also track our customer Net Promoter
Score monthly.

Qutcomes

We continue to Invest to ensure we can offer our
customears a complete pet care service, from first-
opinion clinics and referral centres, 10 pat consumables,
In-house laboratory testing and crematosia. Many of our
acqguisitions are strategically placed to improve the
service we offer to our customers, whether itis covering
a broader range of locations, or providing enhanced
services, such as out-of-hours, to existing practices.

We have invested in improving our practices, including
a new open-plan reception area designed to improve
custorner experience, which we have implemented in
aur Ramsgate veterinary practice, and a new flagship
referral hospital with cutting edge facilities and
aguipment, including a specialist stereo-tactic inear
accelerator, which will open in Bristol in 2022, This will
nelp us treat a larger number of cases.

Shareholders

Why we engage

We actively engage with our shareholders, shanng our
investment case ana communicating our future plans,
to ensure the Group's strategy 15 aligned to the interests
of its sharenciders.

How we engage

We engage with our sharehoalders through our Annual
General Meeting ("AGM"), conference calis, one-to-one
meetings and nvestor roadshows We have cngoing
dialogue with our shareholders and value ther
feedback, which is discussed at Board mestngs.

We keep the investor section of our website up to date
o provide timely updates about CVS and its aciivities,

Individual shareholders are encouraged to contact
Directors on all matters relating to governance and
strategy via the Company Secretary.

Qutcomes
At the 2020 AGM, 100.0% of resolutions were passed and
votes 1IN favour ranged from 75.1% to 100.0%.

We have engaged MHP Cammunications, a Financial
public relations firm, to assist with improving our Investor
relations experence, engaging maore closely with current
and potential shareholders. As part of our improvement of
investor relations, cur Executive Directors toox part in our
first ever live webcast of our interim results announcement
in March 2021, Including a live question and answer session
with analysts.

During the year, we attended eignt investor conferences
and have undertaken virtual mvestor roadskows in the UK
Europe and the US

We consulted with major shareholders in the year on
governance and other matters and, in light of the'r
feedvack, Richard Connell stood down from ali Board
committeas with effect from 30 April 20271, Read more
abour this In our Corporate Governance staterment on
pages 60 10 64,
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Section 172 statement and stakeholder engagement continued

industry bodies

Why we engage

We actively engage with our industry bodies: the RCVS,
tne Brtish Verternary Association ("BVA") and tne Bntish
Veterinary Nurses Association ["BYNA"), to oromots
Inrovation and advancement within the veterinary
mdustry. This helps us to ensure we are up-to-date with
chnical guidance and maintain a reputation for high
standards of business conduct.

How we engage

e engage with our regulators over a wide range of
issues, During the COVID-19 pandeinic we provided our
vets with the resources to interpret and follow the RCYS
and BVA guidance Where appropriate. we hold meetings
with the RCVS, BVA, BYNA and Veterinary Defence Society
to dizcuss key 1ssues and share inttigtives and
ImMprovernents across the mdustry.

Outcomes

In March 2021 we released our third Quality improvernent
Q1) report, upaating our stakeholders on clinical
guidance from the industry

in the year we have engaged with the RCVS during ther
consultation on proocsed refonms to the Veternary
Surgeons Act 1966 in April 2021,

In Apnt 2021 some af our people and practices were
‘eeognsed by the RCVS with 8 Knowledge Award which
recognizes championing the use of QI methodology.
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Community

Why we engage

We reguiarty ergage with the communities in which
we work to undersiand how we can support them.

By engaging with our communities we enhance the
environrmeant in whicn we work, promote employment
satisfaction in our operations and keep our
communities nforrmed,

How we engage

We have a charity of the year, which 1s chosen by our
colleagues, in 2021 this is the British Divers Marine Life
Rescue. Throughout the year we hold regular
fundraising events from bake sales in local practices

to Group-wide promoted events such as our
‘Steptember virtual dog walk in September 2020 which
ratsed awareness for The Cinnamon Trust, our 2020
Chanty of the year.

Qur practices also engage within their local
communities, providing key care to anirmals for a
number of smaller charities.

Outcomes

Our colleagues raised £22 000 for our 2020 Charty of
the year, which was matched by C¥S ina donation to
Vat Life

We have implemented a number of initiatives to lessen
our impact on the envirgnment. For exampie, our seven
pet crematena sites have pledged to of fset their carbon
footpnint by planting one square metre of Briush native
waoodland for every pet they diractly receive for
ndividual cremation in 2021,



Suppliers

Why we engage

We engage wilh our suppliers to deliver ongoing
benefits to our businesses, collaboratively finding
operational and sustainable improvements and
delivering impraved value.

How we engage

We have a stable supplier base in our wholesalers and
manufactarers, regularly communicating with them
G promote oJdr relationship. Our suppliers are invited
to attend our annual conference to understand our
business, engage with other kay stakeholders and ask
any guestions tney may have.

Outcomes

We are proud to have long-term relationships with

our wholesalers and manufacturers. Through tnese
relaticnships we can generate consistent custom for
our supeliers, in return achieving mutually favourable
terms on purchases. Gver the past 18 months we have
had appropriate communication with our suppliers,
ensunng they were paid on time and were abie 10
deliver sufficient product despite the iImpact on global
supply chains during the pandemic.

Improved protective equipment for
Equine vets and nurses

We recognise that Equine chinical work carres

a high nsk of injury to both vets and nurses

We have besn working hard to reduce this,
particularty by imgoroving training for our chin cal
colleagues in unaerstanding where the risks lie.
and improving their horse handling skills. To
help to mitigate the level of risk that remains in
carrying out day-to-day tasks, we have taken the
decision to supply all our vets and nurses with
personal protective helmet for them to wear
duning cer:ain procedures, identfied through
detalled risk assessments.
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Strategy

Our strategy for growth

1

We recommend and provide the

best clinical care every time

Qur strategic objectives
- We have a culture of recommending the best possible
realments 1o our chents

- We debver industry-lead ng chinical traineg

+ Weae commintad 1o evidence-based medicine and have
atetast guaalhry imprevement framework

» Weersure our clincians have access 1o the nght
redicnres 2t the nioht ume

Our achievements in the year

« We bave once again publishec cur annual Q1 Report
‘eilecting our commitment to leading the vetennary
mrofession im patient safely ard gromoting a culiura of
learm g ana development amcngst eofleaguas

+ MNeow indusiry-lcading tachmigues have Been mmalementad
AGEE 0L praclces

« Establshed processes are in place tointe gl se more
referrals and artract th rd-party referrals

« We nave expanded our pool of advarcea
parpAtane MACToRers

Qutlook
- We are working nard to drive mcreased levels of
preventative healthcare.

Market drivers
- A growirg U< pet population.
v Advarcesyavetennary care

 Humamsat o of pets

Link to KPIs A B C D E F G H ] JoK
Read Tog e czgzs 24t0 27

Linktorisks ' 3 % & 7 9 " w

Pead rote o
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2

We are a great place to
work and have a career

Our strategic objectives
« We create opportunities for our pecple to have a dverse
and rewarding carger

+ We are as flexible as possible in all our roles.
« We have the best lcaders within our businesses.

+ We o*fer the best learing, education and developrment
in the profession,

Qur achievements in the year

« Inthe year ended 30 June 2021 we employed an average
ot 1,962 veterinary surgeons (30 June 2020 1,781 and
2.548 nurses (30 June 2020 2,359)

- We contnue to mandtar our Key Performance indicator
{"KPI"Y emsloyee Net Promoter Scare {"eNPS" ) which
rracks odr colleague engagement montnly across our
business areas. During the vear, this score nc-easad hy
314 3% Read more abeut this on page 27,

W have placed 188 new employees thiaugh our highily
successtul refer-g-foend scheme

« We have filled 845 roles with internal cardidates

We have partnered with the University of Nottingham
o deliver a four-year acaredited graduate programme.

We have crealed and accredited certificates i leadership
anct management for our leaders.

We have implemented enhanced benefits for our
colleagues from 2021,

Qutlook
« We contnus 1o improve cuar ndustry-leading Learming,
Education and Development platform, the Knowledge Hub

Market drivers

- Agrowing JX pet population,
Advances In vetennary care

« &yalaoiity of veis to petform services

« Hurranisation of pets

LinktoKPls » B8 ¢ € E F 6 W J K 1
Read more on nages 241027

Linktorisks *' 2 3 » & % 12 %
Read mwre on pages 5010 57



3

We provide great facilities
and equipment

Our strategic objectives
We ensure all our practiCes meet RCVS Practice Standards
Scheme ("PSS") accreditation standards and aspire to
achieve further RCVS awards

We invest in our ostate W ersure all our facilities mect
exceilent standards

We are expanding our network with high quality faciines

We develop new ways to serve our clients and our patierts.

Our achievements in the year
« Durning the year we acguired nine new practices which
comptemented our existing portfolic of practices

We alsa compieted 13 practice relocations and
refurbishments, including cur nnovative reception ana
waiting area design piloted in our Ramsgate surgery.

We have invested In state of the art equipment for kevhcle
neutering in 40 practices,

We are committed to enhancing the quality of our

on-site factlities,

Outlook
- Our senior clinical teams are launching and providing
training on new technigues across our pracuces

« Our flagship specialist velennary hospital in Bristol,
opening in 2022 will have specialists In every discipline
and cutung-edge equiprnent and technology.

Market drivers

+ A growing UK pet populauon.
Advarces in veterinary cae.
Availability of vets to perform services

Consolidated market.

LinktoKPIs 4 8 © D E F & H J K 1L
Read more on pages 24 to 27

Linktorisks ' 2 3% % 5 & 8 ¢ # 12 6
Read mars on pages 50t 57

L

We take our
responsibilities seriously

Our strategic objectives
We are making our Group as environmentally sustamatle

2s pussible.

- We mplement the bast levels of health and safety in
the professian

Wwe priosinse the wellbeirg of our people

We engage witn the vetennary profession and support
its interests.

Our achievements in the year

« Qur new colleague wellpeing mitiative saw a further
78 colleagues tramed as worknlace st Aiders for
Mertal Health, bringing our total to over 300 trained
wellbeing Champions.

we conthbuied o the RCVS consultation on learslative
~cform of the Veterinary Surgoons Act 18966

During the year. we switched cur UK mainlard electricity
suply to 100% fully renewable energy sources

we have included a rangea cf wellbeng resources o the

Krowledge Huk, which are available (0 all of our colleagues
on demand

QOutlook
We are working with our Insn ana Dutch suppliers to secuse
Group-wide sustainable energy.

CV3 works closely with RCVS Knowledge. tho charty
partne- of the RCVYS, to help promote its mission 1o
‘advance the quality of vetennary care for the benefit
of arimals. the public and society’

Morket drivers
Avallability of vers to perform services.

Humanisaticn of pets

LinktoKPIs 4 B ¢ P E F & H J K
Feaa mome or pages 241027
Linktorisks ' 2 » 8§ 6 7 ¢ w0 1 12 9
Reac more or pages 50 to b7
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Key performance indicators (“KPls™)

Financial KPls

Ensuring

CVS tracks
and monitors
the correct
KPls, both
financial and
non-financial,
is key in
measuring
our success.

i Adisted narc af meas.ares
‘achuaten LETDA, ad i

M STA F‘ are sefnasin
zleratemnants, and
he financ al

: g Starares
Shom uanss S0 and 118,

Link to strategy
Pesn =are pri pages 22 and 23

(A) Revenue
(Em)

£510.1m

+19.2%

2021 i 510.1
2020 ey
2019 ! 4065
2018 | 227.3

2017 2718

Why it’s a KPI

Roverue is a key measuc

of narforrance across all
divizions of the Group and
demonstrates owr ability 1o
attract and relain cusfamers

2021 performance
« Overall reverue nas
nareased by £82.3m.

L ke-for-hike ravenue,
adjusted for nrercompany
sales eliminatons,
ncreased £72.3m, wth
acquisitions ) the vear
and the full year impact

of pricr year acguisiticrs
generasng adds oral
reveniug of £10 Om

« The Grouphas seer
sigmificant growtn
following recovery fram
the COVID-TS parasmis,
during which revenue
grow:h nad siowed
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(B) Like-for-like
sales (%)

174%

+2,385.7%

2021 . 174
2020, 07

2019 | 52

2018 | 49

207 ! 63

Why it’s a KPl

Like-for-hke sales snows
revenue generated from
lke-for-lke operations
comparaed 1o the pror vear
adisted for the number of
working aays. For example,
for a practice acquired in
Septemhber 20719, revenue is
nel.ded from Septemiber
2020 10 the Lke for-hike
calculatiors. This shows the
underlying growth in revenue
across all divistons, excluding
theirmpact of acquisiuons,

2021 performance
Like-for-ike performance
reflects the Group’s
recovery from COVID-19.
as lemporary pracgtice
closures dunng 2020
imited growth -nthe
PO year

Increased pet ownarship
has also contributed to
ncreased hke-for-hee sales

|
1
w
w
J
1
r
l
:
|
1
4
|
|

(C) Adjusted
EBITDA'(Em)

£97.5m

+37.3/6

2021’ 975
2020 71.0

2010 | 545

2018 J‘ 47.6

2017 w2l

Why it's a KP1

Adjusted Earnings Before
Interest, Taxaticn,
Cepreciation and
Amortisation ("EBITD,
excludes costs refat! Hg to
busness combinations and
exceptional itermns and
assists N understanding

the underlying performance
of the Group

2021 performance
The mprovermentin
adiusted EBITDA reflects
the Improvement in
lke-for-like adiusted
EBITDA of £28.3m, witk
acguisitions in the year
and the full year imoact
of prio” year acquisitions
generahng addimional
EBITDA of £18m

This is partly offset by an
Increase In central costs
of £3 &m incurred to
protect our collcagaes and
clients and to continually
build a foundator for
further develoument and
expansion of the Group.



(D) Adjusted
EPS' (pence)

75.1p

+78.8%

2021 | 75.1
2020 | 42.c

2019 | 46.7

2018 : 42 L

2017 42.8

Why it’s a KPI

This 1s profit hefore mcome
tax adjusted for:
armorusation, costs relating
to business combinations;
and exceptional items, net

of the notional tax impact of
these. divided by the weighted
average number of shares.
Adjusted EPS 15 a KPl because
It ass.stsin understanding the
underlying returns generated
for our sharehelders.

2021 performance

+ Theingrease reflects the
increase of £28.0m in the
year in adjusted profit
before income tax

(E) Total capex
(Em)

£16.6m

+33.9%

2021 | 16.6
220 | 24

2019 : 129
2018 | 10.7

2017 | 13.8

Why it’s a KPI

This 1s the total armount

spent by the Group on
capital expend.ture. Capital
expenditure 1s incurred on
refurbishmertt and relocatian
of practice facilities ana
investment In new eqJipmeant
and chinical facilites. Investing
In our practices and chimcal
equipment Is key to
achievement of our strategic
goal of providing great
facilities and equipment

2021 performance

» Total cepital expenditure
has increased by £4.2m,
consisting of a £€0.5m
reductlom m maintena-ce
capital experditure and
a £4.7m increase In
development capital
expenditure, with the
focus on improving chert
experence and on
growing our business
Refer 1o the financtal
review on pages 3610 40
for further aetail.

- (F) Gross margin
 before clinical
staff costs (%)

76.1%

+0.8%
I
2021 76.1
2020 | 755
2019 | 76.2
2018 79.6
|

2017 i 79.8

Why it's a KPI

(GroSs Margin 1eprescents
revenue after deducung the
cost of drugs, labaratory fees
and cremation fees, and
otrer goods sold or used by
the busingss, expressec as a
percentage of total revenue
Gross margirn s a Kp|
because it helpsusto
montor and measure our
ability (0 purchase drugs at
the best nossinie price whilst
ensuring the bighest cualty

2021 performance

- The ncrease in gross
margin s principally due to
ourt focus on providing
grear chmcal care.

' (G) Cash
generated from
operations (Em)

£80.3m

-15.3%

2021 80.3
2020 918
2019 - 52.1

2018 46,7

207 372

Why it’s a KPI

Cash generated rom
operations shows the cash
inflows before: payments

o Income taxation and
mierest; business
combirations, putchases

of property, plant and
equipment and Intangrkle
assets, resaymen: of ight-of-
Lie assets, payrents of
dividends, debt issue costs
ncrease/repayment of bank
loans; and proceeds from issue
cf shares. Delivery of ‘ncreased
cash generated fram
operations allows Js ta mvos:
in further growtn ooportuntes
across our business

2021 performance

« Cash generated from
operations has decreased
due to payment n the
year of the 1ax deferred
under the COVID-19 tax
deferral scheres which
were accessed across the
UK and the Netherlands
N the prior yzar

b The Board 1s confidert that
the cash generated from
operations Is perfcorming n
i line with its exoectaticns and
i inamanner which continues
| toenableinvestrent
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Key performance indicators (“KPls”) continued

Non-financial KPls

Tracking our
non-financial
measures allows
us to monitor our
performance
against our core
strategic goals.

T Thyn-fina

by Plahgng with
er data s only

Thoseran-snans ]k
wiou suatayy however data
ol avanlable for twe vears

I oherPomcier Scoie messures
smre- erd colleague

I SA LBING LNE arswa! 10 g
west an, how bkely s it that
4 renommeand CVSY
171 sezle Reapnnses are
serlusro s weighted

Id = score

of 160 w3

Link to strategy

P e

o &

(H) Vet
vacancy rate’

8.3%

+20.3%

2021 8.3

2020 | 69

2017 91
2018 3

Why it’s a KPI

The yet vacancy rate 1s
calculated as the average
number of live vet vacancies
divided oy the total number
of vets bv headooant plus
wvacanc es This shows the
avetage level of vet vacancies
for the Group daring the
perod. Tris irks to our
vision of being the veternary
corpary people irast want
to work far

2021 performance

« The vet vacancy 1ate has
nereased in 2027, as we
arg adverusng for a
Aurmber of new positions
to suppot our grow'th dae
@ noreasiry demana for
GUT S8IYISES
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| (1) Healthy Pet
| Club members

|
450,000

+8.4%

2021 | 4¥50,000
2020 415,000
2019 j 401,000
2018 362,000
2n7 306,000

Why it’s a KP}

Haalthy Pet Club s ouy
proventative care scheme It
provides CVS with a robust
and regular revenue stream,
as well as improving
customer loyalty

2021 performance

-+ Therate of growthn
Healthy Pet Club members

| has Increased, 10 8 4%

. 2027 frem 3.5% growth

J in 2020

+ This demcnstrates the
mercased humanisation

i of petsara deste for our

J chents to invest in their

- oets futures through

| preventatve care.

(J) Number of
RCVS awards

159

+0.0%

2021 159
2020 | 159
2019 1l
208 83

2017 | 36

Why it’s a KPi

This shows the number of
RCVS Practice Standards
Scheme awards across
the Group. These awards
promaore and maintain

the hughest standards of
velernnary care across a
range of different citeria
including clent expenence
and chinical governance.
Monitoring the number
of RCVS awards helps us
achieve our strateqic
geals of taking our
responsibities senously.

2021 performance

< Due to the COVID-19
panaemic, the RCVS did
not 1ssug further Practice
Standards Scherre awards
during the vear. All of our
practices who already
hold these awards
continue to be recognised
as award-noliders



(K) Employee
NPS§2.3

2.9

+314.3%
2021 29
2020 07

Why it's a KPI

Employee Net Promoter
Score ("eNPS") 1s a measure
of how likely our colleagues
are o recommend the Group
as a place to work as
reported on anonyrmous
surveys. Monitoring eNPS
shows the level of colleague
satisfaction across the Group
and helps us 1o ensure we
are a great place to work and
have a career.

2021 performance

- We have seen significant
improvements in
colleague engagement
due 1o our abllity to
effectively support our
colleagues through the
COVID-19 pandemic,
among other factors

(L) Client
NP§23

72.2

-8.0%
2021, 72.2
2020 78.5

Why it’s a KPI

Client Net Promoter Scote
{"NPS"} 15 2 measure of

the level of our clients’
satisfaction wih the’r
experiences with the Group
via anonymous reporting of
the likelhood that clients
would recommend the
Group for our services.
Monitoring NPS helps us

to ensure we recommend
and provide the best chinical
care gvery tme.

2021 perfermance

« We have seen a small
reduction in client
engagement, lkely due to
the impact of the RCYS
guidance which restricted
our customers from
accompanying their pets
in our practices This figure
remains strongly positive,
and we expect It to return
to its previous levels in
due course

Employee Net Promoter Score

Qur ongoing efforts to be the veterinary
cormpany people most want 1o work for
are reflected 1m our montnly tracking of
our employee Net Promoter Score ("eNPS7),
which fas improved throughout 2021,

CVS Group ple Annua! Report and Financial Statements 2021| 27

janday 21baynang ayl



Operational review

Delivering outstanding clinical
care despite challenging

circumstances

(19

We are focused on giving the
best possible care to animals
by being the veterinary company
people most want to work for.”

Ben Jacklin
Chief Operating Officer
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During the last twelve months, we have faced many
chalienges, but the way in which our colleagues have
stepped up to protect animal welfare and continued to deliver
the best possible care has been nothing short of ramarkable.
We owe our colleagues an enormous debt of grattude and
therefore Dwould hke to thank every one of them for their
continued hard work.

QOur purpose s 1o give the best possible care 1o animals,
which we are deliverng thraugh our clear vision to be the
veterinary compary people most want to work “or. This
financial year has seen us make significant strides forward
despite the challenging environrant. Our focus on the critical
KPls of our colleague satisfaction and our vet vacancy rate are
a reflection of this vision Beneath our purpose and vision, as
we ntroduced in our FY20 Annual Report, are aur four
strategic pillars.

« we ecommend and provide the best clinical care
avery time;

- we are great piace to work and have a carser;
- we provide great facilities and eguipment; and
- we take our responsibilities seriously.

Alongside the strong growth we have seen during the year

| am delhghted to have seen a significant number of new
clinical positions created over the year, and on average in the
year ended 30 June 2021 we employed 10.2% (181) more vets
than we did in the year ended 30 June 2020, We have also
seen more roles filled by internal candidates, promotng great
careers within CVS, as well as through our highly successful
refer a ‘riend scheme dunng the vear As a result of the
continued expansion of our practices, we have advertised
for more clinical roles than ever, which has had the effect

of increasing our vet vacancy rate acress the yvear to 8.3%.
Critically. and in stark contrast o the higher vet vacancy rate
experienced several years ago, these vacancies are the result
of cur expansion ambitions, as we seex to add new clirical
roles across the company to capitalise on ar expanding
market Our annual clinical attrition rates and employee Net
Promoto” Scores both remain improved on prior years as we
continue 1o stive tg be the veternary company peapie most
want ta work for.



We have also made some changes to remuneration since
tne end of the financial year In response to survey data and
feedback, focusing more on fixed income for clinicians and
introducing bonus schermes that reward coilaboration across
the Group and the delivery of the best possole clinical care
We also recognise the intense demands of clinical roles in the
veternary profession, not least during the last 18 months, and
have introduced an enhanced holiday scheme to give
colleagues an extra day of annual leave for each year of CVS
sarvice, up to a maximum of five years. This is additional to
our buy and sell holiday scheme, both of which are aimed at
ensuring our colleagues get the nght balance of tme away
from work.

We remain committed to being a great place to work and
have a career. This year, we have partnered with the University
of Nottingham to deliver s unigue four-year accredited
graduate programme which launched in autumn 2020,
Supporting and mentoring a pipeline of talented graduates 13
a central tenet to our ongoing commitment supporting long
and successful careers for our clinicians within CVYS. We have
also introduced our first graduate summer camp to the
graduate intake programme. This helps our newly gualified
vets to develop their core practical skills, increase therr
knowledge and understanding of surgery and consulting,
and be ‘practice ready’ as they begin their careers with us,
Additionally, we have partnered with the University of Bristol
to deliver final year clinical ratations for their veterinary
students In our equine clinics and hospitals. This now means
all students at Bristol Veterninary School will experience at least
one rotation within CVS before they graduate, exposing bright
and ambitious young talent to all that CVS has to offer, ang
enabling us to contribute to the education of the next
generation of veterinary surgeons.

We are the only veterinary corporate
group to publish an annual QI report

This year, we published our third annual QGualty
Improvement report, and we continue 1o be

at the forefront of patient safety and clinical
improvement, As always, our report provided a
clear and measurable account of ways in which
we are improving chnical care and animal welfare.
Taking our responsibilities senously s a key pillar
of our strategy and there is no better measure of
our efforts than our Quality Improvement report.

www.cvsukitd.co.uk

Qur efforts to bud the best learning education and
development platform in the profession have contimued, with
the Knowledge Hub — our online training portai - having an
average of 4 200 users per week dunng FY21 This platform
offers almost 200 live courses and programs and we had over
10,000 clinical webinar views In the year, reflecting the crtical
role that offering cont'nued professional developmert has in
the retention and recruitment of our talented colleagues. A
Iimited rumber of courses are now also available 1o third
parties, as we begin a rollout of learning opportunit.es to the
wider profession

Having great facilities and equipment is critical to us
delivering on our strategy, ano as such we have completed
13 refurbishments and relocations in FY21. The quality of
practice facilities 1s directly related to our abifity to recruit
vets, and the ability of our clinical teams to deliver the best
possible care; therefore refurbishments and relocations
are a fantastic mvestment opportJnity for us We are also
deploying new industry-leading techniques acrozs our
practices, ncluding dental radiography and keyhole surgery
for neutering. which s now In operation in 40 practices
across the Group.
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Operational review continued

Veterinary Practices division

Demonstrating strong

growth alongside

operational adaptability

Veterinary Practices
revenue share*

85.4%

£453.4m

Revenue

18.0%

Revenue growth

450,000

HPC customers

© Reven,a share betore inlercempary sales betwean mact ceg

and atner e g 2ns
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Qur Veterinary Practices division comprises our compamon
animal, referrals, farm animal and equine veterinary practices,
as well as our buying groups, Vet Direct and MiPet Insurance.
The dision has performed extremely well during the
financial year, with like-for-iike revenue growth of 15.9%

and total revenue growth ¢of 18 0%. We have also generated
growth through acqguisitions, having made nine acquisitions
comprsing 15 practice sites in FY21 and eight practice sites
since the financial year-end, mainly providing companion
animal services, as well as complementary farm and equine
animal services. We are pleased to report that this cohort of
new acquisitions have been well intagrated into the Group,
and are performing well.

Companion Animal

Cur Cormpanion Animal division forms the majornty of our
Veterinary Practices division, and has proven resilient in
recovenng from the COVIDAS disruption. We have continued
to focus on supperting our chnical teams to deliver the best
possible care. and despite the challenges of the pandemic
we have made excelient progress across a range of areas of
clinical developmant.

Despite reception areas and consultation rooms remaining
manly closed throughout much of FY21, the division bas
continuad to deliver huigh quality clinical service whilst
changing the ways of working within practice. The termpo-ary
relaxation of restrictions by the RCVS aliowed for remote
prescribing and supported telemedicine consultations in
the very early months of the pandemic, but throughoJt the
finarcial year we saw a strong demana from clients to
attend our climics in person, and the demand for virtual
interactions fell away, reiterating the close ties of our
practices with ther communities.

Referrals

Cur Referrals division continues to grow strongly, with
revenue ncreasing 29 3% over the pricr yea~. We have
expanded the range of clinical disciplines we offer in our
hospitals, and we have seen growth of our vet-to-vet
telemedicine imaging service, VetGracle These servicas are
offered to both our own and third-party practices across the
globe, and we have invested further in systems to support
further growth. We also continue to expand our network of
acvanced peripatetic practitoners, who provide advanced
clinical services to our first-opinion practices entering new
disciplines anc geographical locations



Cur Referrals division has worked hard to build relationships
with both internal and external first-opinion practices. This
has led to a 31.4% increase in cases being referred during
the financial year compared to FY20

Equine

Our Eguine division has 20 equine practices across the UK,
the Republic of Irelard and the Netherlands, including five
RCVS accredited referral hospitals in the UK and large
referral hospitals In both the Republic of Ireland and

the Netherlands.

The division has parformed well in the financ al year,
generating internal referrals through supporting
collaboration between practices, providing opearational
leverage and resulting in EBITDA growth of 163.1%. We have
also implemented further training for first-opinion eqLine
vets and provided additional eguipment. such as scanning
eguipment, for use on first visits, contnbuting to a 26 2%
INCrease In revenue.

We have continued to expand our out-of-hours service,
Equicall, offering emergency cover to both CVS and
third-party practices. This world-first equine dedicated
out-cf-hours service has not only iImproved access ta clinical
care for our clients, but has improved flexibility for our vets
by reducing the burden on existing vet teams.

Farm Animal

Qur Farm Animal division consists of 23 farm animal
practices and a large specialist poultry business, Slate Hall.
During the year we have ingreased both fee and drug
revenue via buying groups and increased incentives for
our vets, such as our preductivity bonus scheme.

After launching our first greenfield farm animal practice

In 2020, we have continued to advance this mode!
throughout 2021, and at the end of this financial year we
have three greenfield prachices providing opportunities for
young and ambitious vets.

International

Our Irternational division comprises 25 practices in the
Netherlands and six practices in the Republic of Ireland.
Internationally wa have expanded and improved our
out-cf-hours services, to reach more clients and support
the best possible working environment for our clinicians.

Head office

Central administration costs include those of the
central finance, IT, human resource, purchasing, legat
and property functions Totaf costs were £15.7m (2020
£121m) representing 3.1% of revenue (2020: 2.8%). The
increased spend reflects business growth auring the
period as well as investrnent in people and processes
in support of further scalability, whilst mantaining a
high standard of internal and external service

As g percentage of revenue, the spend on support
functions has increased, particularly in the areas of IT
and Human Resources. This represents our continued
mvesimeant In support areas, ensurng that we continue
to have suitable systems 1o appropriately support the
trachng div sions This overall Increase in central costs
also reflects health and safety expenditure in relauon
to COVIDA19, for example additional personal
protective equipment for our colleagues, armrmounting
to c.£0.5m. The Group continues to base support
colleagues in regions where possible, so they can
easily provide the close support that the operations
teams require.
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Operational review continued

International continued

e continue to focus on rolling out our people-focused
maodel, providing the best possible care to animals in all
our terrtories. Improved collaboration between practices,
ncluding referral of more advanced cases between
experienced clinicians remains a good opporturity “or
organic growth.

Healthy Pet Club

As well as offering first class care to sick or injured animals
we continue to offer preventatve health care through our
Healthy Pet Club scheme, which offers routire flea and
worrmng treatments and vaccoinations, as well as twice
yearly health checks. These clients can spread the cost of
accessing the best preventative heaith care, as well as
allowing our climcians to identfy diseases and recommend
the best diagnostics and treatrments. The scheme membershio
has grown by 8.4% over the last year to around 450,000
rmemoers, representing roughly 40% of our companion
animal active chient base. The Healthy Horse Programme has
also grown, with 10,000 members at the end of June 2021.

MiPet products/purchasing

During the year, we have continued our efforts 1o increase
nurchases of our own-brand products rather than third-carty
brarded pharmaceuticals. As well as orovid' ng increased
choice far our clients, this has also resulted In our own-brand
spend increasing to 34.0% of the UK practices
pharmaceutical spend, up from 28.0% in 2020,

Ve have cortinued to improve our warehouse managemeant
systern, improving efficiency and increasing oJr permanent
staffing, wrich has enablec us to cope with the ncrease

in Online Reta | order yalumes as well as successfully
coriplying with social distarcing requirements through
eflective use of space and adjusted shift patterns witmin

our warchouse

Qutlook

We are optimistic for continued growth within our Veternnary
Practices civision, with revenue growth expected to come
from arincreased number of chents and our focds on
exceptional clirical care and our desire to be the vetennary
company peoole most want to work for Inimatives for the
forshcoming year include a focus on raciograpay in first-
opinion oractices, ir Gollaboration with our spec alist
vetOracle maging teams. This will enable mproverents n
iMage acquis’tion, Interpretation, and most importantly ir
the guality of diagnoses in pursuit of the best possible
chmical care

/e are also focused an enhancing the rcle of our veterinary
nwrses In our ofirics, and nave launcheac a new programme
to grow the numbe- of consultations undertaken by our
talenteo nursing colleagues, tn areas such as these we
continue to ses significant opportunity to drive organc
growth, by focusing onincreasirg our capabibty ir all areas of
diagnastics, and then reccmmending and celivering the
est passible treatments.
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We continue to seek high quality independent practices

to join our network and, having put significant effort into
our Integration processes over the last two years, we are
confident we can drive value from all acquisitions we make.
We are well placed to continue to Improve margins via
streamhned referrals, use of our own-brand products and
an increased range of clinical services.

‘Get out to help out’
vaccination programme

Following the COVID-18 Nat'onal lockdowns, the
Group's companion animal practices faced a
significant backiog of work. One of the non-essential
procedures postponed during the lockdowns was
the administration of pets” vaccinations. Across the
country, CVS clinical and non-clinical colleagues
volunteered their ime to assist with vaccination days
to help clear the backlog, including our CEQ, Richard
Fairman (pictured).




Laboratories division

Providing a full range
of laboratory services

Laboratories revenue share*

5.3%

£28.0m

Revenue

32.7%

Revenue growth

497,000

laboratory tests performed

¥ Revenue share before intercompany sales between practices
and other divisions

Our Laboratories division provides diagnostc services and
in-practice desktop analysers to both CVS and third-party
practices, and employs & national courier network to
facilitate the collection and timely processing of samples
from practices across the UK. We continue to develop our
capability to ensure we can support the wider Group's focus
on growing diagnostic care.

Diagnostic services

Cur diagnostic laboratories have grown dunng the year,
including 20.1% growth in the number of tests provided 1o
external customers. During the nandemic we also irtroduced
COVIDA9 PCR testing for our colleagues and for third parties,
which was discontnued in March 2021 due to changes in
government regulations.

Analysers

Analyser revenue 1s driver by a combination of sales

of analysers. leasing agreements and ongoing sales of
consumables throughout the life of the equipment. Revenues
from the analyser business grew by 28 7% aover the course
of the financial year, including strong growth within CVS
practices aligned to the wider clinical focus on diagnostics

Outlook

The Laboratories division has remained resilient despite
increasing consclidation in the veterinary sector resulting

in the loss of some external clients. By increasing the speed
ancl range of testing we offer in our laboratories, continuing
ta ensure field-leading client service, and employing a highly
skilled network of sales teams and engineers, we are
optumistic for further growth in the years to come,
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Operational review continued

Crematoria division

Collaboration between
crematoria and practices to
help deliver the best client care

Our Crematoria division provides both individual and
communal cremation services for companion animal and
equine chents, as well as clinical waste disposal services
for both CVS and third-party veterinary practices.

Having successfully trialled our Direct Pet Cremation project
in the first half of the year, this was rolled out across more of
our companion animal practices in the final guarter of the
financial year. This initiative has contributed to the increase
n the number of adividual cremations of 20.2% over the
pror year

Outlook
Our Direct Pet Cremation project has seen great
engagement from our practices and clients, and as we

Crematoriq revenue share* complete the rollout in the new financial year we expect this

to contirue. along with our Crematona division revenues,

Direct Pet Cremation Project

Our integrated veterinary platform is demonstrated in

1 5% act'on with our Direct Pet Cremation Project, which
L]

sees clients allowed more time to consider difficult
decisions abous their beloved pet’s end-of-life and
cremation, such as whether to choose individual
cremation, and choices between a range of caskets
and other mementos Crematona and practices
collaborate o give our clients time and space, which
reduces the emotional pressures of our clients’

decisiors and allows our subject matter experts in our
£ 8 .0 m crermatoria to discuss the full range of options open to

clients during the most difficult tme of al!
Revenue

11.1%

Revenue growth

20.2%

increase in individual cremations

T Rever.nshare before rteranmeany sales betwee~ rantres
2ad o rar iy g ens
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Online Retail Business division

Growing pet food sales online

Online Retail Business
revenue share*

7.8%

f£41.7m

Revenue

29.9%

Revenue growth

404,000

Unique customers

* Revenue share before intercompany sales betwaen practices
and other divis.ons

Cur online pet food and pharmacy retaller, "Animed Direct”,
focuses on pet food and prescription and non-prescription
medication, directly 1o customers. This is supported by the
buying power of the Group as a whole, wnich ensures the
business is able to provide the best value for customers,

During the financial vear, our Online Retail division delivered
reveriue growth of 29 9% and adjusted EBITDA growth of
16.0% The COVID-19 lockdowns have changed consJarrer
haluts towards sodrcing pet food onlire, rather than visiting
physical shops. Our hugh levels of customer service have
enabled us to retain a large portion of tha new customers
that first used the platform during the national lockdowr,
despite retail restrictions having subsequently eased,

We have exparaed our range of product lines and continuec
toimorove our website, prescription management system,
and customer service management systermn, which
contributes to our consistert five-star Trustpilot rating.

Outlock

The continual imrprovements and expansion to our product
range as well as Lhe increasing changes in custcmers’
shopping nabits towards online shopping for convenience
Is expected to continue to deliver revenue growth in our
Online Retall business in the coming years. We continue to
develon our website to iImprove user experience, further
increasing revenue growth opportanities

Ben Jacklin
Chief Operating Officer
23 September 2021

CVS Group ple Annual Report and Financial Statements 2021 | 35

today o1hayong ayy



Financial review

Strong growth in financial
performance and well placed
for future investment

Strong financial performance is
underpinned by our strategy and
favourable market dynamics,
with investment opportunities

to deliver further growth.”

Robin Alfonso
Chief Financial Officer
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Financial highlights

The Group has recovered well from the COVID-19 pandemic,
to delver significant growth in revenues and adjusted EBITDA

Key hirancial highlights are shown below:

Change

2021 2000

Revenue (Em) 51041 4278 19.2%

Adjusted EBITDA (Em)y* 975 .0 373%
Adjusted profit

vefoe income tax E)* 86.2 38.2 73.3%

Adjusted earrings per share (p)* 751 420 78.8%

Operating profit {(Em) 401 85 1168%

Profit before income tax (Em) 331 88 2343%

Basic earnings per snare (o} 273 81 2370%

A reconciliation of the difference between the reported
operating profit figure and adjusted EBITDA 15 shown below:

2021 2020

£m £m

Operating profit 401 185

Adjustments for-

Amortisation, depreciation

and impairment! 4841 464

Costs relating to business combinations 9.3 07

Exceptional items — 54

Adjustea EBITDA 975 N0

1 Imparmentsin the year ended 30 lune 2020 are shown n
Sxeaptoeal itgs

*adusted franoial measures adjusted EBITDA adjusted profit hefore
‘neome tax and adjusted earmings per share) are definea i the fimancal
statemonts, and reconciled to the f nancial measures defineo by
International Fnancial Reporting Standards {IFRS™ o1 pages 90 and 118
of the Annual Rewort hManagement uses adjusted EBITDA and adjusted
garrings per srare Madusied EFST as the basis for asseswing the fnancial
settorrance of the Group Thase hgures exclude costs relzbirng 1o bus nesy
corrbiratons and exceptional iterms and hence assstin uncerstanding
tre cerfoimrance of the Group Tnese terms are not defined oy IFRS and
the-etare mayv rat be directly comaarakile witk other comparies ad,usterd
neatit Measy e



Financial performance

Revenue increased by 12.2% to £510.1m from £427.8m with
strong Group Ike-for-like growth of 17.4%. The Group continuas
to benefit from favourable market dynamics with the trend i
humanisation of pets, increasing pet ownership and the shift
in consumer spending online. Like -for-like growth was
underpinned by the continued focus on our strategy of
providing the best clinical care, and was delivered despite a
planned companion armmal price incraase being delayed
dunng the year, which was eventually implemeantad on
1January 2021. Revenue also included COVID-19 PCR
testing, which discontinued in March 2021 following

a change in Government guidance.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 37.3% 10 £87.5m from £71.0m.
As a percentage of revenue, adjusted EBITDA increased 1o
191% from 16.6%, benefitting from operating leverage and
strong revenue growth. Adjusted EBITDA also benefitted
from £2 Om of Research and Development Expenditure Tax
Credits, following the Group's first claim under this scheme.
The Group made nine acquisitions in the financial year,
which In aggregate generated revenue of £6.1m and
adjusted EBITDA of £1.3m during the period.

Adjusted profit before income tax increased 73 3%, to
£66.2m from £38.2m, kenefitting from the increase in
adjusted EBITDA and a reduction in finance expense
Adjusted EPS (as defined in note 2 to the financial statements)
increased 78.8%, to 75.1p from 42 Op. Adjusted profit before
income tax and adjusted EPS exclude the impact of amaortisation
of intangible assets, costs relaung to business combinations
and exceptional items.

Profit before incorne tax increased by 234.3%, to £33.1m
from £8.9m, underpinned by the iIncrease in adpsted
EBITDA and reduction in exceptional costs, partially offset
by the increase in costs in relation to business combinations,
which includes business combinations costs in respect of
prior periods Basio EPS increased 237.0%, to 27 3p from 8.1p.

Taxation

Income tax expense has increased by £9.6m. to £13.8m from
£4.2m, primarily due to the increase in profit before income
tax and £4.3m relating to the re-measurement of deferrec
tax baiances in respect of UK jurisdictions following the UK
Government's announcement (o increase the rate of
corporation tax to 25%, from 19%, in April 2023

The Group s effective tax rate was 417% (2020, 42 3%)
A reconaliation of the expected tax charge, at the standard
rate, to the actual charge is shown below:

£m 4
Profit pefore income tax 331
Expecred tax at UK standard rate of tax 6.3 19.0%
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 24 73%
Adjustiments 1o previous year tax charge 1.6 4.8%
Utilisation of brought forward losses {01)  (03%)
Effect of difference between closing
deferred tax rate and current tax rate (0.7) (21%)
Effect of tax rate change on opening
deferred tax balances 4.3 130%
Actual charge/effective rate of tax 13.8 417%

“ Percertage of profit before income tax

All of the Group's revenues and the majority of its expensas
are subject to corporation tax. The main expenses that ars
not deductitzle for tax purposes are costs relating to
acquisitions and depresiation on fixed assets that do not
qualify for tax relief. Tax relief for some expenditure, mainly
fixed assets, 1s received aver a longer penod than that “or
which the costs are charged in the financial statements.

Financial position

2021 070

£m £m

Intangible assets 228.4 2248
Property, plant and equipment 57.4 516
Right-of-use assets 97.2 981
Other non-current assets 01 12
Current assets 101.4 836
Current llabilities {98.5) (1020}
non-current habilities (194.9) (1957
Equity 1911 1686
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Financial review continued

Financial position continued

As at 30 June 2021, intangible assets amounted to £228.4m
(2020: £229.8my), consisting of goodwill, patient data records
and computer software. The net reductuion of £1.4m relates
to amortisation and mpairment in the vear of £23.8m (2020
£23.2my), net foreign exchange movements on opening
balances of £1.0m {2020; £0.5m), of‘set by additions
through ousiness combirations of £22 9m (2020 £7.2m)
and computer software addiions of £0.5m (2020, £1 3m]

Property, plant and equipment of £57.4m (2020. £51.6m)
inclades freehald land and buitdings, teasenold
improvements, fixtures, fittings and ecuipment and motor
vehicles. The net increase of £5 8m primarly relates to
aduitions (including those ansing via business combinations)
of £16.7m (2020, £11.3m), reflecting our cortinu ng
corumitment to nvesting In our facilities, offset oy net
disposals of £0.5m (2020 £nil), net foreign exchange
movements on opening balances of £01m (2020 £nil)

and depreciation i the year of £10.3m (2020; £10.7m).

Right-of-use-assets of £87.2m (2020 £38.1m) consists

of property leases for our veterinary practices, specialist
referral cantres and support offices of £985 Im (2020 £96.3m)
and leases for vehicles and equipment of £2 *rm (2020: £1.8m).
The net reduction in the year o £0.9m relates to the
depreciation ard impairment charge ir the year of £14.0m
(2020: £14.6), net disposals of £1.7m (2020 Cnil}, foreign
exchange on opening balancas of E06m (2020 £0.im
increase), offeet by additions (ircluding those via busiress
comrbinations) and re-measurerment of lease terms of
£15.4m (2020 £4.8m).

Other non-current assets of £0.1m (2020: £1 2m) relates to

a managed investrent fund measured at fair valLe of £04m
{2020: £0.1my) and deferred tax assets of £nil (2020: £11m).
In the current year the deferred tax asset has been offset
against deferred tax habilit es (see note 24 to tne financial
statements for further details).

Current assets of £101.4m (2020, £83 6m) compnses
inventories of £12.5m {2020, £18.7m). trade and other

rece vables o £48.1m (2020: £43 4, cutrent income tax
recevable of £01m (2020 £0.4m current hability), and cash
and cash equivalents of £33.7m (2020: £21.5m) The net
increase of £17.8m mainly relates to increased cash and cash
equivalerts anc ircraased trade receivasles in ine with the
growth in overall revenues.

Current liabilities of £88 5m (2020 £102.0m) comprise trade
and other pavables of £86 0m (2020: £8771) provisions of
£39m (2020: £5.0m}, lease liabiftes of £8.6m (2020 £8 8m).
mcome tax liabitities of £nil (2020, £0.4m) and borrowings of
£l (2020 £0.1m) The net reduction of £3.5m mamnly relates
3 the ret movement following the repayment of £15.0m
defarred VAT under the COVID-19 VAT Deferral scheme,
o“sel by tne increase In bonus accruals due to the strong
performance of the Group (included within ather payables)
and additional legal fees accrued
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Non-current llabilities of £194.9m (2020: £195 7m) includes
borrowings of £83.9m (2020: £83.5m), lease liabilities of
£80.2m (2020: £89 8m), dervative financial instruments of
£0.4m {2020 £0.9m) and deferred tax labilites of £20.4m
(2020: £215m) See below for further detalls regarding the
Group's borrowings.

Equity of £191.1m (2020 £166.6m) increased by £24 bm as a
result of total comprehensive Incomea of £19.0m (2020: £5.5m),
new shares 1ssued and shares disposed from the Employee
Benefit Trust ("EBT") of £1.5m (2020: £1 Om} to settle
obligations under the Group's Save As You Earn ("SAYE")
scheme, and transactions in relation to share-based
payments and associated deferred income tax of £4.0m
{2020: £1.0m). There was no dividend payment in 2021
(2020: £3 9m).

Cash flow and movement in
net debt

Net debt decreased by £11.9m to £50.2m from £62.1m.
The movement in net debt is explained as follows:

202 2000
£m £m
Cash generated from operations 80.3 94.8
Capital expenditure - maintenance (8.2} &7
Repaymeant of right-of-use liability {13.0) (142
Taxation paid (13.0) 95
Interest paid {71) (70)
Free cash flow 39.0 554
Capital expenditure - developmeant (8.4) (37}
Business combinations (nat of cash
acquired) (19.4) {(72)
Loans and borrowings acguired through
business combinations (1.0) —
Divicends paid —_ (39
Sale of property, plant and equipment 0.6 —
Exceptional items — (07
Proceeds from Ordinary shiares 1.2 a1
Proceeds from sale of Treasury shares 0.3 0%
Amortisation of debtissuance costs {0.4) .0y
Decrease i net debt 1n9 399

Cash generated from operating activities decreased by 13.3%
o £80 3m from £94 8m, despite the ‘ncrease in adjusted
EBITDA, The decrease primarnly relates to £15.0m of VAT
payments which were deferred under the COVIDA19 VAT
Deferral scheme ard £2.0m of taxes in the Netherlands
deferred from the pr or vear, naid in the current year. Cash
generated from operations also includes an additional £77m
of payments for costs relating to business combinations,
which mostly relate to acquisitions in prior periods.



The analysis of capital expenditure between mainienance
and development in the table above reflects a broad split
between expenditure which we believe will primarily maintain
profit, and that which we expect to increase profit. This split
can only ever be approximate. Development capital expenditure
includes new sites, relocations, significant extensions and
significant new eguipmeant. All other capital expenditure 1s
included as maintenarce.

Repayrnent of right-of-use-labiliies of £13.0m (2020: £14.2m)
consists of abilities in respect of property leases for our
veterinary practices, specialist referral centres and support
offices and leases for vehicles and equipment.

No corporation tax relief is received on the majority of the
armortisation and transaction costs which are deducted in
arnving at the unadjusted profit before income tax figure.
Therefore, taxation paid moves broadly in tine with the
adjusted profit before income tax of the Group. The increase
in tax patd In the year 1s primarily as a resuit of the increase
in profit generated by the Group.

The interest payment of £7.1m was consistent with the prior
year of £7.0m, reflecting the Group's maintenance of net
debt during the financial year,

Cash avallable for discretionary expenditure {"free cash flow™”)
decreased to £39.0m from £55.4m, primarily as a result of the
deferred VAT payments noted akbove.

Development capital expenditure of £8.4m (2020: £3.7m} was
incurred In the year. This investment Included relocation of
our practices at the Grove in Fakenharm, Barry in Wales,
Buttercross in Nottinghamshire and Rosemullion in Cormwall,
and refurbishment of some of cur existing sites, with
significant investrment in our sites at Buchanan in Manchester,
Springfield in Rotherharm and Newguay in Cornwall, which is
due to complete in October 2021. The level of invastment in
the prior year was adversely impacted by action taken to preserve
cash during the first COVID-12 lockdown 1n March 2020.

Consideration for business combinations, net of cash acquired,
of £18 4m was paid for nine practices (15 practice sites)
(2020: £7.2m) acquired during the financial vear to June
2021 In addiuion a further £1.0m (2020 £nif) was paid to
settle loans transferred as part of the business
combinations.

Dividend of £nil (2020: £3.9m) fellowing the decision not
to declare a dividend in the prior year due to COVID-19
support received.

Sale of property plant and equipment of £0.6m (2020: £nil)
relates to sites held not deemed to be In the nght location
for future Investment,

Exceptional ttems of £nil (2020: £0.7m). The prior year related
to amounts paid In relation to Board restructuring costs.

Proceeds from tne sale of Ordinary and Treasury shares of
£1.5m arose on the exercise of options under the Group's
approved SAYE scheme, which allows colleagues to save
regular amounts each month over a threg-year pencd and
benett from increases N the Group's share price over that time.

Amortisation of debt issuance costs of £0 4m (2020: £1.0m)
was in ine with our policy.

Net debt and borrowing costs
The Group's net debt comprises the following:

2021 200
£m £
Borrowings repayable:

W.thin one year - (N

After more than one year
Loan facility 85.0 B850
Unamaortised borrowing costs (11 {15}
Total horrowings 83.9 836
Cash and cash eguivalents (33.7) (215
Ne: debrt 50.2 521

The Group has total facilites of £1750m to 31 January 2024,
providec by a syndicate of four banks: Natwest, HSBC, BQI
and AIB, and comprising the following elements:

« afixed term loan of £85.0m, repayable on 371 January 2024
via a single bullet repayment;

- a four-year Revolving Credit Facility ("RCF") of £85.0m,
that runs to 31 January 2024;

« an envisaged, but not committed, accordion faaiiity of up
to £100.0m, that runs to 31 January 2024; and

« in gddition, the Group has a £5.0m overdraft facil ty,
renewable annually.

The twe financial covenants associated with thase fac lities,
described below, remain unchanged and will continue to
be calculated based on the Group's account.na policies
applicable at 30 June 2019 for the duration of the facilities,
ie pre-tFRS16.

A the year-end, the total borrowings principally consist of:

« the £85 0m term loan (gross of unamortised 1ssue costs)
(2020 £85.0m); and

- Lnil drawr down under the RCF {gross of uramortsed
issue costs) (2020, £nil).

The two financial covenants associated with the Group's
bank facilities are based on the ratios of net debt ta EBITDA
and EBITDA to irterest. EBITDA 15 based an adjusted EBITDA,
annualised for the effect of acquisitions, including costs
relating to business combinations and excluding share
option costs, prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, The EBITDA

to interest ratic must not be less than 4.5x. At 30 June 2021

It was 24.97x.
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Financial review continued

Cash flow and movement in
net debt continued

Net debt and korrowing costs continued

The covenant levels allow a maximum Group net debt

to EBITDA ratio ("gearing”) of 3.25bx, although it 1s no! the
Group's intention to cperate at this level. The gearing ratio
decreased duning the year, to 0.88x at 30 June 2021 from
114x% at 30 June 2020. This decrease 'n ratio reflects both
the decrease in net debt and increase in EBITDA.

The Group manages Its banking arrangements centrally.
Funds are swept daily from its various bank accounts into
central bank accounts 1o optimise the Group's ret interest
payable position.

nterest rate risk is also managed centrally and derivative
mstraments are used o mitigate this risk On 28 February
20720, the Group entered into two four-year fixed interest rate
swap ar-angements 1o hedge fluctuations in mterest rates on
£70.0m of its term loan faciity.

Going concern and viability

At the staternent of financial pesition date the Group had
cash balances of £33.7m and an unutilised overdraft facility of
£5 0. Total facilities of £170.0m are available 1o support the
Group's organic and acquisitive growth initatives over the
COIMING years, comprising a term loan of £85 0m and an RCF
of £85.0m. The Directors consider that the £5.0m overdraft
and the £170.0m facility enable the Group to meet its habilites
as they fall due Since the year end. the Group has continued
to trade profitably and to generate cash,

After consideration of market canditions, the Group's
financial position (ncluding the level of headroom avalable
within the bank facilities), finarcial forecasts for the three
vears 1o 30 lune 2024, its profile of cash generat on and the
timing and amount of bank borrowings repayable. and
principal nisks, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that both the Company and the Group will be able to continue
In ooeration and meet 1s liabilities as they fall due over The
period, beirg at least 12 moniths from the daie of approval
of the financial siatements.

For this reasan. the going concern basis contirues to be
adopted in preparing the financial statermrents,

Maore mformation on the Group's viability ssaterrent can be
found or page 79 of tne Annual Repar:.
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Share price performance

At the year-end the Caompany's market capuialisation was
£1.,7087m (2.415p per share), compared to £727.8m {1,030p
petr sharg) at the previous year-end. The graph below shows
the total shareholder return performance compared to the
FTSE AlM All-Share index. The values indicated in the graph
show the share price movement based on a hypothetical
£100 holding n Crdinary shares from 1 July 2020 to 30 june 2021

Twelve-month graph to 30 June 2021 {rebased)

Suurce Factset

Key contractual arrangements

The Directors consider that the Group has only two
significant third-party supplier contracts which are for the
supply of vetennary drugs. In the event that these suppliers
ceased trading, the Group would be able to continue in
bus ness without significant disruption in trading by
purchasing from alternative suppliers.

Forward-looking statements

Certain staternents and arrangements described in the
Annual Report are forward looking. Although the Board s
comfortable that the expectations reflected in these forward-
looking statermnents are reasorable, it can give no assurance
that these expectations will prove to be correct. Because
these statements involve nsks and uncertanties, actual
results may differ matenally from those expressed or

mplied by these forward-looking statements.

Robin Alfonso
Chief Financial Officer
23 September 2021



Strategy in action

We provide great
facilities and equipment

3

Enhancing
specialist
services

Put simply, we want to make sure our clinical teams have
the best facilities and equipment possible to do their
outstanding work, as well as provide cur clients with a
best-in-class service.

Our new Ramsgate site 1s desigred to create a new and
improved experence for clienis and therr pets. The site
offers an extended range of services and facilives in a very
modern environmeant, whilst maintaining a warm and friendly
atmosphere. it is the first CVS practice to use a new modern
and spacious opan-plan reception and waiting area design,
o enable the team to bond with their clients and patients
from the second they enter the bullding. Removing the usual
reception desk defies the rules but the team passionately
belleve In customer focus and having no barners between
thern and therr clients.

4O

Pratices equipped with
state of the art keyhole
neutering equipment

13

Completed
refurbishments and
relocations in 2021
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG

Care at our heart

CVS in 2021 at a Glance

c.i.im
Compuanion animals under our care
in 2020/2021

£510.9m

Revenue
(2020: £427.8m)

£97.5m

Adjusted EBITDA
(2020 €71 0rr)

£1.7bn

Market capitalisation
(2. 4150 per share) at 30 June 2021
(30 June 2020: £727.8m (1,0300 per share))

L50,000

Members of the Healthy Pet Club,
our preventative healthcare scheme
(2020, 415,000}

L

Ctinicians on our Executive Committee
Incluging three veterinary sargeons, of which two

are specialists, and one qualified vetarnary nurse,
cormprising 50% of rales (Chief Operating Cfficer,
Chef veterinary Officer, Director of Clinical Cperations
and Group Procurement Drector)

7,241

Colleagues employed

(2020: 8.761), mcluding 1.962 veter nary surgeors (2020
1781) and 2,548 nurses (2020: 2 359)

>500

Veterinary surgeries
trroughout the UK, the Netherlands
and Reoublic of lreland
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Iintroduction

CVS has in recent years embarked or an ambitious
programme to buld a financially sustainable, fully integrated,
successful and growing vetarinary services grodp. This
approach, which s aligned with the UN's Sustamability
Developrrent Goals, is on track, with the strong performance
during the year underpinned by our clear strategy to continue
o improve our contribution in future years, We are proud of
what has been achieved, as highlighted 1 the following pages.

The Board of CVS s acutely aware that today companies
must be managea so that wider society benefits fror their
husiness operations and services. Whilst CVS has always
taken its broadar societal obligations seriously, we have
recently begun the process of monitoring, assessing and
understanding our irmpact and the contribution we make

in ordet to ensure that CVS becomes a truly sustainable
business focused on delivering value 1o all of its stakehclders
This ivtiative builds on our purpose and wision and will over
tume, evolve Into a measurable ESG strategy.

We refer to this approach as “Care at our Heart”, having
worked to denufy and articulate the core prionties for all
divisions of our business, UsiNg interviews with our
colleagues and stakeholder analysis, highlighting thelr own
priorities and concerns and how these interlock with our
own We are, of course, a business that provides best-in-
class chin cal care to animals. But care, in its broader sense,
goes to the very heart of what we do.

Qur colleagues choose to work in tne sector because they
care deeply about the animals we treat, and acout driving
standards of chnical excelience while minimising our impact
on the natural environment, We care about protecting their
own wellbeing, and equipping them with the support,
resources, training, and access to continuous professional
development they need to perform at their best We care
about making a positive impact in the commurrtes and the
profession in which we work and harnessing this good o
drive value for our investors. Care is 10 our DNA, and 1t 1s the
foundation of our ESG strategy.



Recruiting and
retaining more
excellent clinical

Creating colleagues Providing
a happier higher quality
workforce of animal care
Raising
Qur efforts o build a more sustainable Continually industry
business will drive increased standards, improving standards and
an improved working environment for performance supporting the
our colleagues and mproved returns and impact veterinary
for our shareholders. This improvement profession
feeds into a positive cycle of
performance in all aspects of our »
economic performance, sustainable Driving Helping more
practices and corporate governance. sustainable animals, who
investor in turn improve
returns people’s lives
Meeting market
demand

ESG driving business performance

66

The emphasis on a dedicated series of workstreams to
understand and measure cur impact is new, but our focus
remains unchanged — building a sustainable business.
Central to our management approach is the belief that
delivering strong financial performance goes hand in hand
with meeting our ambitious ESG objectives. Becoming the
employer of choice, providing the best clinical care and
playing our role in society will ensure we have the capacity
to meet demand. Career development, diversifying our
warkforce, and supporting colleagues to enhance their
wellbeing are not ‘soft’ activities but central to attracting and
retaining the very best vets. In simple terms, at CVS we believe
investing in our ESG strategy de-risks our business, creating
value for all our stakeholders.”

Robin Alfonso
Chief Financial Officer
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG continued

How we care for our stakeholders

Reporting and target setting

We have identified the metrics we have putin place for each strand of our ESG strategy
o the following pages. describing thelr importance in driving positive change,
benaviours and actions. Cver the coming year, we wili be analysing our busiress further
and engaging with stakenolders to understand what further metrics CVS should put in
olace o measure care at the heart of our business.

Our patients and their owners Colleagues
How we care How we care
- Access to ena-to-end care through our first-opirion - Competitive rewards and bepefits

wractices. our speciabst-led. multu-disciphnary ~eferral
hospitals, our diagnoshc Jaboratonas and, at the and
of ananrnal's Lfe. Through aur compassionate « Flexible working programmes
Cremnation services

- Colleague wellbeing support and regular check-ns

« Egualty, Diversity and Inclusion working group

< high el cal standatds - Development opporiunities

« Arimal welfare priontised « Clnical governance

IR . o o e o e .

+ Regulgr i .gck-kqu and treatrments (vacc nes/flee « MNew graduate prograimme mcluding our fiust graduate
eatments worming} SUMMEr camps

+ Censstently high standards fer pain managemeant in . Cultue of open dialogue and learning

zurgical patients ) .
Access to top-tier clinical expertise
Eguine cut-of-hoars service
Learnng and development
« Vel Oracle Telemedcine
+ Mental Health Pledge

Outcomes Out
+ A healthy pet population utcomes
« Becoming the vetennary company pecple most want to
- Zunstanang clinical expert se work for
< The best possible service for pet owners and ther animals + Fulfilled vets and nurses who have the equipmert and

sLPPOHT 1o provide the best possible care for animals

Current and future KPIs
- Equal opportunities for all colleagues

Current:

« Wonthly tracking of customer Net Promaoter Scores « Anealthy and safe workspace

« Wembersng of our preventative healthcare schemes - Offermg climical colleagues access to tap-ter clinical
Healtny Per Club and Heaithy Harse Programene expertse and continued profess onal development

. Clinical autcoma survevs - Building the best Laarming, Education and Development

LED") platform

Future:

« Tracking of patent survey follow-up actions to mprove Current and future KPls
gualty of serv ce and care Current:

« Monthly tracking of eNPS colleague survey
< Vet and nurse employee numbers
- Choealiole vacarcy rates

Future:
» Average traning and aevelozment expenditure per
full-nme employee

» Tracking of “ollow-up actions from eNPS suiveys to
improve colleague wellbeing and staff satisfaction

Gender and ethricity KPI
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Environment

How we care
- Responsible sourcing including cnoosirg supphers
wha use sustainable packaging

Waste reduction imitiatives

Switeh to electricity from 100% renewable sources in
UK vetennary pratices

New, greener vehicle fleet introduced and further
changes planned

« National Trust partnership and tree planting initiative
PPE recychng trial underway

Outcomes
« Monitoring and reducing our environmental impact
Reduced waste
Reduced cmissions
Reduced carben footprint

Current and future KPls

Current:
Streamlined Energy ana Carbon Reporting ("SECR™)
on Scope 1,2, and 3 emissions alongside detalls of
greenhouse gas emissions (ircluding anaesthetics)
not covered by SECR

Percentage reduction in waste disposal per annum

Future:
+ Absolute reduction targets

+ Tonnes of waste generated (hazardous, general, landfill
and incineration, recyclaeq)

« Water consurmption

Percentage of packaging formats that are recyclable,
reusabte or compostable

Community and industry bodies

How we care
+ Sugn access to all frst-opin on companion animal pract ces
to allow deafl clients to access vetennary care

Schools outreach
Lia son with RCVYS, BVA, BVNA and other iIndustry bodies
- Annual Vet Life chanty donations

Focus on guality improverment including
antimicrobial stewardsnio

Sponsorship and chanty donatiors
Qutcomes

Investrment i the vetennary profession

Rais rg standards across tha sector

Current and future KPls
Percentage INCregase €O COmmunity rvestment

Investors

How we care
- Delverng strong financial performance

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting
Open-dialogue communication with our shareholders
« Alignment with targets

+ Improved snareholder access ta senior management ard
communication nelusing appointment of financial PR
agency and recording of analyst results presentations

Outcomes
Sustainable shareholder value and long-termm growth

LTIP awards I'nked to total shareholder 1eturns over the
medium ana lenger term

Fxecutive Ditectors subject 1o two-yvear lock-n for future
LTIP awards

Shareholder consaltation on key 1ssues raised through
AGM voting or through regular meetings
Current and future KPls
Share prce ard total sharsholder return
virtual broker conferences

Engagemont with investors
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG continued

Qur UNSDGs

The Group has identified the following UNSDGs as the
most important to our activities and impact on people,
animals and the naturai environment

Pillar 3: Good health and wellbeing
Ensure healthy hves and promote wellbeing
for all

Pillar 4: Quality education

Ensure nclusive and equitable quality
educstion and promote hfelong learning
opportunities for all

Pillar 5: Gender equality
Achigve gender equality and empower all
women and girls

Pillar 8: Decent work and economic
growth

Promote sustained, nclusive and sustainable
economic growth, full productive employment
ana decent work for all

Pillar 9: Industry, innovation and
infrastructure

Build resiliznt infrastructure, promete
nclusive and sustainable industrialisation
and foster innovation

Pillar 12: Responsible consumption
and production
Ensure sustainable consumption

nd production patterns.

Pillar 13; Climate action
Take urgent action to combpat chimeats change
and its impacts.

Pillar 15: Life on land

Protect, resiore and promote sustainable use
of terrestrial ecosysterns, sustainably manage
torests, combat desertfication, and halt

and reverse land degradation and halt
hadiversity loss.

Pillar 17: Partnership for the goals
Strengthen the means of iImplementatior
and revitalise the global partrershp for
sustainable development

46 | CVS Group ple Annucal Report and Financial Stotements 2021

Our responsibility: putting Care
into practice

We care abeut our responsibility to people. animals and the
natural enviranment, and the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals ("UNSDGs") are an invaluable framework
for our business to put care mito practice. We outline below
our priorities as a Group and the intiatives we have putin
place to ensure we meet and exceed this responsibility,
highlighting the reievant UNSDGs,

Attracting and retaining talent, and ensuring
the wellbeing of our employees

Why we care: Our service, and the success of our
operations, depend on the expertse, expenence and
wellbeing of our teams. CQur vision 1s to be the veterinary
company people most want to work for, and we aim to
achieve this by providing long-term careers, appropriate
reward and benefits, and equal opportunities for all. We offer
numerous quality development opportunities alongside
excellent facilities and resources, whilst encouraging and
supporting good mental health.

How we care: CVS has created three new Wellbeing Working
Groups, mvalving colleagues from a vanety of roles across
the company. We have trained over 300 Wellbeing Champions
in Frrst Aud for Mental Health, embedding them in locat
teams, alongside wellbeing traming for senior leaders, which
had been taken up by over 280 managers by 30 June 2021,

Following the financial year-end, we have intreduced
enhanced holiday provision to support wellbeing and
recoghise colleagues’ contribution through long service,
while reclucing the 1mpact of job vacancias or teams

by improving attraction and retention for all roles.

We track colieague engagement through the monthly
Employee Net Promoter Scaores ("eNPS”), to ensure our
tearmns are fulfilled and to allow us to respond to Issues early

Ina clincal setting, we provide Continuous Professional
Development ["CPD7) allowances for all our vets and nurses,
n addiion toin-denth traiming programmes and graduate
camps. To suppaort our nurses through the first lockdown,
the LED team together with ChesterGates’ nursing school
developed the “Fron Nurses, For Nurses” inthative. This
comprises a series of webinars, quizzes and G&A-style
online sess.ons, led by our referral nurses for ther colleagues.

We offer a two-year graduate induction programme to
support early-career professionals, while our virtual LED
platform, Knovdedge Hub, has improved ease of access to
nformation and learning online.



Delivering a first-class experience to our customers
and their animals

Why we care: Providing the best possible care for our
patients is integral to our business. Cur teams care deeply
apout the health of the animals they treat. providing
outstanding service and expertise that i1s trusted by

animal owners.

How we care: Cur integrated model supports our
customers by allowing us to set the highest standards of
chrical care and support the work of our practices with
specialist referral hospitals and diagnost ¢ laboratories. This
approach s led by cur Chief Vetennary Officer, Professor
John [nnes and his clinical team which includes our nawly-
appointed Chief Nursing Officer, Lucy Turner.

We are the only veternary corporate group in the UK to
publish an annual Quality Improvement report We are fully
committed to the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme and
have recewved a number of outstanding awards.

We provide access to high-quality vetennary specialists to
assist in resolving complex clinical 1ssues, while our Vet
Oracle business provides tele-radiclogy and tele-neurology
Image INterpretation services to first-opinien vets all over
the world.

Playing an active role in the communities in which
we operate, and the profession

Why we care: We believe in the importance of playing ar
active role in community life. Building trust, familiarity and
reliability helps us make a positive impact on the lives of our
customers, patients, and their communities. Leading the
way In driving standards of excellence, innovation and
initiatives to shape the profile of the profession will help

to advance animal healthcare for future generations

How we care: We want 1o Increase the level of diversity in
our sector and are beginning to work with schools and
universities to attract a more diverse workforce We have
anpointed a new internal committee focusing on aspects of
diversity and inclusion. Qur new Employee Experience role

also focuses on improving the diversity profile of our business,

and on our commitment to providing equal opportunities and
Improving the gender pay gap.

We also want to play a leading role in tackling 1ssues such
as antimicrebial resistance - a critical challenge for animal
healthcare globally, working with organisations embedded
within the profession to promote responsible prescribing
of antimicrobials.

We engage with charities to provide veterinary services, and
we encourage our colleagues to fundraise for our charity
of the vear, which is chosen by cur colleagues

We are, above all, a business
that cares about our wider
impact on the world around us.
We believe strongly that we have
a responsibility to do our very
best for our teams, our patients,
customers, and the communities
in which we work. This drives
value, but it’s also just the right
thing to do.”

Richard Fairman
Chief Executive Officer
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CVS’s approach to sustainability and ESG continued

Our responsibility: putting Care
into practice continued

Reducing our environmental impact

Why we care: Caring for animals goes hand in hand with
canng for the natural environment. Qur aims to minimise
our impact on the planet in a way that supports and
develops our services and clinical expertise.

How we care: We are investing in a range of interventions o
ncrease efficiency and reduce cur climate impact. As pa't
of our adoption of SECR, we have undertaken work to
reduce our Scape 1, 2 and 3 emissions, as well as
broadening the extent of cur reportng to nclude detalls of
greenhouse gas emissions (including anaesthetics) which
are not covered by SECR.

Our initiatives 1o achieve this have included: moving to a
rerewable energy supply: supporting smarter heat and
butlding management: adding electne vehicles and capping
CO, emissions for our new fleet; decommissinring air-
condihoning supplies that use 'R22" gas, which nas a high
orone depletion potential; reducing electricity use mour
day-to-clay aperations, and IMProving Gur wasie
management and increasing recycling.

Further, together with the National Trust, our seven
crematona sites across the UK have pledged to plant cne
sguare metre of native Brnitish woodland for every pet we
recaive directly for individual cremation throughout 2021, So
far in 2021, we've already helped to plant 2,000m’ of native
woodland through this infliative.

In tance with this, we will conduct work to measure
climate nsk within our business i line with the
recommendations laid out by the Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures {TCFD)
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Working with suppliers to drive positive change
Why we care: We believe in driving sustainability at all
stages of our supply chain, and creating and adopting
sustainable practices and equipment to ensure we can
effect positive change tegether with our suppliers.

How we care: We have, alongside our office supplies
suppler, Warrens Office, undertaken various packaging
reduction imitiatives including reusable and recyclable
packaging They have committed to switching all company
vehicles to electric venicles, which will be powered by the
company’s self-generated solar power.

We are also switching our products to more environmeritally
friendly options, such as recycled products.

Auturan 2021 will see the launch of the new CVYS Print
Platform in conjunction with environmental award-wirnning
print supplier, SF Taylor. This will help reduce waste and
ansure we are using responsibly sourced matenals.

We use Vealia's Microsoft Power Bl platfarm ta analyse waste
collection data and monitor waste bin utilisation across

our practices, nelping us to increase recycling and reduce
waste callections.

Vet Diract, our veterinary equinment supplier, has vastly
reduced its printing of catalogues, and carbon balancing the
paper through the World Land Trust This has helpad protect
4 999m- of critically threatened ropical forest.



Strategy in action

We take our
responsibilities seriously

Safety First

In January 2021, we launched our new online nealth and
safety systern, Safety Hub. This rescurce includes training
modules as well as divisionally-specific rescurces related to
each site's area of work. Divisional Health and Safety
Advisors make regular support visits to review all areas of
safety compliance and support teams in meeting practice
standards Site managers can complete weekly and monthly
compliance checklists on the Hub, and Regionza| Birectors
can generate reports giving an overview of sites in their areas.

The system not only makes it easier for CVS colleagues to
ensure they are Health and Safety compliant, it also reduces
the Group's environmental impact by removing the need for
paper checklists and instead utilising a user-friendly website
or smartphone app.

258 159

Courses completed by ‘Outstanding” RCVS
managers on the new Practice Standards
Safety Hub Scheme Awards
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Proactively identifying and
managing risk throughout

the Group

Risk management structure

The Board nas overall respansibility for ensuring ris< s
approprately managed across the Group. The day-to-day
identification, management and mitgaton of nisk s
delegated 1o the Group's senior management,

Risk registers are prepared which evaluate the risks most
likely to impact the Group. Colleagaes acioss the business
are involved in the preparat on and reqular review of these
nsk registers in order to ensure that all potential areas of risk
are adequately dentified, recaorded and managed Cantrols
that are in place are assessed in order to determine the
extent 1o which they mitigate nsk and in crrcumstances
where it 15 considered appropnate to reduce risk further,
appropnate actions are determined

The: Group's business operations are sunject 1o a wide range
of risks. Some of the most significant risks are explained
below together with detalls of actions that have been taken
to mitigate these risks

The key roles and delegated responsibilities

Executive Management team
Collectively responsible for managing risks.

Audit Committee

Assists the Board to fulfil its corporate governance duties and
oversees responsibilites in relation to financ.al reporting,
irternal control and the risk management structure

Internal audit

Holds mieet’ ngs with risk owners across the business,
assesses the nisk ratings and decuments the controls in
place to mitigate each risk, and recommends improvements
and correction actions.

Risk appetite

The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management approach
relles upon a culture of transparency and openness that s
encouraged by both the Board and senior managemsan:. The
Group's appetre for risk is considered low: whilst somea nisk is
acceptedin order to develop the bus ness and invest In future
growth, the Group has no appetite for major nizks which
cannoct be effectively mingated through approonate controls.
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Assessment of principal risks

During the year, the Board undertook a rebust. in-depth and
comprehensive assessment of the emerging and principal
nsks facing the Group and specifically those that might
threaten the delivery of its strategic business model, its
future performance, solvency or iquidity. A summary of
the principal risks and uncertainties that could impact the
Group's performance is shown on pages 52 to 57.

COVID-19 and Brexit

The Group faced unprecedented disruption to 115 operations
in the previous financial year to 30 June 2020 due to the
COVIDA9 pandemic, and the Group has had to continue

to evolve its operations to reflect ongoing COVIDAS
government and regulatory guidance in the financial year

to 30 June 2021, The Group has also had to adapt to the
changes arising from the UK's exit from the European Union.

The Board continues to monitor ana assess the nisks and
ooportunities which may arise from further disruption
througn COVID-19 or similar pandemic and through Brexit.
The medium and longer term impacts of COVID18 and
Brexit remain unzlear but the Board and senior management
continua to monitor developments and plan accordingly.

Our key focus in monitoring and managing risks from
COVIDAY and Brexit is to ensure the safety and wellbeing
of our colleagues and 1o ensure we have appropriate
resources In place to continue to provide appropriate
services to our customers and their animais.

COVID-19 and Brexit both have the ability to affect the
following principle risks:

- Key employees

« Economic environment and consJdmer trends

. Competition

+ Changeas n industry regulations

- Sourcing pharmaceunical supplies

- Health and Safety legislation

- Corporate legislation or -egulatory reguirements
- Bank facilities

+ Future pandemic or lockdown



Risk management framework

Board

Executive Committee

Audit
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Internal controls

Internal audit

Group risk management
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ECOHDF\'!;C environment
and consumer trends

Competition
Adverse publicity
Information techrology
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regulations

Sourcing phormaceutical
supplies

Sourcing and integrating
acquisitions

Health ard Safety
legislation

Corporate lagislation or
tegulatery requirements

Bank facifities

Future pandemic
or lockdown

Sustainabilty ano
climate change
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk

increasing risk

Reducing risk  New risk

1. Key employees

Description

Failure to rotain and attract
key colleagues, particularly
velennary surgeons dug to
structural shortages of
gualified vets in the industry,

Potential impact

« Fallure to be able to meet
theincreased dermand
from clients and ther
animals.

» |rcreased employment
costs leading to adverse
impact on financial
oerformance of the Group.

Increased pressure on our
colleagues to cover
Vacancy gaps.

Mitigating factors
+ Close relationship with UK veter nary schools and market-
leading graduate inducton programire.

» Focused traming programmes to cover clinical, customer
se-vice and managemant training

- Appropriate reward and benefits.

- Regular feedback from colleagues to address common
Issues or concerns, Including our whistleblowing policy,
as detalled on page 64.

Highly qualfied recruitment team.

« Home Off ce reinstatement of Veterinary Surgeons on UK
Shortage Occupation List.

2. Economic environment and consumer trends

Description

Risk that Brexit and the
continuing COVID-19
pardemic nas a detnmental
impact on the economy.

Potential impact

« Reduction n consumer
confidence and spending
on veterinary services,

Short term restrictions
N resource due to
redurement for
self-isolation

« Further lockdown
restrict ons.

« Supply disruptions.

- Changing consumer
trerds may lead
to a reduct onin
et ownership

Mitigating factors

+ Diverse range and provision of services across the Group
to a w de range of animals n the UK. the Netherlands and
the Repuolic of Irelana.

+ Strong year on year growtn in the Healthy Pet Club
("HPC"), which had 450,000 members at the year end
and the Healthy Horse Programme ("HHP"), which had
10,000 memaers. This promotes lovalty to the Group.

« Onlne retail business protects the Group against changes
in consumrer spending habits.

« Ability to scurce supplies from a number
of manufacturers.
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Changes in the yeor

- We have increased the
number of vets and nurses
employed by 10.2% and
8.0% respectively.

- Inorder to deliver growth
and service the increased
demand we are secking to
recrult more vets and nurses.

- Attrition rates remain
unchanged

Link to

strategy
Read mora an
payges 22 and 23

1 2 3 4

Changes in the year

+ We continue to respond tc
evolving government and
regulatory guidance and
are able to adapt our
services accordingly (e g
the use of tele-consultations
where reguired)

« Brexitimport and export
rules and regulations
are clear.

- According to the Pet Food
Manufacturers Associatior,
¢.3.2m UK households
bought a pet during the
COVID-9 pandermic

Link to

strategy
Read mroreon
pages 22 and 23

2 3 b



3. Competition

Description

Increased consolidation and
acquisition of mdependent
vetennary practces.
Potential impact

+ Loss of third-party practice

clients to Laboratores,
Crematona and Referrals.

+ Increased acquisition
value multiples baing paid.

+ Increased price
competition may limit
the ability to pass on
increases in employment,
pharmaceutical and
other costs.

|
|

Mitigating factors
« The Group has & wide range of services to offer its clients
by way of itz integrated veterinary platform.

+ Continuous investment to maintain migh-class facilities and
eguipment In order <o provide excellent clinical service.

- Detailed assessment of acquisition opportunities
measured against clear target critena.

+ Regular reviews of pric’ng of products and servcas to
ensure we remain competitive,

L. Adverse publicity

Description

Any adverse pJblicity on the
Group, other corporate
veterinary groups or on the
veterinary sector as a whole.

Potential impact

« Reduction in customer
numbers leading to
adverse revenue.

+ Adverse impact on our
ability to attract and retain
key colleagues.

Mitigating factors

« Policies and procecures in place to monitor service
delivery and ensure continued lavels of high ciass
veterinary care

- Participation in the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme
and RCVS Knowledge Q| Champion accred tation.

- Established Climical Advisory Committaes to advise
on clinical standards and drug lists across the Group.

« Individual practice branding to reduce tne risk of any
adverse publicity being associated with other practices.

- Group Marketing and Communications teams to respond
swiftly to any issues.

« Prominent representation on national bodies and at industry
events to build the Group's reputation and crecibility.
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| Changes in the year
+ Ongoing market

consohdation.

« Growth in revenues across
all divisions.

« Continued increase
in our HPC and HHP
schemes to retain
our clients.

Link to
strategy

Read imore on
pages 22and 23

1 2 3

Changes in the year

« Financial PR agency
appointed o support with
media communication.

- Continued maonitoring of
our ¢linical standards
against our quality
improvement framewaorks
for elinicians and
practices.

Link to
strategy

Read more on
pages 22and 23

1 2 3 4
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk

Increasing risk

Reducing risk  New risk

5. Information technology

Description

The Group is dependent on
various aspects of
irforrmation Technology
(1T7) and support for its
aperat.ons

Potential impact

+ A cyber-zttack could result
in loss of systems and
potential loss of client data.

Loss of connectivity and
availabilty of systerns
across our network.

Mitigating factors
+ Policies and procedures are in place to ensure stability

and security of our networks and systems

Restricted access to systems, networks and applications
wnerever possibie,

Scheduled program of network security enhancement
with external reviews performed pencdically.

Full systern testing of any developments prior to
live deployment

Regular backups ardtastng of the recovery of these
system backups.

Established Practice Management System m place whick
is able to work without access 1o the mternet for short
periods of tire.

6. Changes in industry regulations

Description

Tha Industry 15 subject
0 a number of laws
and reguiations.

Potential impact

+ Failure 1o adhere to these
coule have a material
mpact on the Group
through damage to
reputation and/or
financial penalties.

+ Changes in regulations
could adversely ‘mpact
the Group's competitive
advantage

Mitigating factors
+ Policies and procedures in place to monitor compliance

and ary developments or propesed changes.

Reguiar engagement with regulatory and legislative
podies to promote best practice and lobbying for change
where considered appropriate.

Clinical Directors In place to ensure high standards are
mantamed.
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Changes in the year
« Appointment of a Chief
Technology Otficer.

+ Strengthened senioriT
team including appointment
of Head of Security and
Head of IT Projects.

Link to
strategy

Read more on
nages 22 and 23

3 b

Changes in the year

+ Monnoring and adhererce
to temporary regulation
changes put m place oy the
RCVS as & result of the
CCVID-12 pandemic

Link to

strategy
Read meare on
pages 22 and 23

1 2 3 L



7. Sourcing pharmaceutical supplies

Description

Failure 1o source
pharmaceutical products
at the required price

and quantity.

Potential impact

« Inability to treat patients
with the required
prescription and non-
prescription medicines.

+ Adverse revenue impact.

+ Adverse impact on
margins through having to
source alternative supplies
on less favourable terms.

Mitigating factors
« Supply agreements in place w.th multiple mejor

wholesalers to cover stocking 1ssues.

Supply of own-brand products ir Group warehouses
for onwards supply

« Reguiar pricing reviews with all major suppliers across all

divisions for best possible pricing.

8. Sourcing and integrating acquisitions

Description

Failure to attract and acguire
acquisitions at the
appropriate price.

Potential impact

+ Pressure that higher
multiples reduces growth
opportunities through
acquisiions,

« Failure to integrate
efficiently impacting
actual perfarmance versus
business case.

Mitigating factors

Dedicated team committed 10 sourcing acquisitions.

Clear fist of criteria used to assess any potential
acquisition targets

Mult-disciplined team communications in aavance of
acquisition to plan the integration.

Use of professicnal advisers to ensure approgriate cue
diligence and legal advice 1s undertaken.

Close manitaring of post-acausition performance versus
business plan.

Changes in the year
. Monitering the availabihty
of any drugs sourced frorm
outside the UK due to Brexit
and the ongoing COVIE-19
pandemic,

+ Increased stock levels n
Group warehousing to
reduce the potential iImpac:
of any supply disrupmion.

i - New warghousing system

« New direct supply
agreement with major
manufacturer.

Link to

strategy
Read moe on
pages 22and 23

1 4

Changes in the year
« Strengtnened acquistions
team.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 22and 23

-
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

No change to risk

Increasing risk

Reducing risk  New risk

9. Health and Safety legislation

Description

| allure to comply with health
and safety legislation across

our practices, laboratores,
crematoria, warehouse and
other sites

Potential impact
« Colleagues, clients or the

general public are injured.

- Reguired temporary
closure of sites whilst any
Issues are adaressed.

« Loss of revenue and
potental claims against
the Group.

Mitigating factors
+ Robust health and safety procedures are in place ensuring

full compliance with haalth and safety legislation

Mandatory employee training to ensure they can perform
their duties safely.

Appropriate protective eguipment supplied to all employees
i order for them to perform their duties safely

Specialist Health and Safaty team which regularly reviews
any risks and identifies areas for improvement.

Participation In the RCVS Practice Standards Scheme
to ensure the Group promotes the highest leveis of
clinical standards.

- Specialist and approenately qualified third-party advisers

Jandertake mantenance, inspections and property
development,

Changes in the year

» Ongoing provision of
COVID-19 guidance in light
of evolving guidelines.

« COVID-IS test kits
provided to colleagues.

« COVIDA1S secure risk
assessments at all sites

» Enhanced PPE supplied
to protect colleagues and
clients against COVID-19
ard other rigks.

+ New guidance and training
supplied to colleagues.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
pages 22 and 23

1 3 4

10. Corporate legislation and regulatory requirements

Description
Fallure to comply with laws
and regulations.

Potential impact
The Group could face

fines and penalties leading

to financial loss.

« The Group could face
suspension of certain
operations.

Mitigating factors

Appropriate training suppled to colleagues in the relevant
areas required

Suitable experts employed to ensure compliance
and to regularly update policies and procedures.

Appropriate Insurance cover and third-party professional
advice used as required.
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Changes in the year

+ Regular reviews of legal
and regulatory
developments across &ll
countries in which the
Group operates.

Link to

strategy
Read more o1
pages 22 and 23

y



11. Bank facilities

Description

Failure to comply with bank
covenants and ability to
secure future funding

Potential impact
+ Lack of availability
of funding.

- Increasad borrowing
costs

| Mitigating factors

+ The Group mantains suitabie facilities from a synaicate
of leading banks with an appropnate term.

« Existing facilities comprise term cebt, revolving credit

facility and an overdraft,

i+ Regular report.ng of headroom and complance

to the Board and Exacutive Committee.

- Regular meetings with bank syndicate members to
appraise performance

- Daily cash flow forecasts prepared and reviewed for a
rofling three-month period to enable working capital
requirements to be Lnderstood and to optimise bank
drawings and interest costs.

12. Future pandemic or lockdown

Description [
Future uncertainty over !
COVID-19 or other pandemic
and associated lockdowns.

Potential impact

- Future lockdowns affect
our ability to service our
clients If non-emergency i

'

services are unable to be
undertaken. i

Mitigating factors
- Working closely with the RCVS and BVA to review
evolving guidance.

- Multiple, geographically-spread locations across the UK,
Netherlands and Republic of Ireland protect the Group
from any localised lockdowns.

+ The Group operates across a diverse number of operations
with ar online retall business and provides veterinary care
across companion, equine and farm arimal species

i+ The farm amimal division is protected due tc 1t be'ng

critical to the human fooa chain.

13. Sustainability and climate change

Description

The Group’s continued
success dependis on the
soclal and environmental
sustainability of its operations.

Potential impact

= Disruptions to our supply
chain leading tc stock
shortage and financial loss.

« Adverse weather leading
to a decling in our client
demand.

« Changes in regulations
increasing the cost of
our operations.

Mitigating factors
+ Sustainability and ESG 1s discussed as a standing agenda
item In Beard meetings.

= ESG working group formed which is chared by the CEOQ.

+ Appointment of ESG advisers to help assess our risks and
to develop our Sustainability and ESG focus.

Changes in the year

« The Group is cash
generative and has
continued to reduce nat
debt and leverage, thereby
increasing the headroom
under the financiaf
covenants.

Link to

strategy
Read mare on
payss 22 and 23

1 2 3 b

Changes in the year

+ Continued adherence
to government and
regulatory advice across
all operating territories,

Link to

strategy
Read mate on
pages 22 and 23

1 2 3 L

Changes in the year

- Increased focus on ESG
and additional detall
included in Annual Report.

Link to

strategy
Read more on
payes 22 and 23

1 2 3 u
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Board of Directors and Company Secretary

Our experienced Board with
diverse skills and expertise

Richard Connell (66)
Non-Executive Chairman

Appointment to the Board
Rickara was apoomntad to the
Joacch i Septemioor 2007,

Career and experience
Richard s a Chartersd
acoountant ard workes in
INVEeSTMENt MManagement with
51 Groug, Invesco and HSBC,
Ereviouwsly he was Charr of
Dgrty nlc, Mers.ry ®harma
and Ideal Srelrad Groun

Committee membership
Richard was a member of

all thres Board Committees
ANt 20 Apnl 2021 Richard

15 1o longer 3 member of
t1e Audit Remuneraton

~r Nem natuon Commiiees

A R N

Mike McCollum (54)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Mike was appainted
to the Board in Apr 12013

Career and experience

M ke was Chief Fxecltive
Office of Dignity ple, a
FTSE-listed provider of fureral
services, unoi 3 Apnl 2020
Like CV3, th 515 a multi-site,
acquIsitive service DUSINEss
Ag F-rance Direc or he was

a prime meyer inthe 2002
leveraged buyout, tne
whole-business securtisation
' 2003 ang the PG i 2004
He became Ch ef Executive
Officer r 2008 Mkeis a
solcitor ara belds ar MBA
frorm the University of Warwick

Committee membership
Mikz s Charr of the Auut
Comimities He s a meriber of all
‘hree Board Cormmiziess anc s
*he Sener Indenerdent Director
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A R N

Deborah Kemp (60}
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Deboras was apported
2 the Board in January Z018.

Career and experience
Neboral has held a variety of
Chief Executive Officer roles in
the consurmer and hospitality
sector, mcluding asa FTSE 100
main board Director at Punch
Taverns plc Her career started
at Bass nlc as a Chartered
Surveyer, sunscauently nolding
key strategic rales in the
evolutior and growth of the
Punch Taverns pub company
Following a per'od in orivate
equsy ana a trade sale of
Laurel Funerals, she 1s now

2 Director of Ven~co bimited
and a consultarcy and intenm
specialist In the consumer-
fac.ng rezal and hosortal. sy
sector. a~d assists multi-site
busingsses through growt.
change and ransformaton.

Committee membership
Deoorahis Char of the
Rermuneratan Cormiities.

She g amember of all three
Board Comm ttees and 1s the
cedicated hon-Executive Director
for employee ergagement

A R N

Richard Gray (64%)
Non-Executive Director

Appointment to the Board
Richara was appointed
to the Board in Julv 2020

Career and experience
Richard is an investmenr: banker
who has extensive capital
markets and corporate finance
experence Helis a Director of
Zeus Capital and has previgusly
worked with Panmure Gordon,
Lazard, Charterhouse and UBS,
Heis a Non-Executive Director
of BMO Private Equity Trust plc
and holds a number of private
company appomtments
including Nen-Executive Director
of Algha Real Cawnital and Vice
Charr of Invescore Group.

Committee membership
Richard 1s Chair of the
Nomination Comrmittes,

ang s a member of all three
Board Committees



Richard Fairman (54)
Chief Executive Officer

Appointment toc the Board
Richard was appointed as a
Chrector in August 2018 and was
appomnted as Chief Financial
Officer n Qctober 2018, and
then as Chief Executive Officer
in Novernber 2019

Career and experience
Richard spent six and a half years
at the RAC Group, including as
Chief Financial Officer lrom 2016.
Pr or to this, Richaid gualified
as a Chartered Accountant at
EY, later working at PwC,
following which Richard held
roles including Finance Director
of Virgin Money, CFO of Central
Trust and Finance Director of
Virgin tMoney Giving.

Ben Jacklin (37)
Chief Operating Officer

Appointment to the Board
Ben was appointed as a Director
and Chief Operating Officer

in Novermnber 2018

Career and experience

Ben is responsible for the
leadership and management of
our husiNess operaiions, across
allour terrtores These include
all our Veterinary Practices and
our Laboratories, Crematora,
Marketing and Commanication
departments, Ben joined CVS in
2015 and, prior to his
appointment to the Board n
2019, led the Veterinary
Practices division across the
CVS territories. Ben qualfied as
a Vetermary Surgeon from
Cambridge University, and 15 a
Eurcpean College cf Veterinary
Surgeons and Royal College of
Veterinary Surgeons recogniscd
specialist in equine surgery.

Committee membership

A  Audit Committee

R Remureration Committee

Robin Alfonso (42)
Chief Financial Officer

Appointment to the Board
Robin was appcinted as

a Director and Chicf Financal
Officer .n Novemoer 2019

Career and experience
Rohin spent e ght years at the
RAC Group, mimially as Group
Finanzial Corvroller and than as
Divisicnal Finance Dnecter of irs
largest commercial divisicn and
profit centre, Corsumer
Roadside and Marketing Prior
o this, Robin qualified as a
Chartered Accountant at PwC,
fellowing which ne moved to
Aviva where he verformed a
technical accounting role
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N Nommaticn Commitiee

Chair of Committee

Jenny Farrer (44)
Company Secretary

Appointment to the Board
Jenny was appointed as
Company Secrectary in

Adgust 2021,

Career and experience
Jenny s a fellow ot the
Chartered Governance Irst tute
with fifteen years” expenance
of acting as Company Sccrataiy
10 hsted and large private
cormpanies through in-house
and professional practice roles
Jlenny s a Chartered Secretary
anc has also spent over seven
vears in professional practce
establishing and heading the
Company Secretanal Pract’ce
at Mills & Reeve LLP Jenny
establ shed the East of England
Branch of the Chartered
Governance Insttuie 1n 2008
and still takes an active role on
its committee,
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Corporate governance statement

Effective management
across the business

66

Effective corporate governance
is key to delivering the Group’s
strategy and ensuring the

long-term success of the Group.”

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary

Board and Company Secretary
gender diversity

Male 6
Female 2
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Principles of corporate governance

The purpose of this report is to provide our shareholders
and other stakeholders with information on how the
Company s managed, the roles of the Ditecters and the
Committees and 1o set out the Cempany’s compliance wth
the FRC UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 ("the Code”).
The report also sets cut the Group's internal management
controls while risk management details are avaifable on
pages 5C o 57

Thig Annual Report and Financial Statements shoulg, overall,
provide information that erables shareholders to assess how
the Directors have performed their duties under Section
172(1) of the Companies Act 20086 to promote the success
of the Compary for the benefit of (ts members as a whole.
Our Section 172(1) Statement can be found on page 18.

Compliance statements

During the year to 30 June 2021, the Company has complied
with the principles set out in the Code The following waragraphs
consist of compliance statements.

The purpose of the Company is to give the best possible
care to eanimals and the Company's vision is to be the
veterinary company people most want to work for. The
Board has consulted with employees over this objective and
it s firmly believed that where this is achieved, the Cornpany
will best meet its responsibilities to stakeholders.

Board and Company Secretary
ethnic diversity

White 7
Ethnic minority 1



Board committees
Audit Committee
Key responsibilities.
+ reviewing and monitoring financial reporting:;
« internal control and risk management;
- whistleblowing procedures, and

- monitoring internal and exterral avdit arrangerents
(including auditor ndependence),

Nomination Committee
Key responsitilitias:

- making recommendations on all Board appomtments
and succession planning;

« monitonng and reviewing the Board composition; and

- undertaking an annual evaluation of the effectiveness
of the Board and 1ts Committees,

Remuneration Committee
Key responsibilities:

« assisting the Board in ensunng appropriate
remuneration policies are in place for the Group;

« ensuring Executive Director remuneration is aligned
1o the strategic priorities of the Group and its
performance; and

« making recommendations regarding long-term
ncentive plan terms and conditions, and awards.

Executive Committee
and Company Secretary

Male 4]
Female 3

AT 30 June 2021 the Board of Directors consisted of seven
members, ncluding a Non-kExecutive Chairman, and three
independent hon-Executive Directors. The Board presents
awide range of experierce including customer-“acing
multi-site companies, mergers and acguisitions, firancial,
operational and organisational, and no one individual

or small group of individuals daminates the Board's
decision-making process.

The Company achieves shareholder returns through growth,
both organically from its integrated business model and
through the acquisition of synergistic business.

The business of the Company and its subsicharies 1s the
combined responsibility of the Board, which is responsicle
for controling and leading the Group The Board's
rasponsibilities include:

. setung the strategy o the Group and making major
strategic decisions;

« approving other significant operational matters;
« agreeing annual budgets and monitoring results;
« monitoring funding requirements and forecasung;

. reviewing the risk profile of the Group and ensuring
adequate irtarnal controls are in place;

« approving acquisitions of more than £1.0m and all
major capital expenditure, and

« proposing dividends to shareholders.

All Directors are able 1o take independent professional
advice on the furtherance of their duties if necessary.

They also have access 1o the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and, where it is considered appropriate
and necessary, training is made available to Directors. All
Directors recelve updates on the duties and responsibilities
of being a Director of an AlM-quoted company. This covers
legal, accounting and tax matters, as required. The Company
rnanians appropriate insurance cover inrespact of any
legal actian agamst its Birectors. The level of cover s
currently £50.0m for any one claim.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board committees continued

The Board identified Mike McCollum as the Senior
Independen: Director dunng the past financial year and he
has been avallable to the other Directors and shareholders
to discuss any matters relatng to the Chairman Following
Mike McCollum's pending ceparture on 23 September 2021,
the Board will identify Deborah Kemp as the Senior
Independert Direcior.

The Non-Executive Directors confirm that they have
sufficient time to devote to meet their Board responsibilities
In addition to the 11 scheduled Board Meetings and other
Committee Meetings, the Non-Executive Directors make
themselves avallable for ad-hoc meetings and Board calis
to receve regular updates and to deal with specific projects
or matters arising during the year.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors meel from tine
1o time as appropriate without the Executive D rectors presant

when conditions allow, the Non-Executive Directors 2lso
spend tre visiung the Group's operations n order to meet
with colleagues and to develop their unoerstanding of the
ousiness operat ons, and are invited to attend the anrual
conference. Deborah Kemp is the dedicated Non-Executive
Director for employee engagement and she consults

with colleagues throughout the vear on how the Board s
decisions affect them

This add tional exposure 10 the Group's operations provides
the Non-Executive Directors with invaiuable exper.ence
enabling them o provide effective and constructive
challenge and strategic guidance, to of ‘er speciahst adv ce,
and to hold management to account.

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committes Committes
Number
of meetings 13 2 8 5
R Connell 13 2 8 5
M MaCollum 13 2z 8 5
D Kemp 13 2 8 ]
R Gray™ 12 Z 8 4
R Fairman 13 2* & 3
R Alfonso 13 2 3 3
B JackIn 13 2* 3 3

shard Gray wos appo rted o the Board on 21 July 2027 andd bas

artendsd sl Board maeuncs since

Br

[IERVEN=
The Audit Committee

During the year under review the Committee Char was

M ke McCollum Mike oecame Chair of the Committee in
July 2020 having workea previously a3 the CFO for a FTSE
250 business All Non-Executive Directors were members
of the Comm'ttes until 30 Apnl 2021 when the Chairman
stood down.

The Board considers that members of the Audit Committee
have recent and relevant financial expert se, and tha: the
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Committee as a whole has competence relevant 1o the
sector in which the Cormpany operates.

The Audit Committee’s duties primanly concern financial
reporting, internal control ana risk management systems,
whistleblowing procedures and internal audit and external
audit arangements (Including auditor independence).

The Audit Committee report can be founa on pages 65
and 66

Following Mike McCollurm's pending departure on

23 September 2021, and upon David Wilton's appointment
as a Non-Executive Director on 24 September 2021, David
will become the new Charr of the Audit Committee David
is a Chartered Accountant and has a wealth of experience
in senior firance roles including in isted companies,

The Nomination Cammittee

During the year under review the Charr of the Nomination
Committee was Richard Gray, following his appointment

as a Non-Executive Director in July 2020 The meeting at
which he was appointed was chaired by Deborah Kemp.

All Non-Executive Directors were members of the Committes
until 30 April 2021 when the Chairman stood down.

The Normination Committee is responsible for reviewing

the structure, size and composttion, including skills,
independence, knowledge and experience, of the Board.

It 15 also responsible for the co-ordination of the annual
evaluation of the performance of the Board and of 1t
Committees, and for ensuning appropnate succession plans
are in place. Given the size of the Group and the Company's
AlM listing, the Board does not believe external evaluation
of the Board to be aporopriate. All Directors engage n the
mternal evaluation and appropriate action is taken in ight

of the assessment.

The Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on all Board appointments and on the succession
plans for both Executwe Directors and Non-Executive Directors,

The Nominazion Committee repart can be found on pages
57 and 68,

Follow ng Mike McCollum’s decis'on to stard down as a
Nor-Executve Director at the end of his current servce
agreement or 23 September 2027, the Committee has
overseen the selection of Mike's successor which has led
to the proposed appaintment of David Wilton with effect
from 24 September 2027.

The Remuneration Committee

During the year uncer review the Chair of the Remuneration
Cormmittee was Deborah Kemp Deborah became Chair of
the Camrittee in July 2020 All Non-Executive Directors
were members of the Comrrittee until 30 April 2021 when
the Chairman stood down

The Rermuneratiorn Committes has delegated responsibility
for designing and determin'ng remuneration for the
Chairman, Executive Directors and next level of senior
management, as well as tne Company Secretary.



The Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"), the Chief Financial
Officer ("CFO"} and the Chief Operating Officer ("COO")

are Invited to attend meetings as appropriate but do not
partcipate in discussions relating to their own remuneration.
The Chairman will also be invited to attend meetings as
approoriate, following standing down from the committee
from 30 April 2021,

The Remuneration Committee report can be found on
pages 69to /7.

The Company Secretary

The Company Secretary Is responsible for ensuring that
Board procedures are complied with, advising the Board

on all governance matters, supporting the Chairman and
helping the Board and its Committees to function efficiently.

Jenny Farrer was appointed Company Secretary with effect
from 16 August 2021

Annual General Meeting 2020 - voting results

In the 2020 Result of AGM announcement, the Board of CVS
noted that ail the resclutions had been passed with the
requisiie majority, but that the resolution to reappoint
Richard Connell as Chairman received 75 1% suppart and
the resclution to approve the Remuneration Committee
report received 78.5% support Whilst a clear majority of
sharzholders were supportive, In accordance with Provision
4 of the UK Corporate Governance Code the Board of CVS
has consulted with major shareholders in order to better
understand their views on these matters. In accordance with
the Code, the Company publisned a market anncuncement
regarding the shareholder consultation on 13 May 2021 via
RNS and on the Investor Centre area of our welbsite.

During the course of the year the Board of Directors have
continued 1o actively engage with shareholders and to
discuss and consider their feedback.

Over the past two years, the following changes have been
made to remuneration pelicies and committee composition:

« Introduction of malus and clawback for annual bonuses
and LTIPs

+ Remuneration Committee discretion to overrnde formulaic
outcemes introduced for bonuses and LTIPs.

« LTIP scheme perfarmance conditions amended so
as to closely align with sharehclder returns with 50%
of the performance condition now based on total
shareholder return.

- Target shareholding thresholds introduced of 100%
of salary for the CEQ, COQO and CFO.

- Two year holding period intreduced for new LTIP awards
for the CEQ, CQO and CFO.

+ Board Committees were restructured to ensure that all are
chaired by independent Non-Exscutive Directors.

Independence

Richard Connell has hald the position of Chairman of the
Board since September 2007 and therefore has served on the
Board for more than nine years, which is an examgle in the
Code of a circumstance in which a Non-Executve Director's
irdependence is likely to be, or could appear to be impared
The Board of Directors believe that Richard's knowledge of
the veterinary sector and experience of private equity and
corporate transactions has been mnvaluable in stesring the
Company through the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. He has
also personally overseen a major restructuring of the Board
over the past three years, appeinting Richard Fairman as
CEQ, Ben Jackin as COO and Robin Alfonso as CFO, as well
as strengthening the Board through the appointment of
Richard Gray as an additional Non-Executive D rector,

These changes have delivered improved performance

and a substanual increase in shareholder value in the pas:
twelve months. Mike McCollum, Deborah Kermnp and Richard
Gray are considered to be independent by the Board ard,
foliowing the shareholder consukation after the 2020 AGM,
Richard Connell stood dowr from all Committees.

Save for Mike McCollum. all Directors will offer themselves
for re-election at the 2021 AGM of the Company.

Relations with shareholders

Conpies of the Annual Report and Financial Statements are
issued to all shareholders where requested and coples are
avallable on the Group's website (www.cvsukltd.co.uk)

The Group also uses its website to provide information to
shareholders and other interested parties The Company
Secretary deals with correspondence as and when It arises
throughout the year.

Due to the challenges around physical meetings in 2020,
the last AGM of the Company was held as a closed meeting
in accoraance with the Corporate Insolvency ana Governance
Act ("CIGA") 2020 and guidance issued by the Chartered
Governance Institute The Executive and Non-Executive
Directors and the Company Secretary frequently engaged
with shareholoers during the course of the year. The Company
will announce its plans for this vear's AGM shortly In light of
latest COVIDA9 government guidance. Full detaills of the
2021 AGM meeting arrangements and notice will be made
avallable on our website,

The CEC, COO and CFO have regular meetings with
mstitutional ‘rivestors, private client brokers, indvidual
shareholders, fund managers and analysts to discuss
information made public by the Group.

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are

always available to shareholders on all matters relating w0
governance and strategy They rmay be contacted throagh
tne Company Secretary at comoany.secretary@cvsvets.com
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Corporate governance statement continued

Whistleblowing

The Group's whistleblowing policy 1s reviewed by the Board
annually. The policy sets out the procedures for employees
or thira parties to raise concerns about any susnected
wrongdoirg. Emplioyees also have access 10 a wide range
of altemative and informal routes through whichk to rase
concerns. This reflects the open culture and strong Internal
communication channels of the Group, in line with our
strategy, and supoorts the formal whistieblowing policy we
have in place. The Board receives a whistleblowing report
at each Board meeting and will receive more detailed reports
of any investigations that may 1ake place There were no
issues repotrted to the Board under the whistlebiowing
policy during the year.

Audit, risk and internal control

The Board 1s ultimately responsible for the Group's system
of internal control and for reviewing its effectivensss on an
ongoing basis,

The system 1s designed to manage rather than elliminate
the risk of fallure to achieve the Group's strateqic objecives,
and can only provide reasonable and not ansolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The key risk management processes and internal control
procecures include the following:

« e close involvement of the Executive Directors iny all
aspects of the day-to-day operations, including regular
mestngs with senior colleagues from across the Group
and a review of the monthly operational reports compiled
by semior management;

- clearly defined responsibilines and Imits of authonty.
The Beard has resporsibility for strategy and nas adoptec
a schedule of matters which are requirea to be brought to
it far decision,

a comprehensive system of financial reporting, forecasting
and budgeting. Detailed budgets are prepares annually
for all parts of the business. Reviews occur through the
management structure culminating in 8 Group budget
whicn s considered and approved by the Board. Group
managemeant accounts are prepared monthly and
submitted to the Board for review. Vanarces from the
budget and the prior year are closely monitored and
explanations are provided for significant var ances.
Indeperdent o tne budget process, the Board regularty
reviews revised profit, cash flow and bank covenant
corpliance forecasts which are updated to reflect actual
performarice trends;

« @ continuous process for idenufying, evaluaurg and
managing s'gnificant risks across the Group together with
a comprehensive annual review of risks which covers both
f nancial and non-financial areas;
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- anindependent internal audit function that reports to
the Chair of the Audit Committee;

« a central team that checks climcal and health and safety
comphance in all parts of the Group; and

« the Company's Scheme of Delegation of Financial Authority.

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
busmness conduct and ethics, and has an ongoing process
for identifying, evaluating and managing any significant risks
in this regard.

The internal control procedures are delegated to the
Execulive Directors and senior management and are
reviewed in light of the ongoing assessment of the Group's
significant risks.

Internal audit

The internal Audit team has implemented and refined the
audit process focusing or financial and related procedure
risks primarily across the Veterinary Practices diwvision
Performance of the Internal Audit function will continue
to be reviewed durng the current financial year to ensure
it rema.ns appropriate.

Remuneration

The Baard considers that policies on executive remuneration
should be transparent They should be implemented in a
manner which supports strategy and promoetes long-term
sustainable growth. In additicor, remuneration should reflect
both the performance of the Company as well as individuals.
The Board has delegated to the Remuneration Cammittes
responsibility for compliying with these aspects of the Code
and the wark of the Committee 18 reported in full on pages
689 10 77 of this Annual Report.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of the Company will take

place or 24 November 2021 Full details of resclutions to be
proposed to cur shareholders will be set out In the Notice of
AGM will which will be made available in the Investor Centre
on our website.

Outcomes of the resolutions put to the AGM, including poll
results detaling votes for, against and withheld, wll be
published on the website of the Company and the London
Stock Exchange once the AGM has concluded

By order of the Board

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
23 September 2021



Audit Committee report

Ensuring accountability
and transparency

Mike McCollum
Audit Committee Chair

Key responsibilities:
« reviewing and monitoring financial reporting;

+ internal control and risk management;
-+ whistleblowing procedures; and

« monitoring internal and external audit arrangements
(including auditor independence).

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2021 Attendance
Richard Connell* 2
Mike McCollum 2
Deborah Kemp 2
Richard Gray 2

* Richard Connell was a member of the Commuttee untl 3¢ Apnit 2021
when he stepped down from all Board Committees Whilst Richard
Connellis 1¢ longe: a member of the Committee, Richard may
attand future commitiee meetings along with the Executive
D recto-s at the invitation of, and where this 1s considered
appropriate by, the Comm:ttee Charr

Responsibilities and terms of reference

The Committes s responsible for ensunng that the financial
performance of the Group is properly monitered and reported,
for meeting with the external auditor and for reviewing its
reports relating to financial statements and internal control
matters. During the year under review the Committee Charr
was Mike McCollum, who became Charr of the Committee
in July 2020 All Non-Executive Directors are mamiers of
the Comrmitzee, apart from the Chairman, Richard Connell,
who stood down from the Committee on 30 April 2021

The Chief Executive Officer ('CEQ"), the Chief Operating
Officer ("COG") and the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO”) are
nvited to attera such meetngs, but the Committee also
meats with the auditor without the CEQO, COO and CFO
being present at least once annually. Other members of
management are invited to present such reports as are
reguirea for the Committee to discharge its duties

The agenda of each meeting 1s inked to the reporting
reguirements of the Group and the Group's financ al
calendar. Ezch Audit Committae member has the nght
o require reports on matters relevant to its terms of
reference in addition to the regular items.

Summary of activity

In the year ended 30 June 2021 and up 1o the date of this
report tne actions taken by t1e Audit Committee to discharge
its duties included:

- reviewing the Annual Report and Financial Statements and
the Interim Report, ncluding sigrnificant financial regoriing
judgements contained tharein. As part of these reviews
the Committee rece ved a report from the external auditor
onits audit of the annual fnancial statements;

« adwising the Board that the Annual Report and Financial
Staterments is farr, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Company's position and perfermance,
business model and strategy,

+ reviewirg the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls
and reports receved from the Group's internal audit function
in respect of its programme of internal audit reviews;

« reviewing the Group's risk management framework;
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Audit Committee report continued

Summary of activity continued

« reviewing the external auditor's audit planning document,
with particular reference to the audit approach, planned
materiality, significant risks as detatled in the Indepandent
Auditor's Report and the audit approach to these risks;

« reviewing the external auditor's audit findings memorandum,
noting corclusions in respect of identiflied audit nisks,
matenality of adjusted and unadjusted misstatements,
control observations and suggested improvemen:s in
tne disclosure provided in the Annual Report and
FMmancial Statements;

- considering papers prepared by the CFO to support the
going concern basis of preparation,

« agreeing the fees to be paid to the external auditor for its
audit of tne 2021 financial statements: and

« reviewing the performance and independence of the
external auditor,

Significant financial reporting risks and
judgement areas considered

Revenue recognition

During the vear, we have reviewed the appropnateness

of the revenue recognised according to the cost profile of
delivering the performance oblgations for our Healthy Pet
Cluby scheme.

Management override

Ruring the year, we have reviewed the approonateness of
gontrols around management override of controls, ensuring
the controls in place are robust and, where aopropnate,
recommending areas for improvements.

Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credit
(“RDEC™} income

During the year, we have reviewed the approonateness of
the income recognised in reiation to RDEC, along with the
associated accounting estimates and jJudgements,

In respect of the above significant firancial reporting rnisks and
JJdgernent areas. we concluded that the Group's accounting
treatment and/or controls 11 place were appropnate,

Going concern and viability assessment

In considering going concern and viability overall. the
Comirittee reviewed the Group's forecasts with particular
focus on tne key assumptions In relation to revenue, gross
margn and cash flow management Sensitivities ta these
hey assumphons were also reviewed based on the impact
of the Group's key risks, 235 set out on pages 5010 57
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Followng a review of the detailea considerations set out
above by the Committee and Executive Committee, the
Cormmittee is satisfied that it is appropriate for the Group
to continue to adopt the going cencern basis In preparing
the Annual Report and Accounts of the Group and. further,
that tne gong concern longer-terr viability statement on
page 79 1s appropriate.

External auditor

The external auditor was appointed with effect from the
year ended 30 June 2017 giving a current tenure of five
vears Atender process was carried out prior to this change.
From the year ending 30 June 2622, in line with guidance
from the Auditing Standards Board, there wili be an audi:
partner rotation and a new audit engagement pattner. The
apoomtment is reviewed and subject to a shareholder vote
at the AGM on an annual basis. Detalls of the fees vad to
Deloitte during the financial year are set out in note 6 to the
finaricial staternents.

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for the
supervision of the relationship with the external auditor,
including overseeing therr qualification, independence,
expertise, performance and effectiveness, and the terms

of its engagement and remuneration. The Committee is also
responsible for ensuring the quality and efficiency of the
external audit enabling the Committee 1o formally evaluate
the effectiveness and quality of the auditor's output, which

it does annually. After reviewing the extarnal auditor's
performance dunng the year, the Committee has concluded
that it 15 sausfied with the effectiveness of the audit and the
audht process, and that Deloitte rernains effective inits role
as external auditor. The Committee has therefore recommencied
to the Board that Deloitte be reappointed for a further year
and a resolution to this effect will be proposed at the AGM.

Approval

The members of the Audit Committes have reviewed the
financial staternents and the content of the draft Anrual
Report and Finang’al Statements to ensure that it is fair,
balanced ard understandable and, sccordingly, the Audit
Committee resolved 1o recommend that the Board makes
the Directors’ Responsibilities statement set out on pages
80 and 81.

Mike McCollum
Audit Committee Chair
23 September 2021



Nomination Committee report

Securing the right expertise

and knowledge

Richard Gray
Nomination Committee Chair

Key respaonsibilities:
- making recommendations on all Board appointments
and succession planning;

- monitoring and reviewing the Board composition; and

+ undertaking an annual evaluation of the effectiveness
of the Board and its Committees.

The Committee 1s comprised of the three independent
Non-Executive Directors. The primary purpose of the
Committee 15 to lead the process for Board appointments
and to make recommendations to the Board to achieve
the optimal compaosition of the Board having regard to:

+ Its size and composition;

< ensuring that it consists of iIndividuals who are best
able to discharge the responsibilities of Directors;

+ potantial conflicts of Interest;

- the extent to which the required skills, experience
or attributes are represented; and

» the need to maintain the highest standards of
corporate governance.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse
Board and workforce and encourages reviewing ways of
working to ensure candidates from all backgrounds can
apply. Each appointment of a Board member or senior
executive is made on merit and the best candidate will be
appointed. The Board recognises that further steps can
ke taken to improve the diversity of the Group at all tevels
and across all business streams, and continueas to work
towards this aim.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2021 Attendance
Richard Gray* 4
Mike McCoflum o
Deborah Kemp 5
Richard Connell** 5

* Richard Gray ~as chared all Normmanon Committes meest ngs from
T3 appointmentin july 2020, Debkoral Kemp chared the Nom.raton
Corrmittee meet nryinwhich Ricnard Gray was appar-ted

*+ Richard Conrell was a mgmber of the Committes Lunt | 30 Aur | 2071
wha~ e stepeedt down from all Board Committees v st Ricnard
Conrelliz nolongegl a rerrker of the Commitiee, Richara may
atiend ‘utare Cormittee meetings along wth the Fxrecutve
Drrectons ar the nvitation of, and where this 1s consideren
approprate by, the Committee Chan

Board appointments and resignations

Richard Gray was appointed a Non-Executive Director

on 18 July 2020, following an appropriate recruitment and
selection process. and replaced Deborah Kemp as Chair
of the Nomination Committee on 21 July 2020

Foliowing the decision by Mike McCollum to step down cn

23 September 2021, the Committee oversaw the selection

of bavid Wilton, who will be appointed to the Board on

24 September 2021, David was appointed using an external
search consultancy, Chief Officers Group.

Board evaluation and effectiveness

The Nomination Committee scrutinises the performance
of the Executive Directors, taking into account the performance
of the business agairst agreed plans The Nomination
Committee also considers the other commitmments of Directors
and is satisfied that all Directors devote appropnate time to
the Company’s affairs.

Owver the past 18 months, the Board has effectively steered
the business through a period of unprecedented disruptior
causad by the COVID-19 pandemic. This stewardship
involved more regular Board meetings and updates, the
preparation and review of regular analysis of trading and
reforecasts of future performance, and resulted in
appropriate measures being implemented in order o
protect the Group's colleagues and clients whilst ensuring
the Group was able to continue to proviae access to clinical
care to its chents and their patients.

The vaned experience of all Directors was invaluable in
enabling CVS to respond appropriately to these challenges
and to emerge from the pandemic with a strengthened
balance sheet such that the Group is well positioned to
caplitalise on future growth opportunities.
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Nomination Committee report continued

Board evaluation and effectiveness continued

The Comnmittee oversaw a review of Board effectiveness

in December 2020 and was satisfied tnat the Board remains
effective and has the right balance of skills and expernence
to provide continued effective stewardship of the Group.

Committee terms of reference

The Committee approved revised terrrs of reference in
the year for each Committee of the Board. The new terms
of reference for each Committee reflected best practice
under the UK Corporate Governance Code and the
Comruttee was advised by DLA Piper UK LLP inthe
drafung and execunon of these new terms of reference.

Executive Director service agreements

New service agreements were entered into with the
Executive Directors during the year. agair in order to reflect
best pracuce undar the UK Corporate Governance Code
and reflecting advice from DLA Piper UK LLP In the
development and execution of these new agreements

Succession planning

The Committee 1s responsible for ensuring that plans

are n place for orderly succession to Board and executive
onsitions, and to oversee the development of a diverse
pipeline for succession, taking into account the challenges
and oppartunites facing the Group ana the skills and
expertise needed on the Board in the future.

The Committes I1s also responsible for keeping under
review the leaderstup needs of the Group. both Executive
and Nor-Execut ve, with a view to ensuring the continued
ability of the Group to compete effectively.

It isimportant that a diverse pipehne for succession

15 developed in tine with the Company’s strategy on
pages 22 and 23. The gender balance of those ir the
2emor maragement, which, in accordance with the Code,
we corsider to be the Executive Commitiee and the
Cormpary Secretary, 18 three women and s:x men.

The Committee 1s responsible for keeping up-to-date
and fully informed about sirategic issues and commercial
changes affect ng the Group and the market in which
operates. The Group competes with a number o private
equity backed veterinary businesses and, in order to
respona appropriately to chanaing and increasing
cormpetition, and to successfully execute acoretive
acauwsitions, it s considered important that the Board
contains Executive and Non-Executive Directors with
both privete equity and transaction experience
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Conflicts of interest

Tre Board has established robust procedures for monitoring
conflicts of interest in accordance with the Group's Articles
of Association and conflicts of interest policy All Directors
are reqguired to make the Board aware of any other
commitments and potential conflicts of interest are
approved by the Board where appropriate, and recorded in
the confhcts reqister. The Board has delegated authonty to
the Nomination Committee to keep under review any actual
or potential conflict of interest situations authorised by the
Board, and to determine whether it 1s appropriate for such
matter(s) to remain so authornsed.

Consultation with major shareholders

In the 2020 Result of AGM announcement, the Board of
CVE noted that ali the resolutions had been passed with
the requisite majority, but that the resolution to re-appoint
Richard Connell as Chairman received 75.1% support and
the resolution to approve the Remuneration Committee
report receved 78 5% support. Whlst a clear majority

of snareholders wers supportive, in accordance with
Provision 4 of the UK Corporate Governarce Code the
Board of CVS has consulted with major shareholders in
arder to better understand therr views on these matters,

A view expressed by some shareholders was that Richard
Connell's membership of the Board Audit Committee
rasulted in this Committee not being deemed fully
incependent. In light of this feedback, and to ensure all
Board Caommittees are fully ndepenrdent, Richard Connell
stepped down from all Board Cormmittaes from 30 April 2021

Ongoing review

whilst the Committee will continue to review the composition
of the Board, itis confident that the Board has the rght balance
of skills, experience and tenure at present to successfully
steer the Group through the next stages of its growth ard to
respond appropriately to the strategic opportunites ahead.

The Group's Improved financial performance, strengthened
balance sheet and experienced management tearm position
it well to take advantage of these opportunities and to
deliver further enhancements in shareholder value,

Richard Gray
Nomination Committee Chair
23 September 2021



Remuneration Committee report — unaudited

Achieving and sustaining
CVS’s long-term value

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chair

Key responsibilities:
+ assisting the Board in ensuring appropriate
remuneration policies are in place for the Group;

« ensurng Executive Director remuneration 1s alhgned
o the strategic prionties of the Group and its
performance; and

+ making recommendations regarding Long-Term
Incentive Plan terms and conditions, and awards.

The Remuneration Committes 1s comprised of three
independent Non-Executive Directors,

Over the past 18 months, the Remunerztion Committee
has met more frequently to make approprate
recommendations to the Board in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic and o consider feedback from
shareholders on remuneration matters.

Committee composition

during the year to 30 June 2021 Attendance
Richard Connell* 8
Mike McCollum 8
Deborah Kemp 8
Richard Gray 8

* Richard Connell was a member of the Commuttee unti| 30 April 2021
when he stepped down from all Board Committees Whilst Richard
Connellis no longer a member of the Committee, Richard may
attend future commitiee meetings along with the Executive
Directars at the invitanon of, and where this s considered
appropriate by, the Committee Char

As an AM-guoted company, tha information provided is
disclosed to fulfil the requirements of AIM Rule 19, CVS
Group plc s not required to comply with Schedule 8 of the
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008. The information is unaudited.

Remuneration policy

The Remruneration Committee seeks to aevelop the
company’s execulive remuneration arrangements
appropriately taking cue account of matters specified ir
the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Investment
Association Principles of Remuneration in the light of the
Company’s growth and its status as an AIM 50 company.

The Remuneration Committee considers it important that
remuneration policies for Executive Directors are aligned
to the Group's long-term strategy and that a meaningful
portion of Executive Director reward is linked to long-term
performance. In light of th s, remuneration for Executive
Directors 15 comprised of base salary, an annual borus and
along-termincentive plan with performance criteria based
an earnings per share and total shareholder reward,

In respect of basic salary, the objective is to ensure that

the Group attracts and retains high calibre Executives with
the skills, experierce and motivation necessary to direct
and manage the affarrs of the Group. The annual boenus
scheme 15 designed to reward exceptional performance with
critenia aligned to the annual budget approved by the Board.
Long-Term Incentive Plans ("LTIP) are seen as an impaortant
part of Executive Directors’ total remuneration and are
designed to drive and reward exceptional performance
aligned with sharehoider interests over the long term.

The policy also provides for post-returement benefits through
cont-ibutions to Executive Directors’ personal pension
schames, together witn other benefits such as a company
car and life and medical insurance.

A descnption of how the Company has addressed the
matters specified in Rule 41 of the FRC Code is set out
under the policy table on page 74.

Development of remuneration policy in light

of shareholder consultation

The advisory vote io approve the Directors’ Remuneration
Report at our 2020 AGM was supported by 78.5% of votas cast.

In response to the AGM vote, the Remuneration Committee
considered a number of matters on remuneration in particular,
whetner a two-vear holding period should be appled to LTIP
awards, banus deferral, sharenolding guidelines and Director
pens on alignmert with the workforce,
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Remuneration Committee report ~ unaudited continued

Development of remuneration policy in light of
shareholder consultation continued

The two-year holding period was regarded as a prionty
matter and the Remuneration Commiitieg has decided

that a two-vear holding pericd will be appled to future LTIP
awards 1o Executive Diractors, commenaing in 2021, This
follows changes already implemented in previous financial
years which include Executive and Non-Executive Directors
voluntar ly forgoing 20.0% of their salaries in the final quarter
of the previcus financial year, the intreduction of malus and
clawback conditions for LTIP and bonus awards_ the ability
for the Remuneration Committee to evernide formulaic
outcomes and the amendment of LTIP performance vesting
criteria such that 50 0% of tne perfarmance condition is now
based on meeting a total shareholder return threshold.

In relation to bonus deferral, the Remunieration Committee
contnues to see merit in a clear aistinction between annual
borus and long-term incentives. One matter the Board has
taken into account 1s that bonuses have not been paid out
for 2018/19 or 2019/20. The Remuneration Comrmittee does
not propose this should be introduced at this point. The
raximum annual bonus is capped at 100.0% of salary for
each Executive Director.

The Company intends to maintan its sharenolding guideline
at 100.0% of salary for the three Executive Directors.

Executive Director service agreements

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee
ovesaw the agreement of new Service Agreements with
each Executive Director to reflect current best practice in
hght of Input from the Group's legal advisers, DLA Piper UK LLP

Executive Director salary review

Salarigs are reviewed annually and are regularly nenchmarked
against similar AIM-guoted and other listed companies with
changes effective annually in January. The Remuneration
Coemrittee decided to increase the salary of the Chief
Executive Officer ("CEQ"} by 2.0% te £408,000 with ef‘ect
from 1 January 2021, and to increase the salary of the Chief
Operating Officer ("COO"} by 2 0% 0 £306,000 as of the
szme cate Ir Ine wth the average company-wide iIncrease

On review of tne Chief Financial Officer's ("CFO') salary and
as detailed In the previous year's Remuneration Committes
reoort, the Remuneration Committee decided to bring the
zalary of the CFO commensurate with market practice. As
aresult, the Remuneration Committee decided to increase
the salary of the CFO by 80.8% to £265,000 with effect fram

1 January 2021 and his maximum bonus percertage was
mcreased *0 100 0% of salary. The CFUs revised remuneration
13 Now in I ne with that of the previous two CFOs and the marke:
herchmark provided by nZ2glenfern Remaneration Advisory.

Executive Director Annual Bonus Scheme

The annual bonus scheme in which the Executive Directors
partcipate 13 pased on the achievemert of pre-IFRS 16
adjusted EBITDA prior to share-option costs, performance
In comparnisen to the arnual pudget approved by the Board
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For 2020/21, the maximum bonus for the CEQ, COO and
CFO was 100.0% of salary.

In ight of tne performance of the Group 1n the financial yvear,
as reflected in a significant increase in shareholder value, the
maximum bonus entitiement was achieved by the CEQ,
COO and the CFO

LTIP awards

In October 2020 the Company granted awards under its LTIP
scheme to the CEC with a value of 125.0% of salary, and to the
COC and CFO with a value of 100.0% of salary, increased to
reflect the CFO's increased salary in fanuary 2021, As in
previous years, these awards are subyect to an adjusted EPS
real growth perfarmance condition measured over three
years in addition to the total shareholder return benchmarked
against the FTSE-250 index (less investment trusts) measured
over three years. Datall on the performance conditions is set
out later n this report.

LTIP vesting

Pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EPS for the year ended 30 June 2021
was 77.)p. This compares to adjusted EPS of 42 4p for the
year ended 30 June 2018, a Compound Annual Growth
Rate ("CAGR") of 19.5% above inflation. The target CAGR for
threshold ana full vesting of LTIPs 1ssued in October 2018
was 8 0% and 12 0% above inflation, respectively. This target
has been substantially exceeded and, therefore, 100.0% of
the options granted have vested.

Recognising the contribution of all CVS colleagues
The past 18 months have seen unprecedented disruption
due 1o the COVID-19 pandemic and CVS Colleagues have
had 10 adapt to new ways of working in hght of evolving
government and RCVS guidance whilst continuing to
provide first class care to our chents and their animals.

In recognition of this, the Remuneration Committee approved
the paymen: of annual productivity bonuses to front line
colleagues in September 2020 and awarded all colleagues an
additional day's holiday in December 2020 as a thank you for
their contribution in the year. The Remunerathion Committee
also decided to make an advance payment to colleagues in
respect of thew 2021 discretionary bonus early in March 2021,
with the balance to be settled in the normal manner.

The Remuneration Committee also decided that in respect
af the Group's Save As You Earn ("SAYE") scheme faunched
in Novemiber 2020 to increase the discount from 10 0% 1o
20 0% to the closing mid-market price of the day preceding
the date of invitation. These share options vest after three
years to ensure that colleagues have a personal interest in
the longer-term success of the Group.

In light of the competitive landscape and the continued
shortage of veterinary professionals in the UK, the Remunaration
Commitiee will continue to consider reward and benefits
across the Group to ensure that CVS remains well positioned
ta retam and attract talented colleagues.



Ongoing review
The Remuneration Committee Intends to keep remuneration pelicies under review and will continue to consider and
develop its approach to remuneration on an ongoing basis,

The Remuneration Committee has received advice in relation to the matters cutlined above and overall executive
rermuneration from h2glenfern Remuneration Advisory

| hope that you find the report helpful and informative, and | ook forward o receiving further feedback from our investaors
on the information presented.

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration report sets odt the remuneration policy of the Company with regard to its
Executive Directors.

Purpose and link to strategy Operation Petential remuneration Performance metrics

Base salary

Base pay is designed Salaries are reviewed annually The CEO's base salary was Not applicable.
to reflect Executive and benchmarked against similar  reviewed or 1 January 2021
Directors experience,  AlM-guoted and histed companies  (the prior review being in
capabilities and role with any changes effective from January 2020) and was
within the business. 1 January. The review takes Increased by 20%
INto account: 1o £408.000
To be set at a level
which 1s sufficiently - Company performance and The COO's base salary was
competitive to recruit increase in scale and complexity, reviewed on 1 January 2021

and retain Individuals {the prior review baing an

of the appropriate + therole, expenence_and ‘ 1 January 2020) and was
performance of the individual i i
calibre to deliver the Director and increased by 2.0%
Group's strategy. ’ to £306,000.
- average workforce
salary adjustments withim

the Company.

The CFO's base salary was
reviewed on i January 2021
(the prior review being on

1 January 2020) and was
increased by 60.6%

to £263,000
Benefits
To complement Reviewed from time to time The cost of providing these Not applicable.
basic salary by 1o ensure that benefits, when benefits vanes year on year
providing market taken together with other depending on the schemes’
competitive benefits elements of remuneration, premiurms. The Remuneration
to attract and retain remain market competitive. Committee monitors the overall

Executive Directors. cost of the benefits package.

Benefits for the Executive Directors
currently include the provision

of a company car and medical
and life insurance.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Purpose and link to strategy
Pension

To provide retirement
benefits which, when
taken together with

other elements of the

remuneration package,

will enable the
Compary to attract
and ratain
appropriately gualiflec
Executive Directors.

Annual bonus

To arnve and reward
exceptonal
performance.

QOperation

The CEOQ and COOC participate in

defined contribution pension
arrangements and receved

payments partly in lieu of pension.

The CFO particioates in a defined
contrbution pension arrangeameant,

Pension arrangernents, ncluding

contribution rates, for any new

Executive Directors will be aligned

with those of the majority of the
UK workforce.

The Executive D ractors are eligibie

1o particpate in a discretionary,

annual, performance related bonus

scheme. Targets are set at the
begmnning of each vear based
on the recommendations of the
Rermunerat on Committee

Bonuses are paid in cash based
on audited frnancial results,
Cornmencing financial year

2018119, annual bonus paymerts

are subject (o malus and
clawback prov sions.

Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP*)

o drive and reward
axceptuonal
onerformanrce over tne
medium term and to
align the ‘nterests of
Executive Directors
and shareholders
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The Executive D rectors are

entitled to be considered for the

grant of awards under the Group's
LTIP scheme. The awards take the
form of nominal cost options over

a specified number of Ordinary

shares Awards are not trarsferanle
or assigrable. Awards are released
to participants a‘ter a performance

penod of three years, subject to

centain performance and service

condimons being met 25.0%
of awards vest at threshold
performance for award

from LTIPTL

Potential remuneration

The CEQ is entitled to

a Comopany pension
contrbution of 12.0%. This
is partly taken as a payment
in lieu of a pension.

The COO s entitled to

a Company pension
contribution of 10.0%. This
15 partly taken as a payment
i lieu of salary.

The CFO s entitled to
a Company pension
contribution of 8.0%.

Onty basic salary
s pensionable.

During the yvear under review,
the maximum capped bonus
potential for the CEQ, COO
and CFO 15 100.0% of salary

The Remuneration Committee
would in normal circumstances
expect 1o make annual LTIP
awards 1o the CEQ of 125.0%
of salary and the COQ and
CFO of 100.0% of salary

The maximum annual award
permissible under the 2017
plan rutes in exceptional
circumstances 1s 200.0%

of salary

Performance metrics

Not applicable.

Far the years ended 30 June
20271 and ending 30 June
2022, the targets are based
on adjusted EBITDA The
target is adiusted to take
account of acquisitions made
In the course of the year and
exceptional items. The level
of payment commences from
zero at the threshold target
INcreasing on a straight-line
basis to full payment at the
maximudm target

Up to and including 2018,
an adjusted EPS CAGR real
growth target is applied

to awards.

The adjusted EPS reflects
adjustments for amortisation
of intangibles, costs of
business combinations and
assoclated Income tax and
exceptional items.

From 2019, awards will be
subject 50.0% to an EPS
growth target, as previcusly,
and 50.0% subject to a
relative Total Shareholder
Return performance conditon
against the FTSE 260
companies exciuding
investment trusts.




Purpose and link to strategy

Operation Potential remunaration

Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP") continued

The LTIP rewards the future
performance of the Executive
Directors and certain other
emplovees by linking the size of

the award to the achievement

of Croup performance largels.
Participation 1s at the discretion

of the Remuneration Commities.
Awards will typically ne made
annually based on a percentage

of annual salary. The Remuneration
Committee sets performance
conditions at the time of the award
The 2017 plan rules, amongst other
things, include clawback provisions
and a limitation to ensure that new
shares issued, when aggregated
with all other employee share
awards, must not exceed 10.0%

of issued share capitat over any
ten-year perod.

For schemes granted from 2021,
there will be a two-year holding
period for LTIPs for Executive
Directors, other than for settling
related tax liabilities.

Shareholding guideline

To incentivise executives Target value to be achieved over

to achieve the
Company's long-term
strategy and create
sustainable shareholder
value. To align with
shareholder intarasts.

Not applicable.
five years:

CEQ -100.0% of salary.
COO -100.0% of salary.
CFQO -100.0% of salary.

Performance metrics

In addition, and irrespective
of the targets, no award will
vest unless, in the opinion of
the Rernuneration Committee,
the underlying performance
of the Group has been
satisfactory over the
measurement perod

An amendment to the 2017
olan was made 1n 2019 1o
ensure that the Commitiee
has discretion to vary
award vesting in the event
of exceptional negative
events and to override
formulaic outcomes.

Not applcable.

In relation w both annual bonus and LTIP awards, the Remuneration Committee may, in line with the UK Corporate Governance
Code, exercise its discretion to overnide formulzic outcomes, including to reflect overall corporate performance end the
expenence of shareholders of the Company and If the business has suffered an exceptional negative event. Malus and
clawback provisions are effective for three years from the date bonus is paid. Issues which may trigger malus and clawback
include discovery of misstatement of the financial results or error in assessing the achieverent of the performance conditiors,
Other circumstances include the individual being found guilty of misconduct.

Save As You Earn (“SAYE”)
The Group operates a savings scheme for all staff, including the Executive Directors, being the CVS SAYE plan, A SAYE
scheme is operated for each calendar year. Under the 2020 scheme, the awards were made at a 20.0% discount to the
closing mid-market price of the day preceding the date of invitation. Under the 2019 and 2018 schemes the awards were
made at 2 10.0% discount. There are no performance conditions attached to any of the SAYE schemes.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Executive Directors’ remuneration policy continued

Poiicy on Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration

The Chairman and the other Non-Executive Directors rermuneration comprises anly directorship fees. They are reviewed
annually with changes effective from 1 January each year. The Charman’s and the Non-Executive Directors’ fees are approved
by the Board on the recommendation of the CEC The Non-Executive Directors are not rnvolved in any decisions about their
own remuneration. The Chairman and the other ingependent Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for
“easonable expenses.

Dertails of the fees payable for 2020/21 are set out in the Annual Repaort on Remuneration.

The current fees are as follows:

Director

R Connell £115.343
M McCollum £46,820
D Kemp £46,920
R Gray £44.370

Executive Directors’ service agreements

Richard Fairman’s service agreement commenced on 1 August 2618 and his most recent service agreement is dated

10 Seprenber 2020. The CEO's sgreement can be terminataed by either the CEC or the Company on twelve months’
notice. Ben Jacklin's service agreement commenced on 7 September 2015 and his most recent service agreement 1s

dated 18 September 2020. The COO's agreement can be terminated by either the COO or the Company on twelve months’
notice. Robin Alfonso’s service agreerment commenced o1 8 July 2019 and his mast recent service agreement 15 dated

27 September 2020. The CFO's agreement can be terminated by either the CFO or the Company on twealve months’ notice
As well as an annual salary, the service agreements also detall the provision of ather benefits including performance related
bonuses, medical and life insurance, a car allowance and contributions 1o personal pension plans

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment

Richard Cornell was appointed on 4 October 2007, His most recent service agreemeant 1s for a one-year term ending on
22 Seotember 2022 Mike McCollum was appotnted on 2 April 2013, His most recent service agreement is for & one-year
term ending on 23 September 2021, These appointments can be terminated by the Company or the Divectors by giving
three months’ notice. Deborah Kemp was sppointed on 2 January 2018, Her most recent service agreement 1s dated

T January 2021 for a three-year term ending on 1 January 2024, Her appointment can be terminated by the Company or
herself by giving six rnonths’ notice. Richard Gray was appointed on 16 July 2020 for a three-year term ending 16 July 2023,
His appointment can be terminated by the Company or himself by giving six months’ notice,

Further items specified under Rule i of the FRC Code

I'he Remuneration Committee believes remuneration s appropnate in hght of the skills and experience of the Executive
Directors, the need for differentials petween different levels of senionty and in the context of the amounts and structure
of remuneraton at comparable UK companies

Mdful of provision 40 of the Code. the Remuneration Committes will continue to consider factors including clarity.
simplicity, nsk, predictab lity, proportionality and alignment to culture, The Remuneration Committee believes that the
Cofrpany’s remuneration practices are clear and simple, as laid out 'n this Remuneration Report, The Commiites has always
been conscious of reputational and other nsks a managing remuneration and in taking decisions on remuneration matters.
Mal.us ard clawback provisions, and the Remuneration Committee’s ability 1o exercise aiscretion within the policy to override
formulzic cutcomes, support the mitigation of nsks The Committee believes that the range of possible values of rewards is
clearly identified and explained in this Report that the rewards and ootential rewards are proportionate and do not reward
poor performance ard that rernuneration arrangements are ahgned with Cormpany culture.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the colicy operated as intended n terms of Company performance and
guantum during 2020/21. The Company engaged with major shareholders on remuneration during 2020/21 as detalled
or: page 15 and 69, The Committee continues to ergage with the workforce in respect of remuneration and other matters
The Committee did not aoply discretions in respect of tne operaticn of annual bonus or LTIP during 2020/21.
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Annual Report on Remuneration

Introduction
This Annual Report on Remuneration sets out iInformation about the remuneration of the Directors of the Company for the
period ended 30 June 2021,

Membership and role of the Remuneration Committee

I he Remuneration Cornmillee s appuinted by the Doard, and comupriscs Deborah Kemp as Chair, Mike MeCollum and
Richard Gray. Richard Connell was a member of the committee uniil 30 April 2021, Tae role of the Remuneration Commitiee
Is to determine and recommend to the Board the remunearaton policy for the Executive Directors. This includes base salary,
annual and long-term incentive awards and pension arrangements.

Advisors

During the year, the Company engaged h2glenfern Rernuneration Adwvisory to prov de advice on Executive rermuneration. h2glenfern
Rernuneration Advisory is a member of the Remuneranon Consultants Group in -elation to executive remaneration consulting in the
United Kingdom. hZglenfern does not provide other servicas to the Group and nas na other connaction with the Company or
individual Directors. The Board 1s satisfied that h2glenferr is independent and has no conrection to any incividual Director.

Remuneration of the Executive Directors — audited
Directors’ emeluments

Value of
Basic salary share LTIP
aliowance, fees Performance awards vested
and other Benefits related during the
payments inkind Pension bonus year? Total
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
R Fairman 2021 404 i2 48 408 250 1122
2020 328 10 40 — — 378
B Jackln 2021 303 10 28 3086 o0 697
2020 185 16 18 — 7 226
R Alfcnso 2021 215 9 17 265 — 506
2020 102 8 8 — — 118
S Innes® 2021 — — — — — -
2020 743 36 M — - 790
Non-Executive Chairman
R Connell 202 14 — - — - 14
2020 a7 — — — — 107
Non-Executive Directors
M MeCollum 202 a5 — — — — 46
2020 44 — — _ - 44
b Kemp 202 46 — — — — 46
2020 44 — — — — 44
R Gray! 2027 42 — — —_ — 42

2020 ~ — — - — —

1 R Gray was appointed an 16 July 2020

2 thevelue of the share [TIP awards vested during the year 1s calculated using the share price at date of grant and the number of shares vestea The value
of these awards 18 not mcluded n the table in note 8 o the financal statemerts

3 SlInnestesigned 5 November 2019
Benefits in kind include the prowvision of @ company car and medical and e insurance for each Executive Director,
No Directors waived emoluments in respect of the year endad 30 June 2021,

Inthe prior year, in November 2018, R Fairman was promaoted to CEO from CFO and B facklin and R Alfonse were appointed
as Directors and COO and CFO respectively As 2 consequence, the 2020 remunerartion reflects a pro-rata amount based on
the relevant appointment. In additon, all Directors warved 20.0% of their basic salaries and fees from April 2020 to June 2020
due to COVID-19. Bonuses were nat payable in 2020 due to the financizl targets not being met due to the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic.
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Remuneration Committee report — unaudited continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Remuneration of the Executive Directors — audited continued

Directors’ emoluments continuead

The rernuneration of the Executive Directors of CYS Group ple is borne by the subsidiary company, CVS (UK) Limited,
without recharge to CVS Group plc.

Discretionary bonus

Range Actual
Bonus (pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EBITDA  {pre-IFRS 16 adjusted EBITDA Payout
(% of salary) pre-share option cost} pre-share option cost) £000
R Fairman 2021 100 £2372m o 62 7m £791m 408
B Jackhn 2021 100 £572mto £62.7m £791m 306
R Alfonso 2021 100 £57.2m to £682.7m £791m 265

The Remuneration Committee has decided ¢ pay bonuses in full in respect of the financial year in light of financial targets
being significantly exceeded as reflected in a substantial increaze in sharehalder value. No Executive Director bonuses were
paid in 2018, 2019 or 2020. The Group has not ta<en government support in the current financial vear and has repaid all
taxes deferred from 2020 due to the COVID-18 pandemic

Due to the commercially sensitive nature of the proposed bonus targets, the committee has decided that the targets will not
be d sclased for the current financial vear. The Commuittiee intends o retrospectively publish annual bonus targets in the
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year 1o June 2022

Share scheme interests as at 30 June 2021
Details of plans at the reporting date that have not yet vested are set out below.

Award Grant date Vesting period

LTIP12 12 October 2018 3 vyears The performance targets for award LTIP12 are based on achieving
adjusted EPS growth .n excess of inflation as follows:

+ Less than 8.0% CAGR - no award

+ 8.0% to12.0% CAGR - awarded on a straight-line basis between 25.0%
and 100 0% of total award

+ More than 12.0% CAGR - full award

LTIF3 19 December 2018 3 vyears The performance targets for award LTIP13 and LTIP 14 are based on
LTIP 4 02 October 2020 3vears achieving ad,usted EPS growth in excess of inflation and total
shareholder return in comparison to the FTSE 250.

50.0% of the awards will vest if adjusted EPS growth in excess of inflation,
pre-iFRS 16 (LTIP 14 post-IFRS 16), is achieved as follows:

+ Legsthan 5.0% CAGR - no award subject to this condition.

+ 5.0% 0 10.0% CAGR - awarded on a straight-line basis between 25.0%
and 100.0% of total award subject to this condition.

+ More than 10 0% CAGR - full award subject to this condition.,

50.0% of the awards will vest if total shareholder returns in comparison
to the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment trusts) are achieved as follows:

« Below median comparable performance - no award subject to this condition,

+ Median comparable performance - 25.0% of awards subject to
this condition.

« Mechan to upper quartile comparable performance - 25.0% t0 100.0%
of awaras subiect to this condition measured on a straight-ine basis.

« Upper guartle comparable performance - 100.0% of awards subject
to this condiion
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Options over Ordinary shares awarded to Executive Directors under the LTIP and SAYE schermes in place on 23 September 2021
are as follows:

Market price of shares Earliest exercise date and Number of
Scheme Date of grant an date of grant date of vesting of shares Exercise price shares
R Fairman
LTIP12 12 October 2018 807p 30 June 2021 02p 30,960
LTIP13 19 December 2019 1080p 30 June 2022 O2p 46,295
LTIP14 02 October 2020 1.2°9p 30 June 2023 02p 41,030
SAYEN 30 November 2018 913p 01 January 2022 830p 737
SAYETS 02 December 2020 14150 O January 2024 1.009p 606
B Jacklin
LTIP1Z 12 October 2018 807p 30 June 201 02p 6194
LTIP13 18 December 2019 " 080p 30 June 2027 02p 27778
LTIP14 02 October 2020 1.2°9p 30 June 2023 0.2p 24618
SAYET 30 November 2018 93p 1 January 2022 830p 737
SAYEZ 04 December 2019 1,054 01 January 2023 863p 709
SAYELS 02 December 2020 1415p O1 January 2024 1009 570
R Alfonso
LTIP13 19 December 2019 *080p 30 June 2022 02p 15,278
LTIP14 02 October 2020 12:8p 30 June 2023 0zZp 13540
LTIP14{b) 04 January 2021 1.485p 30 June 2023 02p 6,733
SAYETZ 04 December 2019 1,054p 01 January 2023 863p 70S
SAYE13 02 December 2020 1415p 01 January 2024 1,009 806

Directors’ interests in shares
The nterests of the Directors when combined with their spouses’ holdings as of 30 June 2021in the shares of the Company were:

Ordinary shares of 0.2p each

Number
R Connell 157800
M McCollum 38678
D Kemp 6,559
R Gray 3000
R Fairman 1450
B Jacklin 14386
R Alfonsoc —

Apart from the interests in shares and share options disclosed above, the Directors had no other interast in shares of Group companies.
There have been no changes to the Directors’ interests in shares between tne year-end and the date of this Annuai Report.

On 30 June 2021, the market price of the Ordinary shares was 2,415p. During the year shares lapsed as follows:

Market price of shares Earliest exercise date Number of
Scheme Date of grant on date of grant and date of vesting of shares Exercise price shares
B Jacklin
LTIPT 17 January 2018 1.031p 30 June 20720 02p 3600

Mo options have been exercised during the year.

Statement of voting

At the 2020 AGM, a motion was proposed to the shareholders ta approve on an acvisory only basis the Directors’ Remuneration
Report containad in the 2020 Annual Report. 78 5% of votes cast were In favour of the motion and 215% of votes cast were against
The Company's response to this voting, which included consulting mmajor shareholders and introducing the two-year holding
period to LTIP awards, is detailed in the letter of introduction from the Remuneration Committee Charr,

Deborah Kemp
Remuneration Committee Chair

23 September 2021
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Annual Report and Financial
Statements together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2027,

Principal activities and results

The principal activities of the Group are to operate armmal
veterninary practices, complementary veternary diagnostic
businesses, pet crematoria and an online retall business The
prncipal activity of CVS Group ple 1s that of a holding company.

The Group made a profit after taxation of £19 3rm (2020. £5.77).

Particulars of events which have occurred since the end
of the financial year have been disclosed in note 31 to the
financial statements.

Business review

The Ivformanon that fulfils the requiternents of the business
review, including detals of the 2021 results, key performance
indicators, principal risks and uncertainties and the outlook
for future years, 1s set out in the Charman's statement {pages
610 8), the Chiefl Execut ve Officer's review (pages S 1o 1),
the Cperatonal review {pages 28 10 35} and the Financizl
review (pages 36 to 40} including key performance
indicators (pages 24 1o 27y and snncipel risks and
uncertanties (pages 50t 57).

Dividends

In respect of the vear under reviaw, the Directors recommend
a dividend payment of 6.5p, amounting to £4 611 (2020 £ni)
The aggregate dividends recognised as distrlbutions in the
year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to £nil (2020: £3.9m).
Na interim dividends {2020 £nil} have been paid during

the vear.

Dividend policy

¥/ th the exception of yvears which are impacted by

the uncertanty of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group

has established an ordinary dividend policy that s both
progressive and sustainable, based on growing the ordinary
dividend per share over time The rate of growth of the
ordinary dividend will be decided by the Board in hght of
the circurnstances at the time The Soard also gives due
consideration to the return of capital through the use of
spec:al dividerds or share buybacks.

The ab'I'ty of the Group to pay a dividend 1s also subject to
constraints including the availability of distributable reserves
and the Group's financial and operating performance
Distr.butable reserves are determined as reguired by the
Compartes Act 20006 by reference to a compary's individual
f nancial statements.
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Directors

The following Directors held office dunng the year and
up to the date of signing the financial statements unless
otherwise stated

R Connell

M McCollum

D Kemp

R Gray {apponted 16 July 2020}
R Fairman

B Jackhn

R Alfonso

Biographical details of the Directors are provided on pages
58 to bY.

Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association of the Company require all
Directors (o be re-elected at intervals of not more than three
years. The Board has decided that it 1s appronoriate for al)
Directors to be re-appomted each vear, so in accordarce
with that decision all Directors will stand for re-eglection at
the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ remuneration and interests

The Rerruneration Committee report is set out on pages 69 ta 77,
it ncludes details of Directors’ remuneration, interests in the
shares of the Company, share options and nension arrangements

Environment

The Group recognises the significance of environmental
responsiility and undertakes clinical comphance reviews
to ensure environmental standards are conformed with

in addition to providing training to 11s employees to
ensure compliance.

Although the Group's activities do not have a major impact
on the environment, every effort 1s made to reduce any effect.
Details of the Group's approach 1o sustainalility and £3G are
set out on pages 42 to 48

Health and safety

The Group is fully aware of its obligations to maintain high
health and safety standards at all tmes, and the safety of cur
colleagues and customers s of paramount importance. The
Group’s operatiens are managed at all times in such a way
gs to ensure, as far as s reasonably practicable, the health.
safety and welfare of all of our colleagues and all other
people wno may be attending our pramises.

Corporate governance
The Board's Corparate Governance Statement 1 set out on
pages 60 10 64



Going concern

The Govarnance Code requires the Board to assess and
report on the prospects of the Group and whether the
business is a going concern. In considenng this requirement,
the Directors have taken into account the Group's forecast
cash flows, liguidity, borrowing facilities and relating
covenant reguirements and the expected operational
aclivities of Lhe Group.

As part of the going concern assessment, the Group
modellad a base case scenario and undertook sensitivity
analysis to stress test the performance at which the Group
would breach its covenants. The base case takes into
account the latest run rate of perfoermance. The sensitivity
analysis is based on a reduction in revenue and associated
impact on gross margin. The Group has modelled a further
scenario of ne further revenue growth and under both the
base case and the no growth scenario, there is mere than
sufficient headroom in both liguidity and covenants.

Having due regard to these matters and after making
appropriate enguiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group and the Company have
adequate resocurces to remain in operation untll at least
twelve months after the approval of these F-nanctal
Staternents, The Board have therefore continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
Financial Statemenits.

Viability statement

i1 accordance with provision 30 of the UK Carporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the prospects
of the Group aver a longer pencd than 12 months required by
the "Going concern” provision. A period of three vears is
believed to be appropriate for this assessment since this 1s
consistent with the Group's financing cycle, whereby on average
the Group has refinanced debt in ling with this timescale, usually
as a result of acquisition and investment activity.

The Directors confirm that they have a reascnable
expectation that the Group will continue in operation to
meet its labilities, as they fall due, up to 30 June 2024

The Directors’ assessment has been made by reference
to the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021, its
prospects, the Group's strategy. the Board's risk appetite
and the Group's principal nisks, all of which are described
In the Strategic Report.

The Directors’ assessment of the Group's viability is
underpinned by a paper prepared by management. The
paper is supported by comprehensive and detaled analysis
and modelling, containing financial projections for a detailed
ane-year plan and extended three-year period. The longer-
term plan Is reviewed each year by the Board as part of the
strategy review process. Once approved by the Board. the
plan is cascaded across the Group and provides the basis
for setting all detailed financial budgets and strategic actions
that are subsequently used by the Board to monitor performance

Tne three-year plan provides a robust planning too! against
which strategic decisions can be made. In making their

v ability assessment. the Board has taken into consideration
that financing faciities are maintained for the duration of the
forecast The Directors have considered a combination of
risks and uncertanties and the mitigating controls operated
by the Group as cetaled on pagas 50 to 57 tnat ray impadt
on the Croup's chifity to trade.

On th's basis and 1in conjunciien with other matters
considered and reviewed by the Board during the year,
the Board has reasonable expectations that the Group will
be ahie to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as
they fall due over the three financial years used for s
assessment in making this assessment, the Beard has
assumed that there 15 no material change in the legisiative
environment ir the practuce of veterinary medicine. It is
recognised that suen future assessments are subject to a
level of uncertainty that increases with tme and therefore
future outcomes cannot be guaranteed or predicted

with certainty.

Financial instruments
Details of the Group's financial -isk management objectives
and policies are included in note 3 to the financial statements,

Substantial shareholdings

3 ALgLs

Snarenalder 202 o
Cctopus Investrrents Limited 4,953,290 700
BlackRock Inc 510,58 122
Ameriprise Financial 4877966 6.89
Canaccord Genuity Group Inc 4,307510 609
Invesco 2,358,564 333
abrdn ple 2136305 3.02

23,744,216 33.55

Share capital and substantial shareholdings

Details of the share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2021
are set out in note 25 to the financial statements Each share
carries the right to one vote at general maetings of the
Company.

At 31 August 2021, the Company has been notified (using
TR1 standard form) of the substantial sharehcldings detaled
in the table above comprising 3.0% or more of the 1ssued
Ordinary share capital of the Company.

The Board 1s satisfied that no major shareholder presents
a conflict of interest or exerts undue influence cver the
Board's independent judgement.
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Directors’ report continued

Employees

Consultauon with employees takes place through a number
of regional meetings throughout the year and ar annual
staff survey. The aim 1s to ensure that employees’ views are
taken into account when decisions are made which are likely
1o affect their nterests and that all employees are aware of
the general progress of therr business units and of the
Group as a whole To enhance communication within the
Group, a committee 1sn place which is constituted of
regional members from all areas of the business with the
airs of improving consultation and commurication levels

Deborah Kemp 1s the Board's dedicated Non-Executive
Director for employee engagement and it 1s Deborah’s usual
practice to consult with employees through attendance at
aur arnuat emplovee conference, which was postponed in
the year due to COVID-19, periodic visits 1o our businesses
and regular reviews of the Groun's monthly employes het
Promoter Score.

The Group reqularly consuits with, and seeks feedback from
employees and the Board monitors ermployee ergagement.

Apphcatons for employment by disabled people are always
fully considered, beanng in mind the respect.ve aptrtudes
and ablities of the applicant concarned. In the event of
members of staff becoming disabled. every effort s made
to ensure that their employmeant with the Group continues
and that appropriate training 1s arranged. It 1s the policy of
the Group that the training, career doveiopment and

promeation of & disabled person should be. as far as possible.

identical to that of 2 person who does not have a dizability.

Tne Group operates a Long-Term Incentive Plan for ExecLiive
Drectors and senior managers. Detalls are included in note 8
The Group also has a Save As You Earn scheme, now in its
thirteenth year, under which emplayees are granted an
option to purchase Ordinary shares in the Companry ir three
years' time, depandent upon therr enterirg into a contract to
make monthly centnbutions o a savings account over the
relevant period. These savings are used o fund the option
axercise value. The exercise price in respect of opt ons
issued in the yvear was at a 20.0% discount to the shares’
marxet value at the date of iInvitation. The scheme 1s open to
all UK Grouo employees, including the Execut ve Directors.
Details of the scheme are included in the Remuneration
Committee report on pages 63910 77,
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Directors’ third-party indemnity provision

A gualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined in
Section 234 of the Companies Act 20086 was in force during
the year and also at the consolidated and Company statement
of financial positior date for the benefit of each of the Directors
inrespect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office with
the Compary and any associated company to the extent
permitted by law. In respect of those liabilities for which Directors
may not be Indermnified, the Company maintained a Directors’
and Officers’ ("D&O) lability insurance policy throughout
the financial year. The level of cover is currently £50.0m

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The D rectors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and Financial Statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law reguires the Directors to prepare financial
staternents for each financial year Under that law the
Directors are required to prepare the Group and Company
finanoat statements in accordance with internationa)
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Comparies Act 2006, Under company law the
Drrectors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that period.

In prepanng these financial staterments, the Directors are
required to-:

+ select sutable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently,

make Judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

» state wnether applicable IFRS as adopted by the
European Union have been followed, subject to any
material departures disciosed and explained in the
financial statements; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business,

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the
Annual Report provides information necessary to
enable shareholders to assess the Company's position,
performance, business model and strategy.



The Directors are responsible for keeping adeguate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any tme the financial position of the Company
and the Group and enable thern to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The Diractors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the Company’s website. Legislation mn the United Kirgdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

« the financial statements, prepared N accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirennents of the Companies Act 2006, give a true and
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit
or loss of the company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as a whole;

« the strategic report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the company and the undertakings ircluded
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the pnincipal risks and uncertamnties that
they face; and

« the annual report and financial statements, taken as g
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide
the informaton necessary for shareholders to assess the
company’s position and performance, business model
and strategy.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persans wha is a Director at the date of approval
of this Annual Report and Financial Statements confirms that

- 5o far as the Director is aware, there s no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and

- the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to
have taken as a Direclor ir order to make himself/hersolf
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditer is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interprated in
accordarce with the provisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Resoclutions concerning the re-appo.ntment of Deloitte LLP
as auditor and authorising the Audit Committee to set its
rermuneration will be proposed at the AGM.

Approval
The Strategic Report on pages 1to 57 was approved by
the Board of Dhrectors on 23 September 2021

Authorised by order of the Board

Jenny Farrer
Company Secretary
23 September 2021
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (“SECR”)

The Group is required under the Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Repartng regulations 1o repo-t how it manages its
energy consurmption and carbon ermissions. Th's report
forms part of the Directors’ report Since last year we have
published our direct Greenhouse Gas ("GHG™) enissions
from sources that are controlled or owned by the Group
"Scope 17) and indirect GHG emissions from the Group's

consumption of purchased electricty {"Scope 27) erussions.

This year, we have also begun collecting data on our
"Scope 3" emissions, which are all emissions the Group
is ndirectly responsible for across its value chan.

Monttonng and reporting these emissions enables us o

evaluate and minimise our impact on the natural environment,

which supports us In our purpose to give the best possible
care to anmals. We have taken strong actions o increase
our energy efficiency and reduce any acverse impact our
business has on the planet.

Our energy efficiency actions

Inereasing energy efficiency in our facilities

One of our strategic goals is to provide great facilities and
equipment, and a key part of this 1s to ensure our facil ties
and operations are as enargy-eficent as possible Innew
facilities, such as Wetherby, we have stnpped out “wet”
heating systerns, such as traditional radiators, ard replaced
with ar-source heating systers which extract heat from the
air, resulting m a reduction in carbon emissions, We have
also replaced our older arr conditionng units, wh ch use
R72 gas, with newer, safer and more erergy efficient arr
conditioring sclutions.
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A greener gpproach to transport

We have reviewed our fleet vehicle lists, adding more Hybrd
and Electric Vehicles ("EVs”) and capping all fosstl fuel-reliant
vehicles t0 130g CO, emissions. To support the future increase
in EY and Hybrid vehicles, we have started installing several
EV charging points at sorme of our sites, including at our
Endell Equine Hospital. We are also preparing to install
charging poirts at our Wetherby and Diss sites.

Using renewable sources

In January 2021, we switched all our UK practice sites to use
electricity from 100% renewable sources. Our sites in the
Netnerlands have already been utilising renewable energy
sources, and our Republic of reland sites were switched to
renewable energy in August 2021,

Reducing the energy consumed by our equipment
All relocations and new builds are fitted with LED lights from
the outset, combined with Passive Infrared {"PIR™) switches
where appropnate, to ensure ights are not left on for longer
than required. In our existing sites we continue to roll cut an
LED light renlacement programme which sees ali bulbs
which expire across our estate being replaced with LEDs.

Where possible, all devices are set to hibarnate after a short
period of «dle ume, for example display monitors, computers
and printers

We have briefed our suppliers to supply only A-rated
appliances, such as refrigerators and washing equipment



Qur UK and Offshore energy usage and carbon emissions

2021 2020
tC0.e 1CO e Change (%) Commeants
Scope 1 4,862 6,748 279%  The redaction in these emissions arises

from a significant reduction in transport
emissions. This is predominantly a result in
a raduction in business transport durnng the
COVIDAB pandemic,

Scope 2 2,940 3.605 18.4%  The reduction in these emissions arises

partly from the switch to renewable sources
“or all our UK vetennary practices in January
2021 (half way through the financial year
ended 30 June 2021). In adaition, dunng the
MNational lockdowns there was a reduction in
procedures performed and support colleagues
were required to work from home.

Scope 3* 2 — 100.0%
Total ermissions 7.804 10.353 -246%
Total energy volume (kwhs) 38,929,681 46,587155 19.8%
Intensity Ratio (TCO,e) 15.3 2472 -36.8%  Theintensity ratio has decreased from the
per £m revenue) prior vear, as a result of the full-year impact

of changes to ways of working as a result
of the COVID19 pandemic, which only
impacted the final quarter of the prior year

T Datawas not avalable for scope 310 2018/20

Methedoelogy

The Group has taken guidance from the UK Government’s Environmental Reporting Guidelings (March 2019), the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol reporting standard, and from the UK Government's Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors
for Company Reporting document for calculating carbon emissions

Energy usage information {gas and electricity) has been obtained directly fron~ the Group's energy suppliers and Half-Hourly
Autormated Meter Reading {("HH/AMR™) data, where available, for those suppliers with HH/AMR meters. For suppliers where
energy Usagde data was not available for a full 12 months, flat profile estimation technigues were used to calculate the
annuat consumption.

Exclusions

Transport mileage and/or fuel usage data was provided for the Group's and colleagues’ owned vehicles. The Group did not
record grey fleet mileage for the financial year ended 30 June 2021, however we have implementad a process to ensure this
is recorded going forward.

CO, emissions were calculated using the appropriate ermiss on factors froem the UK Government's UK Greenhouse Gas
Conversion Factors and this is retained within the Group's data file for reference where required,

Normalisation
The Group have chosen o report gress Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions in tonres of CC, equivalent (TCO,e") per £m revenue as
this is a common metric used In corporate GHG reparting.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the members of CVS Group plec

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinton the financial statermants of CVS Group ple
(the parent company’} and its subsidianes (the ‘group’)

« give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and
of the parermt compeny’s affairs as at 30 June 2021 and
G° the grouo's profit for the year then ended:

+ have been properily prepared in accordance with
Internatioral accounting standards in canformity with
the requrrerments of the Companies Act 2008: and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requiraments
of tne Companies Act 2006

We have audited the financial staterments which comprise.
- the consolidated income statement;
- the consclidated statement of comprehensive income;

. the consolicated and parent company statement of
financial posttion;

- the consolidated and parent company stazements of
changes in equity;

+ the consolidated and parent company staiements of
cash flow; and

+ the related notes 1to 32,

The financial reporting framework that has been applied
" thelr preparation is applicable law and international
accounting standards in confermity with the requirements
o the Comparies Act 2006,

2.Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (15As (UK) and apphcable law
Our resporsbilites under those standards are further
described i the auditor's responsibiiities for the audit

of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in
accordance with the ethucal requirements that are relevant

our audit of the financial staternents in ~he UK. including the

Frnancial Reporting Council's {the FRC's") Ethical Standard as
applied to listed entties, and we have fulfilled our other ethical

responstbifities Ir accordance with these requiremerts.

e bhelieve that the audit evidence we nave olrnamnead 18
sufficient and aporapriate to provide a basus for our opinion
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3.Summary of our audit approach

The key audit matter that we identified
in the current year was:

Key audit
matters

- Revenue Recognition - Healthy Pet Club

Within this report, key audit mratters are
identified as follows.

Newly identified
Increased level of risk
Similar leval of risk

Decreased level of risk

The matenality that we used for the group
financial staterments was £2 5m which was
determined on a range of measures based
on vanous profit measures.

Materiality

Qur audit comprised of two components
subject to full-scope audits and a further
sixieen components subject to audit
procedures on specified account
balances. The remamder of the group was
subject to review procedures only.

Scoping

There have been no significant changes to
cur audit approach in the current year,

Significant
changes
in our
approach

4, Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that
the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparaton of the finarcial statements 13 appropriate

Cur evaluation of the Directors” assessment of the group’s
and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

- Assessed the financing facilities available to group,
nciuding repayment date and likelihood of breaching
financial covenants;

Evaluated the assumptions used in the forecasts, such

as revenue growth, gross margin improvements and cash
flow movements, and whether these are appropriate in
ine with histoncal performance:;

- Assessed the level of headroorm in the fimancing facilities,

Assessed the anthmetcal accuracy of the forecast model
confirming consistent calculations are used throughout,
using irtermal software,



L. Conclusions relating to going concern continued
- Assessed the histonical accuracy of forecasts through comparing actual performance to forecast, to assess the histoncel
accuracy of forecasts prepared by management; and

- Assessed the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures,

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any matenal uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the greup’s and parent company’s akility to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 1ssue,

In relation 1o the reperting on how the group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material
to add or draw attention to In relation to the Directors’ statement n the financial statements about whether the Directors
consicered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibllities of the Directors with respect to going concern a‘e described in the relevant
sections of this report,

5.Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional jJudgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed rnisks of material misstaternent
{whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall
audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit and diracting the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters,

5.1. Healthy Pet Club — Revenue Recognition

Key audit The group earns revenue via the Healthy Pet Club ("HPC") scheme whereby customers sign up for

matter a monthly or annual direct debit arrargement in exchange for 2 range of preventative products and

description treatments at a discount to the standalone selling price. The group recogn sed £60.4m (FY20: £46.8m)
of HPC revenue during the year and has 450,000 (FY20: 415,000) act've members as at the year-end.

The revenue recognition for this scheme is judgemental since IFRS 15 Reverue from Contracts with
Customers requires revenue 1o be recorded either at a point in time or ovar ime accarding to when the
performance obligation 1s satisfied, which in the case of HPC revenue 1s not aligned to the timing of cash
receipts. Revenue must also be adjusted for anticipated animal deaths (whereby outstanding fees will be
waived) and irrecovearable debts Additional edjustments are increasingly requ red for treatments that were
missed due to a combination of COVID-19 restrictions and customers missing appointments naturally.

The group’s accounting policy is to record revenue according to the cost profile asscciated to providing
the services offered in the schame, as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements, and due to the
complexities outlined above there is a nsk that revenue recognition1s not in accordance with IFRS 15,
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’.

How the In response to the key audit matter, we performed the following procedures:
scope of our
audit

responded to - Recalculated the revenue accrual/deferral for all customers and compared this to management’s own figure.
the key audit

- Obtained an understanding of managerment’s contrels around HPC revenue recognition.

+ Assessed the appropriateness of defernng HPC revenue as a result of migsed treatments against

matter IFRS 15 requirements.
+ Performed an assessment of management's assumptions In calculating the deferral, which incluge
the use of both reminder data and actual sales data to estimate the quantities of missed treatments.
+ Recalculated the revenue deferral for a sarrple of customers based on the r spacific payment and
pricing information and compared to management’s calculation
- Checked that, in instances of missed treatments that the customear would not catch up on, deferred
Income had been appropriately released to reflect the fact that membership fees are non-refuncable
and the group has no obligation to return amounts to customers,
Key Based on the audit procedures performed, we concluded that revenue recognition in respect of the HPC

observations isin accordance with [FRS 15,
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Independent auditor’s report continued

6.0ur application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the rmagnitude of misstatement in the financial staterments that makes it probable that the
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would te changed or nfluenced We use materiality both
i planning the scope of our auditwork and 11 evaluating the results of cur work,

Based or our professicnal judgement, we determined matenality for the financial statements as a whole as follows.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Materiality £25mFY20: £1.6m) £23m FY20. £1.4my).

Basis for determining 3.8% (FY20: 4.0%) of adjusted pre-tax profit. 1.5% (FY20: 15%) of net assets.
materiality

We considered adjusted pre-tax profit of Parent company materiality was deterrmined
£66.2m (note 10) and revenue of £5101m nased on 1.5% of net assets, and capped at 85%
(consolidated income statement) when of group materality.

determining materiahty, as well as the growth
of the business (as indicated by revenue
growth) versus FY20 Adjusted pre-tax profit
is calculated as proit before tax adjusted for
amortisation, costs associated with business
combinations and excepional items.

This 18 cons stent with the pricr vear

Rationale for the We have considered both revenue and As a holding company, net assets was considered
benchmark applied adyusted pre-tax profit, reflecung the metrics the maost relevant benchmark to users of the
that are deemed to be of most importance to  parent company financial statements.
stakehclders, as disclosed within note 2.

Group materiality

£25m
Adiusted PBI Component
£66m matenality range

£07m to £15m

Srdustan PE Audit Committee
‘eporting threshokd
£01m

Gezap matrmalsy

6.2. Performance materiality
YWe set performance matenality at a level lower than matenahty to reduce the probatlity that, in aggregate, uncorrected
and undetected misstatemants exceed the materiality for the “inancial statements as a whale,

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance
materiality 70% (FY20: 70%) of group matenality 70% (FY20. 70%) of parent company materiality.
Basis and rationale for  We nave assessed the cuality of the group's The assessment at a group fevel is also
determining overall control environment, as well es tne low  appl cable for the parent company, also noting
perfermance volume of corrected and uncorrected that minimal entries are rade 1n the parent
materiality misstaterments in the previous audit company reducing the risk of material

misstatement.

6.3, Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we wolld report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0Tm (FY20: £0Tm),
as well as differences below thet threshold that 1n our view, warranted renart ng on qualitative grounds We also report to the Audht
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assassing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and sceping of components

Qur group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group and its environment, inciuding group-wide
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement.

We have focused our work on the UK-based subsidiaries which account for 83% (FY20- 85%) of the group’s revenue, 83%
(FY20- 85%) of group’s expensas and 90% (FY20: 86%) of net assats. We have subjected two components to full-scope audits
and a further sixteen components to audits of specified account balances. The remainder of the group, including componen:s
located overseas, were subject to review procedureas only. We have followed a similar approach in the prior year audit.

All audit work was carried out by the UK engagement tearm, with no reliance of cormponents auditors. Testing was
performed to component matenalty ranging from £0.7m to £1.5m {(FY20: £0 3m 10 £1.4m).

The coverage achieved by this strategy is as follows,

17% 17% 10%
4%

Revenue Expenses Net assets

22% 21%

51% 62% 86%

Full scope audits Speched account balarces Review at Sroup level

8. Other information
The other information comprises the informaton included in the Annual Report, other than the financial staterents ard our
auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other imformation contained within the Annual Report.

Qur opinion on the financial statemeants doas not cover the other information and, except to the extent atherwise exphcitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusicn thereon.

Our responsibility 1s to read the other information and, in doing so. consider whether the other Information is matenally
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of cur audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent matenal misstatements, we are required to determine whether this
gives rise to a matenial misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are reguired to report that fact.

We have nothing to reportin this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibil ties statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors
cetermineg 1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial statemenrts that are free from material misstatement, whether
cue to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to gomg concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations. or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Qur ohjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financiai statements as a whaole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
toissue an auditor's report that includes our opinion,
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK) wll always detect a material misstatement when it ex|sts
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
materab if, individuzlly or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the econormic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial staterments.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is focated on the FRC's website at
www fre org.uk/auditorsresponsioilities. This descrnption
forms part of our auditor's report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregulanues, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in ing with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect mraterial
misstatements in respect of irregularities, Including fraud
The extent to which our proceaures are canable of detecting
rregutanues, including fraud is detalled below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to
irregularities

in identify ng and assessing risks of matenal misstatement in
respect of irregularities, Including fraud and non-compliance
with faws ancg regulations, we considered the following:

- the nature of the industry ano sector, control enviranment
and business performance including the design of the
group's remuneration policies, key drivers for Directors’
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

+ the group’s own assessment of the nsks that irregulanties
may oceur either as a result of fraug or error;

« results of our enguires of management, inte-nal audit and
the Audit Comm ttee about their cwn identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities,

- any matters we iden:ified havirg obtained ard reviewed
the group's decumentation of ther policies ard
orocedures relating to:

< identifying, evaluating and complying with laws ard
regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;

- detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and
wnerher they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
or alleged fraud;

-tz internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud
or non-compliance with laws and regulatiors, and
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« the matters discussed among the audit engagement team
and relevant internal specialists. including tax, valuations
and IT specialists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial staterments and any potential
ndicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential
for fraud in the follow ng area: Revenue Recognition -
Healthy Pet Club. In common with all audits under 1SAs (UK},
we are also required to perform specific procedures to
respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtaned an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, focusing
on provistons of those laws and regulations that had a direct
effect on the determination of material amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements The key laws and
regulations we considered in this context included the
Companies Act, AIM listing rules, corporate governance
code, pensions legislation and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and
regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statemenits but compliance with which may e fundamental
to the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a materal
penalty These included the group’s compliance with the
RCVS requlations applicable to all practices and qualified
nurses. GOPR, Veterinary Surgeons Act 1966, Animal Welfare
Act 20086, Veterinary Medicines Regulations 2013 and The
Animal Act 1986,

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As aresult of performing the above, we identified Revenue
Recognition - Healthy Pet Club as a key audit matter related
to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of
our report explains the matter in more detail and also
describes the specific procedures we performed in
response to that key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond 1o risks
identiflied included the following:

« reviewing the financial staterment disclosures and testing
to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as
having a direct effect on the financial statements;

- enguinng of management, the Audit Committee and
external legal counsel concerning actual and potential
I'tigaticn and claims;

« performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual
or unexpectad relanonshups that may indicate nsks of
material misstatement due to fraud,

+ readimg minutes of meetings of those charged with
governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing
correspondence with HSE ana RCVS:

- reviewing the disclosures in the Audit Committee Repor®
o pages 65 ana 66, and



11. Extent to which the audit was considered

capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

continued

11.2. Audit response to risks identified continued

+ in addressing the risk of fraud through management
override of contrals, testing the appropriateness of journal
entries and other adjustments; assessing whethear the
judgements made in making accounting estimates are
indicative of a potential bias: and evaluating the business
raticnale of any significant transactions that are unusual
or cutside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and
regulations and potantial fraud risks to all engagement leam
members including internal specialists, and remained alert
to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements

12, Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

[ our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit.

- the information given in the strategic report and the
Directors’ report for the financial vear for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements; and

+ the Strategic Report and the Directors report have been

prepared in accardance with applicable legal requiremenits.

In the ight of the knowledge and understanding of the
group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified
any material misstatements in the strategic report or the
Directors’ report.

13. Corporate Governance Statement

Based on the work undertaken as part of cur audit, we
have concluded that each of the following elements of the
Corporate Governance Statement is materially consistent
with the financial staternents and our knowledge obtained
during the audit:

- the Directors’ statement with regards to the
appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis
of accounting and any matenal uncertainties identified
set out on page 79;

« the Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the
group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the period 1s appropriate set out on page 79;

- the Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and
understandable set out on page 87;

+ the Board's confirmation that it has carred cut a rebust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out
on page 50;

+ the section of the Annual Report that describes tha review
of effectiveness of risk management and interral contrsl
systems set out on pages 50 to 57, and

+ the section descrbing the work of the Audit Commitiec
set out on pages 65 and 66

14. Matters on which we are required to report by
exception

14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting
records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report
to you if, In our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit; or

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent campany. or returns adequate for our zudit have
not been recewved from branches not visited by us; or

- the parent company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

14.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2008 we are also required to
report:f in our opinion certain disclosures of Directors’
remuneration have not bean made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

15. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken
s0 that we might state to the Company's members those
rmatters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company's members as a
body, for our audit werk, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Lee Welham FCA (Senior statutory cuditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Cambridge, United Kingdom

23 September 2021
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 20°0
B Note £m £m
Revenue 4 5101 4778
Cost of zales 6 {288.2) (2577)
Gross profit 2219 1701
Administrative expensas 5 (181.8) {1516)
Operating profit 40.1 18.3
Finance expense 5 (1.0} (86)
Profit before income tax 4 331 99
Income tax expense a (13.8) 4.2)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent 19.3 57
Earnings per Ordinary share (expressed in pence per share) (“EPS”)
Basic 10 27.3p 81p
Diluted 10 271p 81p
All activities derive from continuing operations
Reconciliation of adjusted financial measures
The Directors believe that an adjusted profit measure. being adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Arnarusation (EBITDA"). provides additional useful information for shareholders on performance. This is used for internal
performance analysis. This measure 1s not defined by IFRS and is not Intended te be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS
measurements of profit. The following table s provided to show the cornparative E3ITDA after adjusting for costs relating
o business comoinations, Impairmen: and exceptional items,
2021 2020

Mor-GAAP meas. re. adjustee FRITDA MNote £m £rm
Profit before income tax 331 99
Adjustments for:

Finance expense 5 7.0 886

Depreciation and impairment of tangible and ngh-of-use assets’ 13.14 24.3 24.2

Amortisation of IMtangible assets 12 23.8 222

Costs relating to business comoinations’ 4 9.3 07

Exceptional items’ 6 — 54
Adjusted EBITDA 975 710

I Irgarmenisiithe yvear endes 30 Jure 2020 are shawr 1 exceplicral tams

2 Includes arrourts pad inrespect of acau sit ns in prnion v2ars exnengan o the income stalerment
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020

haote £Em o

Profit for the year 19.3 57
Other comprehensive income — items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss in future periods

Cash flow hedges:

Net movement on cash flow hedge 09 (15)

Cnst of hedoing reserve (0.4) 5

Deferred tax on cash flow hedge and available-for-sale firancial assets 24 (01) 0.2

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {0.7) 06

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (0.3) (02}

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent 19.0 55
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Consolidated and Company statement of financial position

as at 30 June 2021

Company registration number- 08312831

Group Groun Company Company
2021 2020 2021 2000
Nate £m £ £m £m
Non-current assets
Intargible assets 12 2284 2298 — —
Property, plant and eguipment 13 57.4 516 — —
Right-of-use assets 14 97.2 981 - —
Investments 8 01 01 71.6 69.4
Deferred income tax assets 24 — I — —
Amounits owed by Group undertakings 32 — — 82.3 a6
383.1 3807 153.9 151.0
Current assets
Inventaries 19 195 87 — —
Trade and other receivables 20 481 434 - —
Current inceme tax receivable 01 — — —
Cash and cash eguivalerts 337 215 - —
101.4 836 — —
Total assets 4 484.5 4643 163.9 1510
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (86.0} (877) — -
Provisions 22 (3.9 (5.0) — —
l.ease habilities 14 (8.6) (8.8) — —
Current income tax liabilities — {04) - —
Gorrowings 23 — 0N - —
(98.5) (102.0) = -
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 23 (83.9) (835) - —
| ease habilites 14 (90.2) (89.8) - —_
Dervative financial instruments 17 {0.4) {09 — —
Deferred income tax habilities 24 (20.4) (21.5) — —
{194.9) (195.7) — —
Total liahilities 4 (293.4) (2877 — -
Net assets 1911 1666 153.9 1510
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 25 01 Qaa 0.1 01
Share premium 26 1031 101.2 1031 1018
Capital redemption reserve 06 086 0.6 086
Treasury reserves — (0.3) - -
Cash flow hedge reserve (0.5) (14} — —
Cest of hedgmg reserve 01 05 — —
Merger reserve (61.4) (61.4) — -
Retamed earnirgs 1491 1266 501 484
Total equity 1911 1666 153.9 1510

Tne Company reported a total comprehensiva loss for the “nanc al year endea 30 June 2021 of £0.5m (2020: £0.4my.

Tne notes on pages 97 to 134 are an integral par: of these consoldated ard Cormpany financial statements.

Trie “inancial statements on nages 90 to 134 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 September 2021

anc were signed on its behal® by

Richard Fairman Robin Alfonso
Director Director
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Capial Casn flovs Sostor

Share Share  redemprion Treasury bedge “edgirg  Revaluation FAerger Reramad “oa.
cap tal orertem rc3erve resanve reserve roTerve reserve reserve AN Mg [
MNaoe £ fm cm £ £m £m £m £m m e
At1July 2020 o1 e 06 {0.3) (1.4} 0b — (81.4) 1266 1666
Profit for the year — — — - — — — — 193 193
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges.
Fair value Income/{loss) — — — — 09 (0.4 — - — 05
Deferred tax on cash flow
hedge and available-for-sale
financis! assets — — — - — — — — 0N (01
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations — — — — — — — — (Q7) {0.7)
Total other comprehensive
(loss)/income — — — — 09 (0.4) — — {0.8) 0.3
Total comprehensive income/
(loss) — — — — 09 (04 — - 185 18.0
Transactions with owners
Issue of Crdinary shares 25 — 1.2 — — — — — — — 12
Disposal of treasury reserve 25 - — — 03 — — — — - 0.3
Credit to reserves for
share-based payments il — — — — — — — - 22 2.2
Deferred tax relating to
share-based payments 24 — - — — — — — — 1.8 18
Total transactions
with owners - 12 — 03 — — — — 40 5.5
At 30 June 2021 01 1031 0.6 — (0.5} 01 — {(61.4) 1491 191.1
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Capital Cas flow Cestof
Snare Srara remEmplnn Treasuty hedna hedging  Reusluatior Merge: Retaned Toral
capita premium [EsEnye reserve recarye resenve resgrve reserye e mrgs anuIy
Nowe i ' £rr Em Tm £m £~ £m £ o
At 1July 2019 01 887 06 — — — 01 (614) 1240 1631
Profit for the year — — — — - — — — 57 57
Other comprehensive income
and losses
Cash flow hedges:
Fair value (loss)/income — - — — {(1.4) 05 — — 0 1.0}
Deferred tax on cash flow
hedge and available-for-sale
financial assets — — - — — — — — 2 0.2
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operauonsg — — — — — — — — 815} 0B
Total other comprehensive
(loss)/income — — — — (1.4 05 — — 07 (0.2
Total comprehensive income/
{loss) — — - — (1.4} 05 — — 6.4 55
Transactions with owners
isstie of Ordinary shares 25 — 01 - — — — — — — o1
Roclassificaticn between
“ESEIvVes — 21 — (21 - — — — — —
Msposal of revaluanon reserve — — — — — — {Oon — — (on
Disposal of treasury reserve — — — 18 — — -— — (0.9) 09
Credit to reserves for
share-based paymenrts M — —_ — — - — — — 09 098
Deferred tax relating to
share-based payrrents 24 — - — — — — - — 01 01
Dividends to equity nolders
cf the Company 25 — — — — — — — — (39 3.9
Total transactions
with owners — 2.2 — (03] — — {on - (3.8) {2.0)
At 30 June 2020 01 1019 [0]5] (03) (1.4) 0b — (814) 12686 1666
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Capital
Share Shae redempt.on Retanac Total
caalta, prenmiurm reserse [=xaigallie’a ey
Mot £m £m £m £m Foe
At1July 2020 21 1me 06 A84 1510
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — - (©5) (0.5)
Transactions with owners
tssiie nf Ordinary shares o — 12 — — 12
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 11 — — — 22 22
Cividends to equity holders of the Company 25 — — — — -
Total transactions with owners — 12 — 2.2 34
At 30 June 2021 0.1 1031 0.6 501 153.9
Capita
Shee RRERS rederpt on Ratanac Torl
caers Errntium reEserve N0 QLY
Naote £rn om £ £m £

At 1July 2019 o1 1018 06 518 154.3
Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — (©4) {04
Transactions with owners
Issue of Ordinary shares 25 — 01 — - o1
Credit to reserves for share-based payments 1 - — — 09 08
Dividends to equity halders of the Company 75 — — — (39) (39)
Total transactions with owners - 01 — (3.0) (2.9)
At 30 June 2020 Qi 019 06 48.4 1510
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Consolidated and Company statement of cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Group Groug Compatty Compans
2021 2020 2021 2000
Mate £m £m £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used i) operations 28 80.3 948 {1.2} 38
Taxation paid (13.0) (9.5) - —
Interest paid (71) (70) - —
Exceptional items paid - 07 — -
Net cash generated from/{used in) operating activities 60.2 778 (1.2) 39
Cash flows from investing activities
Business comkirations (net of cash acquired) 15 {19.4) 7.2} - —
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment 13 (16.1) mn - —
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.6 — - -
Purchase of Intangible assets 12 (0.5) (1.3) - —
Net cash used in investing activities {35.4) (19.6) - —
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid — (3.9} -— (3.9}
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary shares 25 1.2 a1 1.2 —
Proceeds from safe of Treasury shares 25 8.3 08 — —
Repayment of obligations under nght-of-use assets {13.0) (142} — —
Dentissuance costs - .75 — —
Repayment of borrowings (.1 (65.2) — -
increase of borrowings — 350 - —
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (12.6) 43.0) 1.2 (39)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12.2 90 - —
Cash and cash eguivalents at the begnning of the year 215 125 — —
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 337 215 — -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2021

1. General information

The principal activity of the Group is to operate veterinary practices, complementary veterinary diagnostic businesses, pet

crematonia and an online pharmacy and retall business. The principal activicy of the Company 1s that of a holding company.

CVS Group pleis a puklic limited company incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and domiciled in England and
Wales and its shares are quoted on AIM of the London Stock Exchange Its company registration number 15 06312831

Companies in the consolidated financial statements
The trading subsidiary undertakings included within the consclidation a-e as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Principal business

Country of incorperation

Albavet Limited

Animed Direct Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited

B&W Equine Groun Limited

Coen Digrenarts BV

CVS (Ireland) Veterinary Services Limited
CVS (Ireland) Veterinary Services No.2 Limited
CWVS (Netherlands) BV,

CVS Netherlands No2 BV.

CWS (UK) Limited

Dierenartsenpraktik NOP BV,
Dierenartsenpraktijk Zuid-wWest Friesland BV
Dierenkhniek Schalekamp B,
Dierenziekenhuis Drachten BV.

Diergeneaskundig Centrum Noord Nederland BV,

Endell Veterinary Group Limited
Greenacres Pet Crematorium Limited
Highcroft Pet Care Limited

Kliniek voor Gezelschapsdieren Dieren BV.
Mi Vet Club Limited

Ckeford Veterinary Centre Limited

Pet Doctors Limited

Pet Emergency Treatment Services Limited
Pet Vaccination Clinic Limited

Precision Histology International Limited
Rossendale Pet Crematorium Limited

Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited

Severn Edge Equine Limited

Severn Edge Farm Limited

Severn Edge Veterinary Group Limited
Silvermere Haven Limited

Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited
Sustainable Developments (SW) Limited
The Pet Crermatorium Limited

Valley Pet Crematorium Limited

Vet Direct Services Limited

Whitley Brook Crematorium for Pets Limited
Your Vets (Holdings) Limited

Veterinary services and buying club
Online dispensary

Veterinary diagnostic services
Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Holding company

Vererinary services

Holding company

Veterinary services

Veterinary and diagnostic services
Veternary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veternary services

Vetetinary services

Veterirary services

Animal cremation

Verernnary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary goods and services buying club
Veternary services

Yeternary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary diagnostic services
Animal crerat.on and provision of burial grounds
Veterinary services

Veternary services

Veterinary services

Veterinary services

Animal cremation and provision of burial grounds
Veterinary services

Property development

Animal cremation

Animal cremation

Veterinary mstrumentation supply
Animal cremation

Veterinary services

Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
The Netherlands
Repablic cf Ireland
Repudblic of Ireland
The Netharlands
The Netherlands
England and Wales
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
The Netherlands
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

1. General information continued

Companies in the consolidated financial statements continued
The dormant subsidiary undertakings included within the consolidation are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Alcock Veterinary Services Lirited*
Alnerthumbria Veterinary Practice Ltd*
Arbury Road Vets Lirmited*

Animal Health Centre Limited

Ambivet Ltd

Astonlee Limited

Beechwood Ammalcare Limited*

BVCM Limited*

Campsle Vetennary Centre Lid®

Charter Veterinary Hospital Groug Limited
Cinder Hill Equine Clinic Limited

Corner House Eguine Clmic Limited
Crormiynvets Limited

Darboe and Baily Limited

Enterprise Veterinary Services Limited
Greendale Veterinary Diagnastics Limited
Greensands Vetermary Clinic Limited
Gurka Anmmal Care Limited

Insight Laboratory Services Limited
Keown ONeill Lirmited

Newlands Veterinary Group Limited

Pet Vaccination UK Limited

Pets Holding Limited

Prnarmsure UK Limited

Potmont Veterinary Clinic Limited

Severn Edge Holdings Limited

Slate Hall Veterirary Practice Limited
Siate Hall Veterinary Services Limited

St Lo Veterinary Clinic Ltd*

Superstar Pets Limited

Trree Valleys veterinary Ltd*

Total Veternary Services Lirmited

Vet Direct Holdings Limited

vaterinary Enterorises & Trading Limited
Vetisco Limited*

Weighbridge Referral Service Limited
V/estern Countes Equine Hospital Limited
wWhite Lodge Veler nary Centre Ltd
Vivatt Poultry Veterninary Services Limited

Country of incorporation

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wates
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

Northern Ireland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern Ireland
Enaland and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
england and Wales
England and Wales
Enaland and Wales
Northern lreland
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Northern frelana
England and Wales
Northern ireland
England and Wales
Fngland and Wales
England and Wales
Scotland

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

Comnanias n hguidar o~

Apart from CVS (UK) Limited, all of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held oy CVS Group pla.

100% of the Ordinary share capital is owned ‘or all eguity shareholdings and therefore ail are wholly owned.
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1. General information continued

Companies in the consolidated financial statements continued
The registered office for all United Kingdom registerad subsiaiary undertakings 1s CVS House, Owen Road, Diss, Norfolk IP22 4ER,

with the exception of the following companies:

Name of subsidiary

Registered office address

Albavet Limited

Alcock Veterinary Services Limited
Alnctthurnboria veterinary Fractice Ltd
Arbury Road Vets Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited
Beechwood Animalcare Limited
BVCM Limied

Campsie Veterinary Centre Limited
Cromlynvets Limited

Keown O'Neill Limnited

Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited
Precision Histology International Limited
St Elme Veteninary Clinic Limited
Three Valleys Veterinary Lid

Vetisco Limited

24 Nicol Street, Kirkealdy, Fife KYTINY

King Street House, 15 Upper King Street Norwich MR3 1RB

King Street House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3 1RB

King Street House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3 1RB

The Manor House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, Devon TQ12 4PB
King Street House, 15 Upper King Street, Norwich NR3 1RB

The Vision Building, 20 Greenmarket, Dundee DD1 4GB

17 Clarendon Road, Belfast BT1 3BG

50 Old Coach Road, Hillsborough, County Down BT26 6PB

11 Church Street, Ballygawley, Co. Tyrong BT70 2HA

Boness Road, Polmont, Falkirk FKZ 0XZ

The School House, One Eved Lane, Weybread, Diss, Norfolk IP215TT
17 Clarendon Road, Belfast BT13BG

17 Clarendion Roag, Belfast BT1 3BG

The Vision Bullding, 20 Greenmarket, Dundee DD1 4QB

The registered office for all Netherlands registered subsidiary undertakings 15 Postbus 176, 8300 AD Emmeiocord The regisered
office for all Republic of lreland registered subsidiary undertakings 1s KPMG, Dockgate, Dock Road, Galway H91 VBRR.

Parent company guarantee

The following wholly owned subsidiaries are exemnpt from the -equirements of the UK Companies Act 20086 relating to the
audit of individual accounts by virtue of Section 4784 of the Act.

MName of subsidiary

Company registration number

Albavet Limited

Axiom Veterinary Laboratories Limited
B&W Eguine Group Limited

Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited
Endell Veterinary Group Limited
Greenacres Pet Crematorium Limited
Greendale Veterinary Diagnostics Limited
Highcroft Pet Care Limited

Insight Laboratory Services Ltd

Mi Vet Club Limited

Okeford Veterinary Centre Limited

Pet Vaccination UK Ltd

Pet Vaccmation Clinic Limited

Pets Holding Limited

Pets Emergency Treatment Services Limited
Rossendate Pet Crematonum Limited
Ruddington and East Leake Veterinary Centre Limited
Severn Edge Equine Limited

Severn Edge Farm Limited

Severn Edge Holdings Limited

Severn Edge Veterinary Group Limited
Silvermere Haven Limited

Silverton Veterinary Practice Limited

SCZ75058
02526935
06777468
12941058
08078309
07877237
05138112
07238070
08353163
08365201
05984705
05391873
03252801
1161672
03586933
01409643
04551334
08524486
08521408
00522086
09523786
02187947
0810117
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 3C June 2021

1. General information continued
Parent company guarantee continued

Name of subsidiary Company registration number
Slate Hall Vietarinary Services Ltd 08390276
Sustainable Developrments (SW) Limited 05174372
The Pet Crernatorium Limited 03442460
Valley Pet Crematorium Limited 04861306
Vet Direct Services Limited 05167635
Vet Direct Holdings Limited 06746630
Veterinary Enterpnses & Trading Ltd 03495004
whitley Brook Crematorium for Pets Limnited 04734723
Wyatt Poultry Veterinary Services Lid 0578017
Your Vets {Haldings) Ltd 07071834

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated and Company financial statements of CVS Group plc have been prepared in accordance with internationaf
accounting standards and in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention, except for certan
financial Instruments and share-based payments :hat have been measured at fair value.

After makirg enguiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 1o continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern bas,s i preparing
thaese financial statemeants. Further detaills are provided in the Directors’ report on pages 78 to 81

The sccounting policias set out below have, unlass otherwise stated, been apphed consistently 1o all years presented in these
financial staternents. The accounting palicies which follow relate to the Group and are applied by the Cornpany as appropriate

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 1FRS requires management 10 make jJudgements, estimates

and assumpticns that affect the appleation of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates ana associated assurmptions are based an historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form a basis for raking the jJudgements about carrying values
of assets and liabiliies that are nos readily aprarent from other sources. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making
assumptions and estimates, actual outcomes will differ from those assumptions and estimates.

Judgement: Leases
Management exercises Judgement in determining the hkelhood of exercising break or extension options in determining the
leaze term

wWhen determining the lease term in accordance with IFRS 16, Leases’. paragraphs 18-21, management has applied the
following policy for all leases:

a) for properties In contract, the lease term has been determined to be the period to the end of the contractual lease term:;

b) for properties out of contract and therefore occupied on a rolling basis, in accordance with legislation that permits this,
the lease term has been detarminad to be 75 years from the end of the contractual lease term; and

o) ‘o' properties where management has committec to clese the site, the lease term s determined to be until the next
break clause.

Refer to rote 14 for additioral disclosures related to leases.
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2. Summary of significunt accounting policies continued

Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued

Accounting estimate: Research and Development Expenditure Tax Credit ("RDEC”)

The Group has recognised incoma in relation to claims made by the Group under HM Revenue & Customs’ RDEC schame
inrespect of costs relating to qualfying Research and Develaopmen: ("R&D") activities. The income is recognised when there
Is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions of the scheme and that the tax creqits will
be received, which can be some time after the original expense is incurred. The Group's assessment of eligible expenditure
and gualfying activities must align with the definition of R&D for RDEC purposes The Group has considered the fac:s and
circumstances relating to eéach company’s claim in order to make a judgement as to whether compliance is reasonably
assured and therefore receipt is reasonably certain. As this s the first tme the Group has claimed under this regime the
Group has applied an estimated discount ta the gross claim of £3.9m and recagnised only £2.0m i the current vear. The
unrecognised amount 1s therefore £1.9m, which will be recognised when uncertainty has been removed either via formal
acceptance of the claim or the expiry of the enquiry window.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosure

Standards adopted by the Group for the first time

A number of new and revised standards, including the following, are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020:

« Amendment to IFRS 18, |eases’ - COVID-18 Related Rent Concessions (and from 1 Apnil 2021 COVID-192 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021)

« Amendments to IFRS 8, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 “interest Rate Benchmark Reform’ - Phase 1
- Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

« Amendments o IFRS 3, 'Definition of a Business’

Adoption of these standards has nct had an impact on the Group's financial statements.

Standards and interpretations to existing standards which are not yet effective and are under review as to their impact on
the Group

The following standards and interpretations 1o existing stanaards have been published that are mandatory for the Grouo's
accounting pericds beginning on or after 1 July 2021 or later periods but which the Group has not early adopted:

- Amendments 1o IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7 IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 “interest Rate Benchmark Reform’ - Phase 2 {effective 1 January 2027)
- Amendments to IAS 16, 'Property, Plant and Equipment’ - Proceeds Before Intended Use (effective 1 January 20272)

« Annual Improvements to |FRS Standards 2018-2020 (effective 1 January 2022}

+ Amendments to IFRS 3, 'Reference to the Conceptual Framework’ (effective 1 January 2022)

+ Amendments to IAS 37, 'Onerous Contracts ~ Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’ (effective 1 January 2022)

« Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts' (effective 1 January 2023)

« Amendments to 1AS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current’ (effective 1 January 2023)

- Amendments to 1AS 8, ‘Definition of Accounting Estimates’ (effective 1 January 2023)

« Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, ‘Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ (effective 1 January 2023)

« Amendments to 1AS 12, Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction’ (effective 1 January 2023)

Basis of consolidation
The consclidated financial staterments include the financial information of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings as
at and for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The results of companies ard businesses acquired are included
in the consolidated income statement from the date control passes. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases On acquisition of a company or business, all assets and liabiities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded
at their fair values, reflecting their condition at that date. All changes to those assets and liabilities, and the resulting gains
and losses, which arise after the Group has gained control of the company or business, ang that anse after the
measurement penod, are credited or charged to the post-acquisition Income statermeant.

Intra-group transactions and profits are elirminated fully on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidianes have been
aligned to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting to the Chief Qperating Decision Maker
("CODM"}). The CODM has been determined to be the Board of Directors, as it 1s primarily responsible for the allocation of
resources to segments and the assessment of the perfermance of segments. The Group has four operating segments:
veterinary Practices, Laboratories, Crematonia and Online Retail Business. Further details of the Group's operating segments
are provided in note 4 to the financ al s1atements.

Business combinations

Acguisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition methed. The consideration transferred
i a business combination 1s measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition date farr valuss of
assets transferred by the Group and habilites incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree. Acquisition
related costs are recogrised in the Income statement as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and tne liabilities assurned are recognised a: their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess af the sum of the consiceration transfarred over the net of the acguisition aate amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilites assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and lakilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is
recognised immediately in the income statemert as a bargain purchase gain.

Whern the consideration transferred by the Group In a business combination includes an asset or liability resulting from a
contngent or deferred consideraton arrangemert, this addinonal consideration 1s measured at its acquisition date fair value ard
included as part of the consioeration transferred n a business combination. Changes in fair vaiue of the contingent or deferred
consideration that qualify as measurement penod adjustrments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustrments
sgainst goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurenrent period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumistances that existed at
the acquisition date. Centingent or deferred consideration that is classified as an asset or a lability is remeasured at subseqguent
reporting dates in accordance with IFRS @, 'F nancial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, or IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent
Liabibties and Contingent Assets’, as approp+iate, with the corresnonding gain or loss being recognised in the iIncome statemant.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and eguipment are stated at cost (being the purchase cost, together with any incidental costs of acquisition)
less accumulated depreciation and any accurmulated impairment iosses. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed annaelly, and adjustea as appropriate, Depreciat on ‘s provided so as to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated res.dual values, over the expected useful economic lives of the assets in equal annual
nstalments at the follow'ng principal rates:

Freehold buildings 2% straight line

Leasehold improverments Straight ine over the Lfe of the lease
Fixtures, fittings and equipment  20%-33% straight hne

Motor vehicles 25% straight fine

Freehaold land is not depreciated on the basis that it has an unlimited life

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying armount of recogrised as 8 separate asset, as appropriate, only when
itis pronable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured relably. All other repairs and mantenance ase charged to the iIncome statement during the financial year in which
they are incurred.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

With the exception of the acguisition of CVS (LK) Limited, which was accounted for using the principles of marger accounting,
all business combinations are accounted for by aoplying the acquisiion method. Goodwill arising on acquisitions that have
occurred since 1 July 200415 stated after separate recognition of intangible assets and represents the difference between
the far value of the vurchase consideration and the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of an acquired
antity. In respect of acguisitions prior to 1 July 2004 goodwill g included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents
the amount recorded under previous Generally Accepted Accounting Pract ce Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, and 1s subject to annual impairment testing
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Intangible assets continued

Computer software

Acquired computer softwars licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs iIncurred to acquire and bring into Jsa the
specific software Thaese costs are amortised over their estimated useful tives of three years and charged to administrative
expenses. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an administrative expense
as incurred

Patient data records and trade names

Acquired patient data records and trade names are recognised as intangible assets at the fair value of the consideraton
paid to acquire them and are carried at historical cost less provisions for amortisation and impairment. The far value
attributabie to these items acquired through a business combination 1s determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk-adjusted post-tax weighted average cost of capital for the Group.
The residual values are assumed to be £nil. Patient data records and trade names are reviewed for impairment if conditions
exist that indicate a review is required. Amortisation 1s provided so as to write off the cost over the expected economic lives
of the asset in equal instalments at the following principal rates:

Patient data records 10% per annuim
Trade names 10% per annuim
Amortisation I1s charged to administrative expenses.

Impairment of non-current assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets

that are subject to amortisation or deprediation are reviewsad for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 15 recognised in the ncome statement far
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds Its recoverable amount,

As permitted by IAS 36 Imparrment of Assets for the purposes of assessing impairment, individual cash-generating units
("CGUs"} are grouped at a level consistent with the Group's cperating segments, Recoverable amounts for CGUs are based
on value in use, which is calculated from cash flow projections using dats from the Group's latest internal forecasts, being
a one-year detailed forecast and extrapolated forecasts thereafter, the results of which are approved by the Board. The key
assumptiors for the value-in-use calculations are those ragarding discount rates and growth rates.

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an imparment loss is reversed f there nas been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. Animpairment loss 1s reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not excead the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of aenreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had beer recogrised. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a firstin, first out
basis. Net realisable value 15 based on estimated selling price less costs expected to be incurred on disposal. Where
necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or defective inventory

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial labilities are recognised on the Group's consolidated and Company statement of firancial
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised mitially at farr value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and other recevables 1s recogn’sed if there are considered to be
expected credit losses. The amount of expected credit losses 1s updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since nitial recognition of the financial asset. Losses arising from mparrmeant arc recognised in the income statement
within admimistration expenses.

Investments

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of avalable-for-sale invesiments in equity instruments that have a
guoted market price are recognised directly in other comprehensive income until the security is disposed of or 1s determined
to be impalired, at which tme the cumulative gain or loss previously recagnised inequity is included in the net result for the year
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Investments continued

In accordance with IFRS 9, availanle-for-sale investments n equity instruments that do not have a guoted market price

in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost, The Group assesses at each
consolidated and Company staternent of financial position date whether there is oljective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets 1s impaired

Dividerds on an avallable-for-sale equity nstrument are recognised in the income statement when the Group's right
to receive payment is established.

In the Company’s financial statements, iInvestments in subsidiary undertakings are initially stated at cost. Provision is made
for any permanent imparrment in the value of these investments

Financial liakilities and equity

Firancial habilities and equity instrurments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into Financial habilities are obligations to pay cash or other financial assets and are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisiors of the instrurnent. Financial labilites are recorded initially at fair value and
subseguently at amortised cost Lsing the effective interest method, with interest related charges recognised as an expense
in finarce cost in the Income statement A financial kabilty 1s derecognised only when the obligation s extinguished. An
equity instrurment is ary contract that gives a residual nterest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its habilities.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearng bank [oans and overdrafts are intially recorded as the proceeds received, net of associated transaction costs,
Subsequent to Initial ccognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any differerce between cost
and redermption value being recognsad In the incorme statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method. Borrowirgs are classified as currentiiabilities unless the Group has an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the
hability for at least twelve months after the consolidated and Company statement of financial position date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are non-interest beanng and are recognised intially at far value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equ'ty nstrumenrts issued by the Compary are recorded et the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses derivative financial nstruments to hedge 1ts exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing activities,
The Group does not hold or issue denvative financial instrurients for trading purposes; however, if denvatives do not gualify
for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such,

In September 2019, the IASE 1ssuved Interest Rate Benchmark Reform {(Amendments to IFRS 9. IAS 39 and IFRS 7). These
amendments madify specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges
during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate
benchrrarks are amended as a result of the ongaing interest rate benchmark reforms,

The applcation of the amendments impacts the Group's accounting in relation to a Sterling-denommated fixed rate
debt which it fair value hedge accounts usirg Sterling fixed to GBP LIBOR interest rate swaps. The amendments permit
continuation of hedge accounting even If ir the “usure the hedged benchmark interest rate, GBP LIBOR, may no longer
be separaely identifiable However, this relief aoes not extend to the requirement that the designated interest rate risk i
component must cortinue to be reliably measursble IF the risk component is no longer reliably measurable, the

hedging relaticnship s discontinued.

Derwvative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined by reference to market values for similar financial instruments, by discountad cash flows. or by the use of option
valuat'cn models. The fair value of interest rate swap arrangements is calculated as the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, Where derivatives do no: guahfy for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are immediately
recogrised in the income statement.

Whe-e denvatives qualhfy for hedge accounting, recognitar of any resultant gam or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship and the item being hedged
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continued

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities continued

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged itemns,
as well as its risk management objectives, the strategy for undertaking varous hedging transactions, the nature of the risks
being hedged and the economic relationship between tne itern being hedged and tne hedging instrument. The Group also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the dervatives that are
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged itemns.

The farr value of a hedging derivative 1s classified as a non-current asset or lability when the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is more than twelve months and as a current asset or hability when the remaining maturity of the hedged tem
1s less than twelve months.

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge the Group's exposure to variability in
cash flows that are either attributable to a particular sk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a hughly prabable
forecasted transaction.

The effective element of changas in the farr value of dervatives that are designated and gualify as cash flow hedges is
recogrised In other comprehensive Income. The gain or loss relating o the ineffective pornon is recognised immedately
In the iIncome statement where material. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the
pericds when the hedged item affects the income statement. The classification of the e*fect've portion when recognised
In the income statement 1s the same as the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element of the remeasurement of
the derivative instrumant which does not meet the criteria for an effective hedge 1s recognised immediately in the income
statement within finance costs.

when a hedging nstrument expires or 1s sold, or when a hedge ro longer meets the cniteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and 15 recognised in the mmcome statement when
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised In the Income statement When & forecast transaction 1s no longer expected
o occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statermeant.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with matunties of three months or less from inception.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are included
as a component of cash and cash eguivalents for the purposes of the consolidsted and Company statemnent of cash flow

Current ond deferred income tax
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax payable, ceferred tax and any adjustments in respect of previous periods.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable orofit differs from profit before iIncome tax as
reported in the iIncome statement because 1t excludes some itemns of Income or expense that are taxable or deductible

In other years and 1t further excludes tems that are never taxable or tax deductible. The Group's liability for current tax 1s
calculated on the basis of tax laws and tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated and
Company staterment of financial position date. Management penodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet hability metiod, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities used In computation of taxable profits and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from inibal recogrition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxabkle profit or loss.
Deferred tax 1s also not accounted for if it anses from inizial recognition of gocdwill, Deferred tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the consolidated and Company staternent of financial position
date and are expacted to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax iability is settled.

Current and deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except where i relates to items charged or
credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax s also recognised in other
comprehensive income or equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be avallable against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 3C June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Current and deferred income tax continued

Deferred tax assets and abilities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets aganst
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and labilities relate 1o Income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simuitaneously.

Revenue recognition

Revenue 1s measured in accordance with relevant accounung standards For all contracts within the scope of IFRS 15,
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ the Group determines whether enforceable rights and obligations have been
created with the customer and recognises revenue based on total transaction price as estimated at the contract inception,
being the amount which the Group expects to be entitled to and has present enforceable nghts under contract. Revenue is
allocated proportionately across the contract performance obligations and recognised either over time or at a point in time
as approptriate.

Service revenue

Revenue represents sales of vetennary services, laboratory diagnostic services and crematona services which are
recognised in accordance with IFRS 15, at the pont in time when the performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue 1s
recognised when the veterinary consultatior, vetennary procedure, laboratory test or cremation is completed.

Members of customer loyalty schemes, for examale the Healthy Pet Club, pay annually or monthly subscnption fees and
receve preventative consultations and treatrments over a twelve-month period, being the life of the contract. Annual
subscription fees are received annually in advance and monrthly subscription fees are received evenly over a twelve-month
penod. Revenue 1s recognised in line with the cost profile of individual performance obligations as they are completed in
accordance with the contract and not 'n line with the receipt of subscription fees. For the majority of customers who pay
monthly this results in revenue recognised in advance of cash received as performance obligations are weighted towards
the beginning of the twelve-month contrac:.

The adjustments are made through deferred and accrued income and the contract asset and contract liability for this are
shown in rote 20 and note 21, respectively. Revenue s recognised net of the provision to reflect cancellations as a result of
animal deaths, due to our policy not to invoice our customers n such an event, The provision is calculated based on historical
membership data. All other cancellations are accountea for as an impairment of receivables within administration expenses

Products
Revenue relating to the sale of vetennary products s recognised according to the terms of sale, at the point in time when
the performance obligations are satisfied.

Rebates received from manufacturers

Caonsistent with standard industry practice, the Group has agreements with suppliers whereby volume related allowances
and various other fees are recewved in connection with the purchase of goods from those suppliers in the form of rebates.
Rebates receved from drug and consumable marufacturers in respect of the Group's purchases relating to inventories are
held by the Group at the reporting date; the rebate is included withir the cost of those inventories and recognised in cost of
sales upon sale of those inventories.

Rebates negotiated on behalf of our buying group Mmembers, MivetClub and vetShare, are recorded in the statement of

f nancial position as a recevable and the carresoonding haoility for the rebate due to the member 1s recorded as a payable.
The commission receivable by the Group is recorded as revenue in the income statement when all obligations attached to
the rebate have been discharged and the repate can be measured reliably based on the terms of the contract which is taken
as at the point at whick the buying group member purchases the drugs and consumables.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group 2ssesses whether a contract s or contairs a lease, at Inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asse: and a corresponding lease hability with respect to ali lease arrangements in which it1s the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases witn a lease term of twelve months or less) and |eases of low-value assets (such as tablets and personal
computers, smallitems of office furn.ture and telephones). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-I'ne basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the ume pattern in which econamic benefits from the leased assets are consumed

The lease labiity is initially measured a the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discountad by using the rate implicitin the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee Luses its incremental
borrowing rate,
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Leases continued

The Group as a lessee continued

Lease payrments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

- fixed lzase payments {including in-substance fixed pavments), |ess any lease incenbives recevable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date:
- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

« the exercise price of purchase options. if the lessee 1s reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

« payments of penalties for termimating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option 1o terminate the lease.
The lease liability is presentad as a separate lina in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability 15 subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the tease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related rnght-of-use asset) whenever:

» the lease term has changed or there 15 a significant event or change in circumstances resultng in a change in the
assessmeant of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revisec discount rate;

- the lease payments change due to changes in anindex or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, In which case the lease liability 1s remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate (unless the lease payments change 1s due to a change ir a floatng interast rate, in which case a revised
discount rate 1s used); and

- alease contract is modified and the lease modification 15 not accounted for as & separate fease, in whicn case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lzase by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revisad discount rate at the effective date of the madification

The night-of-use assets comprise the initial measuremert of the corresponding lease liability, lease jpayments made at
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial diract costs. They are subseguently
measured at cost less accumulated depraciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove & leased asset, restore the site on which it

Is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, & provision

1s recognised and measured under JAS 37 To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are inciuded
in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce nventories

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying assert. If a iease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the nght-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise
a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset 15 depreciated over the useful life of tne underlying asset. The depreciat on
starts at the commencement date of the lease

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statemeant of financial position.

The Group applies 1AS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset s impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described in the "Property, plant and eguipment” policy,

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense In the period in which the event or condition that
triggers those payments occurs and are included in “Other operating expenses” In the Income statement.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease componeants, and instead account for any
lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical expedient.
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease compoenents, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-afone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised unti there s reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching te them and that the grants will be recaved.

Government grants are recognised in the incomea statemeant on a systematc basis over the periods in which the Grouo
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants a-e intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial supoort to the Group w'th no future related costs are recognised in the iIncome statement in the period
in which they become recevable.

Certain companies within the Group may be entitled to claim tax credits in relation to the Research and Development
Expenditure Tax Credit ("RDEC") schemre in the UK Tax credits recevable under this scheme are determined to have the
substance of a governmeant grant and accordingly these tax credits are accounied for under 1AS20, ‘Accounting for
Government Grants, as described above. The tax crecits are recognised within other Income within the Incorne statement
when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant conditions and that the tax credits will be
receved.

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive part of therr remuneration in the form of share-based payment trarsactions, whereby
smployees render services in exchange for sharas or rights over shares (eguity-gettled transactions). UK employees may
also acguire shares in the Company through an HMRC-approved employee Save As You Earn scheme ("SAYE"), where the
employee makes monthly savings over a threa-year penod and has the option to purchase shares at the end of the pernod.

The fair valuas of equity-settled transactions are measured indirectly at the dates of grant using Black Scholes or Morite Carlo
option pricing madels, taking into account the erms and conditions upan which the awards are granted. The fair value of
share-hased payments under such schames 1s expensed cn a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Growp's estimate of shares that will evertually vest and adjusted at each reporting date for the effect of non-market-based
vest'ng conditions The fair value of options awardea to employees of subsidiary undertakings 1s recognised as a capital
contribution and recorded In Investments on the Company statement of financial position.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentational currency

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary econom’c
environment In which it operates (jts functional currency). For the ourpose of the consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of each Group company are exprassad in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the
Compary, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. rounded to the nearest £0.1m.

In preoaring the firancial statements of the individual companias, transactions In currencies other than the entity's
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevalling on the dates of the transactions
At each consolidated and Company statement of financial position date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
In foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary itemns carried at fair velue that are
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevalling at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of nistorical costin a foreign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences are recogrised in the iIncome statement in the period n which they anse.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations
are translated at exchange vates prevalling on the consolidated and Company statement of financial position date. Income
and expense iterns are translated at the average exchange rates for the peniod, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that petiod, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arisirg,

if any, are recognised in other comprehensive Income and accumulated in a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arsirg on the acquistion of a foreign entity are treated as assets and habilities of the
foreign entity and transiated at the closing rate The Group has elected to treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
or acquisttions cefore the date of trans.ton 1o IFRS as Sterling-denominated assets and liabilities. Excharge differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive ircome,

Retirement benefit costs

The Group makas contrbutions to staketolder and errployee personat pension defired contribution schemes i resoect of
certain employees. The Group has no further paymrent obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as an employee benefit expanss in the period to which they relate Prepard contributions are recognised as
an asse: to the extent that & cash refund or a reduction in tne future payments s available,
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

Financing costs

Financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, debt finance costs, finance cost on the right-of-use lease hability,
and gains and losses on dervative financial Instruments that are recogn.sed in the income siaterment.

Interest expense 15 recognised in the income statement as It accruas, using the effective interest method.

Use of non-GAAP measures

Adjusted EBITDA, adjusted Profit Before Tax (*adjusted PBT”) and adjusted Earnings Per Share (“adjusted EPS”)

The Directors believe that adjusted EBITDA, adjusted PET and adjusted EPS provide additional usaeful information for shareholders
onthe Group's underlying performance. These measures are used by the Board and management for planning and internal
reporting and are aligned to our strategy and KPls. A subseat 1s also used by management in setting Director and management
remuneration. The measures are also used in discussions with the investment analyst community. These measures are not
defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other comoanies’ adjusted measures, They are not
intended to be a substitute for, or superior te, IFRS measurements of profit or earnings per share,

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by reference to profit before income tax. adustea for interest {net finance expense),
depreciation, amortsation, costs relating to business combinations and exceptional items,

Adjusted profit before income tax is calculated as profit before amortisation, taxation, costs relating to business
combinations and exceptional items

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted profit before income tax less applicable taxation divided
by the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue in the period.

Like-for-like sales

Like-for-like sales comprise the revenue generated from all operations compared to the prior year. Reverue s included in
the hke-for-lke calculation with effect from the month in which it was acqaired in the previous year adjusted for the number
of working days: for example, for a practice acguired in September 2019, revenue s included from Septernber 2020 i the
like-for-like revenue calculation.

Net debt
Net debt 18 calculated as barrowings less gross cash and uramortised borrowing costs,

Share premium
The share premiurn reserve comprises the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued.

Treusurg reserve
The treasury reserve comprises shares held by an Employee Benefit Trust {'EBT") for the purposes of satisfying the exercise
of certain share options vesting under the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Pian ("LTIP"} and SAYE schemes.

Capital redemption reserve
Uponr cancellation of redeermable Preference shares on redamption, a capital redemption reserve was created representing
the nominal value of the shares cancelled. This 1s a non-distributable reserve.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve resulted from the acguisition of CVS (UK) Limited and represents the difference between the value
of the shares acquired (nominal value plus related share premium) and the norminal value of the shares issued.

Loss for the financial year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own income
statement or staternent of comprehensive iIncome for the year. The loss attnibutable to the Company is disciosed in the
footnote to the consolidated and Company statement of financial position

3. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it 1o a variety of financial risks- market risk (baing foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
nisks), credit nsk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall nisk management programrme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group uses dervative
instruments to manage 1ts exposure to interest rate movaments. It 1s not the Group's poficy to actively trade in derivatives.

Given the size of the Group, the Board monitors finangial risk management. The policies set by the Beard of Directors are
implemented by the Group’s finance department.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial risk management continued

Financial risk factors continued

a) Market risk

i) Foreign exchange currency rate risk

The Group has Imited exposure to foreign exchange risk as the majonty of its transactions are denominated in the
Company’s functional currency of Sterling. The Group has a policy to minimise foreign exchange currency rate risk through
the regular monitonng of foreign currency flows. Currency exposures are reviewed regularly and all significant foreign
exchange transactions are approved by Group maragement. For subsidiaries incorporated in the Netherlands and the
Republic of Ireland, a patural hedge 's applied where both revenue and expenditure 15 denominated in Eures. Aside from
this, the Group does not hedge any foreign currency transactions but continues to keep this policy under review.

ity Cash flow and fair value interaest rate risk

The Group has interest-bearing assets and labilites The Group's iIncommie and operating cash inflows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow irterest rate risk

At the year end. the Group had interest hedging arrangerrerts in place coverning £70 Om of debt. This allows the Group

to mirimise its exposure o significant mterest rate ncreases whilst enabling the Group to take advantage of interest rate
reductions. The strategy for underiaking the hedge s to match a portion of the Inap liability with a coterminous dervative that
allows interest to float within an agread range and tnereby limits the cash flow exposure relating to interest

Excluding the impact of the interest rate swap arrangement. bank oor-owings bear interest at 1.45% 1o 2.7% above LIBOR
Tne applicable interest rate 15 dependent upon the net debt to EBITDA ratio Durng the year the bank borrowings carred & rate
averagng 1.55% above LIBOR.

At 30 June 2021, the Group has considered the mpact of movements in interest rates cver the past year and has concluded
that a 1% movement is a reasonable benchmark. At 30 June 2021, if interest rates on Sterling-denominated borrowings had
been 1% higher or lower, with all other vanables held constant, post-tax profit and the movement in nat assets for the year
would have been approximately £0.8m (2020 £11m) lawer or igher, mairly as a rasult of the movement in interast rates on
the fioatng rate borrowings, net of the hedging derivative nsirument in place.

) Credit risk

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subseguently measured at amortised cost, less provision for
ympairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables 1s recogrised on trade recewables if there is considered to be
expected credt losses. The amaunt of expected eradit losses is calculated using the simplified approach as allowable under
IFRS 9 ana 15 upaated at each reporting date 1o veflect changes n cradit nsk since initial recognition of the financial asset.
Losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statemert of comprehensive income in other operating expenses.

The credit nisk on liquid funds and derivative financial mstruments 1s limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies

Concentrations of credit nisk with respect 1o trade recewables are imited due to the Group's diverse customer base. Sales
made other than on a cash basis are limited to a small part of the Group's overall business, and within these business areas
the Group has appropniate credit checking facilities and procedures in place. Customer accounts are also monitorad on an
orgoing basis and appropriate action is taken where necessary 10 minimise any credit risk. The Directors therefore believe
there 1s no further credit risk provision required m excess of normal provision for impaired recevables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk et 30 June 202115 the fair value of each class of receivable as disclosed in note 20
to tne financial statements.

¢} Liquidlity risk

Prudent liguichty nisk managemenit implies mairtaining sufficient casn and marketable securties and the avalability of
fanding through an adeguate amount of corrmitiad credit fac Iities The Group actively maintains casn balances and a
mix of long-term and short-term finance facilizies that are dasigned to ensure the Group has sufficient avalable funds

for operations and acguisitions. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's quidity reserve on the basis of
expected cash flow. The table below sumrmarises the remairing contraciual matunty for the Group’s financial labilties.

The amounts shown are the contractual Lnd scountea cash flows, which include nterast, analysed by contractual matur ty.
Yhen the amount payable or recevable is not fixed, tne amcurt disclosed has been determined by reference to the
projected interest rates as llustrated by tne yield curves existing at the reporting date.
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3. Financial risk management continued
Financial risk factors continued
c) Liquidity risk continued
In more than In more than in more than

one year but  two years but three years but
In less than notmore than  not more than not more than  In more than

one year two years three years five years five years Total
30 June 2021 MNote £m £m £m £m £m £Em
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings — — 85.0 — — 85.0
Trade and other payables (excluding
soclal security and other taxes} 21 69.1 — - — - 621
Right-of-use liabilities 14 12.4 14.2 13.2 237 572 120.7
815 14.2 98.2 237 57.2 274.8
171 maore tkan Ir mare than Inrcre thas
two years but  three vears nu:
o lesy than "ot more than rot more than Inmaoe than
ONE year WO YeE'S three years five years f e years otal
30 June 2020 Note £n- i £m £ Con
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings Q1 — — 850 - 851
Trade and other payables (excluding
social security and other taxes) 21 594 — — - — 594
Right-of-use liabilities 14 126 139 125 225 59.8 121.3
721 139 125 1075 59.8 265.8

Capital risk management

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base, defined as bank faciliies plus total shareholders’ equity. so as o
rmaintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Within this overall
policy, the Group seeks to maintain an optimum cagital structure by a mixture of debt and retained earnings.

The bank facilities include financial covenants and a number of general undertakings There have been no breaches of
the terms of the respective loan agreements, breaches of covenants or defaults during the current or comparative years.

Funding needs are reviewed periodically and also each time a significant acquisition 1s made. A number of factors are
considerad which include the bank test net debt/bank test EBITDA ratio, future funding needs (usually patential acguisitions)
and Group banking arrangements.

2021 2020

£m 5]

Bank test net depbt 51.3 636
Bank test EBITDA 75.5 559
Ratio 0.68 114

The ratio above is calculated for the bank covanants as drawn bank debt less cash at bank divided by adjusted EBITDA
annualised for the effect of acquisitions, including costs relating to business combinations and exciuding share option
costs, prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, Adjusted EBITDA is profit before income tax, adjusted for interest {net finance
expense), depreciation, amortisation, costs relating to business combinations and exceptional items.

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management dunng the vear.

The primary sources of funding for the Group are internzlly generated cask ard syndicated borrowings. The Group's £5.0m
overdraft facility and £85 Om revolving credit facility were undrawn at 30 Juna 2021.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

3. Financial risk management continued

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the Group's financ al assets and habilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2021
by level of fair vaiue hierarchy.

- guoted prices (Unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (evel 1),

-« Mputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that s, as prices) or Ingirectly (that 1s, derived from prices) (level 2); and

« inputs for the asset or liability that ave not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) {level 3).

30 June 2021 30 June 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Total | avell Level 7 Total
note £m £m £m £ Crr £m
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 16 01 — 01 01 — a1

4. Segment reporting

Segment information 1s presented in tespect of the Groun's business and geographical segments. The primary format,
operating segrments, 1s based on the Group's management and internal reporting structure and monitored by the Group's
CODM. Inter-segment pricing is determ ned on an arm’s length basis,

Segrment results, assets and liabilties include itemns directly attributable 10 a segrment as well as those that can be allocated
on areasonable basis Unallocated items comrprise mainly mterest-bearing borrowings and associated costs, taxation
related assets and liabilities, costs relating to business cormbinations, and Head Office salary and premises costs.

Geographical segments

The bus ness operates predominantly in the UK. As at 30 June 2021, it has 25 veterinary practices in the Netherlands and

& in the Republic of Ireland. It performs a small amoun: of laboratory work for Europe-based clients and unil December 2020
the Onhne Retall Business distnibuted a small quantity of goods to Furopean countries In accordance with IFRS 8, 'Operating
Segments, no segment results are preserted for trade with European clients as these are not reported separately for
management reporting purposes and are not consicered matenal for separate disclosure.

Revenue comprises £359.3m of fees and £150.8m of goods (2020; £293.6m and £134.2m respectively). Revenue from
contracts totalled £60.4m n the year (2020: £46.8m).

Operating segments

The Group 15 split nto four operating segrments (Vaternary Practices, Laboratories, Crematoria and Online Retall Business)
and a centralised support function (Heaa Office) for business segment analysis. In icentifying these operating segments,
rmanagement generally follows the Group's service ines representing 11s main products and services,

Each of these operating segments 1s managed separately as each segment requires different specialisms. marketing
approaches and resources. Intra-group sales eliminations are included within the Head Office segment. Head Office
includes costs relating to the employess, prooerty ana other overhead costs associated with the centralised support
function together with finance costs arsing on the Group's borrowings.
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4. Segment reporting continued
Operating segments continued

Veterinary Online Retail

Practices Laboratories Cremataria Business Head Office Group
Year ended 30 June 2029 £m £m £m £m £Em £m
Revenue 453.4 28.0 8.0 17 (21.0} 5101
Profit/{loss) before iIncome tax 49.5 8.4 2.4 27 (29.9) 3341
Adjusted EBITDA 8.4 a1 2.8 29 {15.7) 97.5
Total assets 422.4 327 16.9 10.9 1.6 484.5
Total habilites (179.8) (4.0) (1.4) (3.4) {(104.8)} {293.4)
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Prafit/{loss) before incomea tax 495 8.4 2.4 27 {29.9) 331
Finance expense 41 - - — 29 7.0
Depreciation and impairment of tangible
and right-of-use assets 227 0.7 0.4 — 0.5 24.3
Amortisation 14.0 — — 0.2 2.6 23.8
Costs relating to business combinations 81 — — - 1.2 a3
Adjusted EBITDA 98.4 9.1 28 29 (15.7) 975

Yeternrary Cnlre Regail

Pracoces Labaratcnes Crar~atona Buziness -ead Office Cioup
Year ended 30 June 2020 £m £ £ £m £m o~
Revenue 3841 211 7.2 321 (187 4278
Profit/{loss) before income tax 269 50 21 24 (26.5) 99
Adiusted EBITDA 723 58 25 25 (1213 no
Total assets 405 226 140 228 36 464.3
Total liabilities {(176.8) {2.8} (1.4} (177 (99.0) (2977}
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA
Profit/(loss) before income tax 2689 50 21 24 (265} 99
Finance expense 41 — — — 45 86
Depreciation’ N7 08 04 01 1.2 2472
Amaortisation 147 - — — 75 22.27
Costs relating to business combinations 02 — — — 05 07
Exceptional items {note 6) 47 — — — 07 5.4
Adjusted EBITDA 723 58 25 25 (121 1.0

1 Impairments in the year ended 30 June 2070 are shown in exceptional mems

5. Finance expense

SUBWBENS (DIDUDU|4

2021 PG

£m L
Interest expense on bank loans and overdraft 25 35
Interest expense on IFRS 16 lease liabilities 41 41
Amortisation of debt arrangement fees 04 10
Finance expense 7.0 86
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

6. Expenses by noture

2021 2270

Note £m £m
Amortisation and iImpairment of iIntangible assets! 12 23.8 233
Depreciation and impairment of propearty, plant and egupment and rnght-of-use assets’ 13,14 243 24.2
Employae benefit expenses 7 2315 198.0
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 1175 999
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property. plant and equipment 53 44
Trade receivables impairment charge 20 0.7 25
Exceptional items — 54
Grant income — (8.2
RDEC income (2.0 -
Other expenses 68.9 598
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 470.0 409.3

1 Imrparmen-s inthe year endec 30 :une 2020 are showr 1 excepbenz! tems
There was no grant Income in 2021 relating 1o the UK Government's Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (2020: £8.2m)

There were no exceptional tems in the year ended 30 June 2021 During the year ended 30 June 2020, exceptional items
included costs associatec with the Board restructure which amounted to £0.7m and impairment of goodwill and patient
data records in relation to the disposal of Ashburn vetennary chinic of £0.5m In addition, £4.2m included within exceptioral
items relatea to the impairment of patient data recoras, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, dilapidation
provisions and redundancy provisions which all specifically relate to the costs associated with the closures of 33 sites. The
closure of these sites I1s considered as exceptional and non-recarring following a review of our portfelio of practices during
the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown The decision was taken ‘or these sites to remain closed as they were considered our
waorst performing practices. These costs are not related to the underlying performance of the business and for this reason
are d'sclosed as exceptional items. These costs are included within net operating expenses and are shown abave. These
costs have been deducted in arrving at taxable profit as disclosed in note 8 with the exception of impairment of patient
clata records, which has been offset by a deferred tax release.

Services provided by the Company’s auditor and associates
Curirg the year the Group obtaned the following services frem the Company’s auditor at costs as detalled below:

2021 2030
£000 £00U
Audit services
Fees payable to the Group's audtor for:
The audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements 164 35
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 326 365
490 400
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7. Employee benefit expense and numbers

Group
2021 2020
Employec bersht expense far the Group Note £m o
Wages and salaries 205.0 175.8
Social security costs 19.3 6.7
Other pension costs 30 0.0 45
Share based paynients 1 2.2 08
2315 198.0

The employee benefit expense included within cost of sales 1s £160.7m (2020 £137.7m). The balance ts recarded within
administrative expenses

The average monthly number of people employed by the Group {including Executive and Nor-Executive Directors} during
the year, aralysed by category, was as follows:

2021 2020

Number MNomaer

Veterinary surgeons and pathologists 1,962 1781
Nurses, practice arcillaries and technicians 4,976 4,708
Crematoriz staff 84 79
Central support 219 193
724 5,761

The Company has no employees, other than the Non-Executive Directors. The Executive Directors recerved remuneration
in respact of their services to the Company from a subsidiary company.

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation

Highes pad Cirector Jrrecters emalumers
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m fm
Salaries and cther short-term employee benefits 0.8 08 2.2 1.6
Company contributions to money purchase schemes — - o1 07
0.8 08 2.3 17

Retirement benefits are accruing to three Directors {2020: three} under a personal pension plan. The remuneration of the
Execltive Directors, amountng to £2.0m (202C: £1.4rm), 1s borne by the subsidiary company CVS (UK) Limited, without
recharge. Tha remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, amounting to £0.2m (2020 £0.2m), is borne by the subsidiary
company CVS (UK) Limited and recharged to the Company.

Directors remuneration is disclosed on an individual basis in the Rermunaration Coremittee report on pages 69 to 77,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

8. Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation continued

Share options

Under the Company’s SAYE schemes the Directors have the following options at the consolidated and Company statement

of financial position date:

Earlies: pxercise ciate Nurriner of

SATE staeme Diate o° g ant and vesting date  FrerCiwe price shares

R Fairman SAYET 30 November 2018 01 january 2027 830p 737
B Jackhn SAYEN 30 November 2018 01 January 2022 830p 737
B Jacklin SAYE12 04 December 2019 01 Jaruary 2023 863p 709
R Alfonso SAYEIZ2 04 December 2019 01 January 2023 8623p FOL
R Fairman SAYET3 02 December 2020 Ot January 2024 1.008p 606
B Jackin SAYE13 02 December 2020 O1 January 2024 1009p 570
R Alfonso SAYETS 02 December 2020 01 January 2024 1.008n 608

Shares awarded to Executive Directors under the Long-Term Incentive Plans ("LTIPs") as at the consolidated and Company

statement of financial position date are as follows:

LTI

Late o° grant

R Fairman
B Jackhn
R Fairman
B Jacklin
R Alfonso
R Farrman
B Jacklin
R Alfonso
R Alfonso

LTiP12
LTiFi2
L11P13
LTIP13
LTIP13
LTIP14
LTIP14
LTIP
LTiP14{b}

12 October 2018
12 Getober 2018
19 December 2019
19 December 2019
19 December 2019
02 October 2020
02 October 2020
02 October 2020
Q4 January 2021

Market nce on
daie of grant

¥ arlest exeicse dale

and vesiing dae

807p 30 June 2021

807p 30 June 2021
1.080p 30 June 2022
1.080p 30 june 2022
1,080p 30 June 2022
1.219p 30 June 2023
1.219p 30 June 2023
1.219p 30 June 2023
1.485p 30 June 2023

Nu~wer af
shates

30,969
6,194
46,296
27778
15,278
41030
24618
13,540
65,733

The exercise price for all shares awarded under LTIPs s G.7p.

LTIPNM lapsed in the year, for further details of the above schemes see the Remuneration Committee report on pages 63810 77,

Key management compensation

Key management is considered to he those on the Executive Committee (being the Executive Directors and other senior
managerment) and the Non-Executive Directors, The employrment costs of key management are as follows:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits

Post-emplovment benefits
Share-based payments

202
£m

4.0
0.2
1.0
5.2

2020
£m

29
o1
G4

34
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9. Income tax expense
a) Analysis of income tax expense recognised in the income statement

2021 2000
MNote £m i
Current tax
Current tax on profiss for the year 12.9 6.8
Adjustrments in respect of previous yvears 1.3 {18)
Total current tax charge 14.2 50
Deferred tax
Crigination and reversal of temporary differences (5.0) (3.9}
Adjustments in respect of previous years 0.3 07
Effect of 1ax rate change on opening deferred tax balance 4.3 2.4
Total deferred tax credit 24 (0.4) (0.8)
Total income tax expense 13.8 42

b) Reconciliation of effective income tax charge
The total Income tax expense for the year differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the standard rate
of UK corporation tax of 19.0% (2020: 19.0%) as follows:

201 070
£m i
Profit before tax 331 99
Effective tax charge at 19.0% (2020: 19.0%) 6.3 18
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2.4 10
Tax rate change on apening deferred tax balances 4.3 2.4
Adjustments to deferred tax charge in respect of previous years 0.3 07
Adjustments to current tax charge in respect of previous years 1.3 (1.8}
Utilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised (0.1} —
Effect of difference between closing deferred tax rate and current tax rate 0.7 —
Total income tax expense 13.8 42

Factors affecting the current tax charge
UK corporation tax 1s calculated at 19.0% (2020: 12.0%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The effective tax rate on reported profits is 41.7% (2020: 42.3%). The Group’s effective tax rate for 2021 was influenced by the
remeasuremeant of deferred tax balances in respect of UK junsdicticns from 19.0% to an average rate of 22 6% as a result of
the substantively enacted increase In the UK corporation tax rate to 25 0% from 1 April 2023. It was further affected by an
Increase N expenses not deductble for tax purposes predominantly in resoect of business acguisitions.

Changes in tax rates

The UK corporation tax rate for the year was 19.0% (2020, 19.0%). In March 2021, the UK Government announced an increase
in the UK corporation tax rate to 25.0% from 1 April 2023. The increase ir UK corporation tax rate was substantively enacted
on 24 May 2021, As a result, tha relevant deferred taxation balances have been re-measured using the ratas expacted to
apply when the deferred tax balances reverse.

The impact of changa in tax rate in the prior year arose due to the previous enacted reduction in the UK corporation tax rate
from 19.0% to 17.0% from 1 April 2020 being repealed, and the 19 0% tax rate being substantively enactad on 17 March 2020,

The impact of the change In tax rate has been recognised in total Income tax expense in the Income Statement, except to
the extent that It relates to items previously recognised cutside of the Income Statement in which case it has been
recognised in Other Comprehensive income and Equity accordingly.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

10. Earnings per Ordinary share

a) Basic

Basic earnings per Ordinary share s calculated by dividing the profit after taxation by the weighted average number
of shares inissue during the year.

2021 2000
Earnings attributable to Ordinary shareholders (Em} 19.3 57
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares inissue 70,685,939 /0654009
Basic earnings per share {pence per share) 273 a7

b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the welghted average numiber of Ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary shares The Company has potentially dilutive Ordinary shares, being
the contingently issuable shares under the Group's LTIP schemes and SAYE schemes. For share options, a calculation is
undertaken to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average
annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription nghts attached to
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would
have beenssued assuming the exercise of the share options

2071 2020
Earnings attributable to Qrdinary shareholders (Em) 19.3 57
Wweighted average number of Ordinary shares in 1zsue 70,685,939 70,654,009
Adjustmert for contingently issuable shares - LTIPs 237,307 109,143
Adjustment for contingently 1ssuable shares - SAYE schermes 246,533 3,017
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares ‘or diluted earnings per share 169,778 70,/66169
Diluted earnings per share {(pence per share) 271 81

Non-GAAP measure: adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per Ordinary share 1s calculated as adjusted profit before income tax less applicable taxation divided by
the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue in the period,

2021 20130
Moyt £m £m
Earnings attributable to Ordinary shareholcers 18.3 57
Add pack taxation 13.8 47
Profit before income tax 331 99
Adjustmenrts for:
Amartisation of intangible assets 12 23.8 222
Costs relating to business combimnations 4 8.3 07
Exceptional items 6 — 54
Adjusted profit before income tax 66.2 382
Tax charge amended for the above adjustrments (13.1) (8.5)
Adjusted profit after income tax and earnings attributable to owners of the parent 531 297
weighted average number o Ordinary shares in1ssue 70,685,939 70654009
weigihted average number of Ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share T1,169,779 70766169
Pence Pence
Adjusted earnings per share (perce per snare} 75.1p 42 0p
Diluted adjustad earnings per share (pence per share} 74.6p A8p
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11. Share-based payments
Long-Term incentive Plans (“LTIPs™)
The Group operates incentive schames for certain senior executives, the CVS Group Leng-Term Incentive Plans {"LTIPs").

Under the | TIP schemes, awards are made at an effective nil cost, vesting over a ithree-year performance penod conditional
upon the Group's adjusted earnings per share growth and Total Shareholder Return {"TSR"). The LTIP scheme arrangements
are equity settled.

Details of the share options cutstanding during the year under the LTIP s¢hames are as follows:

July 2020 schere July 2009 schorme July 2018 scheme July 2017 soreme

CLIPANdIy ) CLTIM3A30) TP RN
Numrer of shive N_mber of share Hurmber oF sate Muner OF share
awards awards awares awards
Outstanding at 1 July 2020 — 146,137 107,090 38,241
Granted during the year 144,038 — — —
Lapsed during the year — — — (38,247)
Forfeited during the year (7383) (112) (8.980) —
Exercised during the year — — — —
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 136,655 135,025 98.110 —
Exercisable at 30 June 2021 — — 28,110 -

Options are exercisable at 0.2p per share. The weighted average exercise price was 0.2p at the beginning and end of the pericd.

The options outstanding at the year end undar LTIP14, LTIP14{b), LTIP13, LTIP13{b} and LTIP12 have a weighted average
remaining contractual life of two years, two years, one year, one year and nil years, respectively.

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under the LTIP schemes amounted to £1.4m
(2020. £0.6m) and has been debited to administrative expenses. Employer’s National Insurance contributions of £0 6m have
been debited to administrative expanses (2020- £0.1m) in respact of the LTIP scheme transactions and are treated as cash-
settled transactions.

Further detaiis of the above schemes are included in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 62w 77,

Save As You Earn (“SAYE™)

The Group operates an incentive scheme for all UK employees, the CVS Group SAYE plan, an HM Revenue & Customs-
approved scheme. The SAYE10 scherme was opened for subscription in December 2017 (with options granted in January
2018}, the SAYET! scheme was opened for subscription in November 2018 {(with options granted in January 2013), the SAYET2
scheme was openad for subscription In December 2019 (with options granted ir January 2020), and the SAYE13 scheme was
opened for subscription in December 2020 (with options granted in January 2021). Under the SAYE schemes, awards have
been made at a 10.0% discount 1o the closing mid-market price on date of invitation for SAYE1D, SAYET and SAYETZ, and a
20.0% discount to the clasing mid-market price on date of invitation for SAYET3. All of the SAYE schemes vest over a
three-year penod. There are no performance conditions attached to the SAYE scheme. Details of the share options
outstanding during the year under the SAYE schemes are as follows:

SAYET3 zavET? SAVET Savzil

Mumbe- of MNumber of Number of Nurnker of

sharc awards share awards share awardls share awards

Outstandmg at 1 july 2020 — 274,371 336,536 151713
Granted during the year 360,269 — — -
Forfeited during the year (14,306) {30,561} (35,976) {23,400}
Exercised during the year* @) (249) (1,742) (115,299)
Outstanding at 30 June 2021 345,954 243,561 298,818 13,014
Exercisable at 30 June 2021 — - - 13.014

Ti

e weghted average share price at the date of exercise was £:770
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

11. Share-based payments continued
Save As You Earn (“SAYE”) continued

Options are exercisabla at 1,009p for the SAYELS schemie, 883p for the SAYETZ scheme, 830p far the SAYEN scheme,

and 1,287p per share for the SAYE10 scheme,

fhe weighted average exercise price at the baginning of the period for the options outstanding was £3.33 and end of the

periad was £9.09

The options outstanding at the year end under the SAYETS, SAYE 12, SAYETT and SAYETO schemes have a weighted average
remaining contractual ife of two years and five months, ane year and five months, ril vears and five maoniths, and ml years,

respectively,

The share-based payment charge for the year in respect of the options issued under the SAYE schernas amounted to £0.8m

(2020: £0 3m) and has been charged to administrative expenses,

COptions for ali schemes were valued using either the Monte Carlo or Black Scholes option pricing models. The fair value per

option granted and the assumptions used in the calculation are ag follows,

LTIP1S LTIPta(ts) SAYEIR
Gram: date 02 October 2020 04 January 2021 02 December 2020
Share price at grant date £1219 £14.85 £1415
Fair value per option £1043 £1338 £600
Excrcise price 020 072p £10.09
Number of employees 32 1 1140
Shares under option at date of grant 137305 6733 360,269
Yesting period/option life/expected life 3vyears 3vyears 3vyears
Weighted average rema'ning contractual life 2 years 2 years 2 years 5 months
Expected volatility” 390% 41.0% 43.3%
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield 0.33% 0.33% 0.40%

[ Shaie once caloulated at average of closing s* are pree for srecading 5 days n fine with scheme ruies

2 Lxpected volaubty has besn determined by refo <he histenical snare return velathty of CYS Group ple

G
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12. Intangible assets

Tracie Panant data Compatar

Geocw rames racords software Tatal
Sroup ole £m Lo 'm £m £
Cost
At July 2019 Q4.7 15 2607 4.2 3611
Additions arising through busingss combinations 43 — 29 — 772
Fair value adjustments in respect of prior periods G - — — 01
Foreign currency translation 07 — — — 07
Disposals” (0.2) — {0.4) — {0.6)
Other adjustmants a6 — - — 086
Other additions — — — 1.3 1.3
At 30 June 2020 1002 15 2632 5.5 3704
Additions ansing through business combinations 15 141 — 83 — 229
Foreign currency translation (0.4} — (08 — (1.2}
Other additions — — — 05 05
At 30 June 2021 13.9 1.5 27M.2 6.0 3926
Accumulated amortisation
AtTJuly 2019 {08B) 14 n2e 29 Nne6
Amortisation for the year — 01 24 07 2272
Foreign currency transiation — — 0z — 0.2
Impairment? — — 11 — 11
Other adjustments 06 — — - 08
Disposals’ — — Qn — (01)
AL 30 June 2020 — 1.5 1355 36 140.6
Amortisation for the year — — 228 10 23.8
Foreign currency transtation — — (0.2 — {0.2)
At 30 June 2021 — 1.5 1581 4.6 164.2
Net book amount
At 30 June 2021 13.9 — 1131 1.4 228.4
At 30 June 2020 1002 — 1277 18 2288
At July 2019 953 0 14738 13 2445

1 The disposals relate to the sale of Ashburn Vetennary Centre inthe year erded 30 June 2020

2 Theimpairment in the prnon vea relaies to the write down of patient cata recordis tor arnounced site closares The impsarment cnarge was included

within exceptional items .n the year ended 30 June Z020
Amortisation 15 charged to administrative expenses in the iIncome statement,

The patient data records and trade names were acquired as a component of business combinatens. See nate 15 for further
detalls of current year acguisitions.

intangible assets that are individually material to the financial statements are disclosed as follows:

Intangible category Descnipt on Canry ng amaunt Reraniry life
Patient data records Slate Hall veterinary Graup £6.9m 7 years
Patient data records YourVets £4.3m 4 years
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

12. Intangible assets continued

The components of goodwill are disclosed according 1o the group of CGUs 1o which they have been allecated. Due to

the integrated nature of the Group, although each veterinary practice, laboratory and crematorium is considered to be an
individual CGU, the monitoning of goodwill is performed on an aggregated basis for groups of CGUs that are no targer than
the operating segments, as determined in accordance with IFRS 8

The majority of other assets are tested at the CGU level, to the extent that an impairment review is triggered following
identification of an indicator of impairment by management. A small number of assets (typically patient data records
acquired 1n a business combination with multiple sites or locations) are shared between sub-groups of CGUs and are tested
forimpairmenrt at that level.

Goodwill per operating segment

2021 2020

£m £m
Veterinary Practices 109.2 955
Laboratories 21 21
Crematorna 26 26
Total 139 1002

impairment tests

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is denved from the Group’s pre-tax weighted average cost
of capital The risks relatng to each of the CGUs are considered 1o be the same as a result of the Group's operations being
antirely focused in the vetermary market ard, as such, the discount rate applied to each CGU 1s the same. The use of the
Group's weighted average cost of capital is consistent with the valuation methodology used when aetermining the offer
price for business combinations and, therefore. 1s considered an appropriate discount rate. The Directors consider the
growth rate to be broadly consistent between CGlUs; a 3.0% growth per annum in adjusted EBITDA has been assumed for
the purposes of assessing net present value of future cash flows, with adjusted EBITDA used as an approximation to cash
flows given the insignificant impact of working capital adjustments. The budget for the next financial year 1s used as a
hasis for the cash flow projections. The growt™ rate used in the mpairmrent tests is based upen a prudent assessment

of market-specific growth assumptions. Furtner detells of the impairment tests are disclosed In note 2.

Estimates are based on past expenence and expectations of future changes 1o the market. Growth rate forecasts are
extrapclated based on estimated long-tarm average growth rates for the markets in which the CGU operates (estimated
at 3.0%). The pre-tax discount rate used to calculate value In use1s 10.3% at 30 June 2021 (2020: 9.9%),

Based on impanrment testing at the indiv.dual CGU level, no impairment of patient data records (2020: £1.1m) and no
impairment of property, plant and equipment (2020, £0.3m) have been recognised by the Group in the year ended
30 June 2021 In the year ended 20 June 2020, this charge related entirely to the Veterinary Practices operating segment.

Having assessed the anticipated future cash flows, the Directers do not consider there to be any reasonably possible
changes in assumptions that would lead to further impairment charges in the year ended 30 June 2021 The 3.0% growth
rate I1s considered the worst case scenarno given growth rates expenencad in the veterinary market and, therefore, further
sensitivity analysis 1s not reauired.
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Fixures,

Freehald la~d Leaseheld ftirgs and Kaotar

ard buldings  improveran's, acLIpTent vekicles Tota
Grouh No oim m £ &m £
Cost
AT July 2019 154 288 505 27 970
Additions ansing through business combinations — - 02 — 02
Additions 15 2.7 59 10 11
Revaluation (on — — — on
Disposals — (o (0.3) (01} {0.5)
At 30 June 2020 16.8 314 559 36 1077
Foreign exchange — — (02 — {0.2)
Additions arising through business combinations 15 — - 06 — 0]
Additions 30 57 57 1.7 161
Disposals (05) — — {0.3) (O8)
At 30 June 2021 19.3 371 62.0 5.0 123.4
Accumulated depreciation
At july 2019 15 13.3 294 14 456
Depreciation for the year 03 34 6.4 06 07
Impairment' — — 03 — 03
Disposals — {om (0.3) (01 05
AL 30 June 2020 1.8 166 358 1.9 561
Foreign exchange — — (01 — (N
Depreciation for the year 03 30 6.2 08 103
Disposals — — — (03 {0.3)
At 30 June 2021 21 196 419 2.4 66.0
Net book amount
At 30 June 2021 17.2 17.5 201 2.6 57.4
At 30 June 2020 150 14.8 201 17 516
ALT July 2019 1389 155 207 13 514

1 mparments in the vear ended 30 June 2020 are shown i exceptional items

Freehold land amounting to £1.7m (2020: £1.2m) has not been depreciated.

Included within the above classes of assets 1s £4.6m (2020: £2.2m) of assets which are under construction.

14. Leases
Group as a lessee

The majority of the Group's veterinary practices, specialist referral centres and support offices are leased, with remaining
lease terms of between Tand 15 years. The Group also has a number of non-property leases refating to vehicle, equipment
and material handling equipment, with remaining lease terms of between 1 and 4 years. Additions to nght-of-use assets
include new leases; extensions to existing lease agreements are disclosed as remeasurements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

14. Leases continued
Right-of-use assets

Motor

Fapety EGapiment vehicles Tonal
3 NGte £m e £m £m
Cost
At 1 July 2019 105.0 1 17 1073
Forergn currency translation 01 — - Q1
Acquired through business combinations 22 - — 272
Remeasurement of lease term 19 - — 19
Additions G4 01 02 07
AU July 2020 1086 12 19 127
Foreign currency translation (0.6 — — {06}
Acquired through business combinations 15 A5 — - 49
Remeasurernent of lease term 78 — — 78
Additions 1.2 05 10 27
Disposals zn - — (21}
At 30 June 2021 1208 1.7 29 125.4
Accumulated depreciation
AT July 2018 — — — -
Depreciation for the year 122 Q4 09 135
Impairment 11 — - 11
At 1 July 2020 133 c4 09 146
Depreciation for the year 124 03 09 136
imparmerit’ 04 —_ - 0.4
Disposals (04) — — (0.4
At 30 June 2021 257 o7 1.8 28.2
Net book amount
At 30 June 2021 951 1.0 11 97.2
AL 30 June 2020 96.3 08 1.0 981
AT July 2019 1050 11 1.7 1078

Vo Iepairments o the year enden 30 June 2020 are shown n exceptionatlems.

The impairment loss In the current and prior financ al year, relates to veternary oractices which ciosed or were due 1o close.
Inline with |AS 38, the carrying value of these nght-of-use assets was assessed for indicators of impairment and the planned
ciosure was considered “o be an indicator of mpairment. The right-of-use asset was written down to its expected recoverabie

value and impairment costs of £0.4m (2020: £11m) weare charged ir the yvear. In the year ended 30 June 2020, these impairmeant

costs were included within exceptional tems.

Lease liabilities

2021
Gre i £m
Current 86
Non-current 90.2
Total discounted lease liabilities 98.8
Maturity analysis ~ contractual undiscounted lease payments

{.ess than one vear 12.4
Between one and five vears 511
More than five years 57.2
Total undiscounted lease payments 120.7

7320

£m

88
898

986

128
489
5953
12138
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15. Business combinations

Details of business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2021 are set out below, In addition 1o an analysis of post-acquisttion
performance of the respective business combinations, where practicable. The reason for each acquisition was to expand
the CVS Group business through acquisitions in meeting our strateaic goals.

Name of business combnatan Cawe of eoogus 1or
Darboe & Bally Limited 04 Novemiber 2020
Astonlee Limited 17 Novaermber 2020
White Lodge veterinary Centre Limited 19 November 2020
Charter Veterinary Hospital Group Limited 03 December 2020
Market Hall Vets (trade and assets) 20 February 2027
Animal Health Centre Limited 23 February 2021
Polmont Veterinary Clinic Limited 01 March 2021
Enterprise Veterinary Services Limited 02 March 2027
Greensands Veterinary Clinic Limited 28 Apnl 2021

All businesses were acquired via 100% share purchase agreement unless indicated otherwise in the table abave.

Given the nature of the veterinary practices acquired and the records maintained by such practices, it is not practicable
to disclose the revenue or profit or l0ss of the combined entity for the year as though the acguisition date for all business
combinations during the year had been at the beginning of that vear.

The table below summarises the total assets acquired through business combinations in the year ended 30 June 2021

Book value ot

acquired Fair value

assets adjustments Fair value

Neote £m £m £m

Property. plant and equipment 13 0.6 - 06
Patient data records 12 — 8.8 8.8
Right-of-use assets 14 4.9 - 4.9
Inventories 04 — 0.4
Deferred tax liability 24 (0.1) (2.0) 2.1
Trade and other receivables 1.4 (X)) 1.3
Provision for impairment of trade recevables (0.1) — (0.1)
Trade and other payables (1.9} - (1.9)
Loans (1.0) - (1.0)
Right-of-use liabilities (4.9) — (4.9)
Total identfiable assets en 6.7 6.0
Goodwill 12 141 14.1
Total inttial consideration paid (net of cash acquired of £1.3m) 201
Initial consideration paid (net of cash acquired of £1.3m) 19.4
Deferred consideration payable 0.5
Contingent consideration payable 0.2
Total consideration {net of cash acquirad of £13m) 201

Goodwill recognised represents the excess o° purchase consideration over the far value of the idenufiable net assets.
Goodwiil reflects the synergies arising from the combination of the businesses; this ncludes cost synerg.es arising
from shared support functions and buying power synergies. Goodwill incluses the recognition of an smount equal

to the deferred tax that arises on the acquired non-tax deductible patent data records,

Post-acquisttion revenue and post-acquisition adjusted EBITDA were £6.1m and £1.3m respectively. The post-acquisition
period i3 from the date of acquisition to 30 June 2021. Post-acquisition EBITDA reprasents the direct operating result of
practices from the date of acquisition to 30 June 2021 prior to the allocation of central overheads, an the vasis that it

is not practicable to allocate these.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

15. Business combinations continued
Goodwill and intangible assets recognised in the year relating 1o business combinations are not expected to be deductibie
for tax purposes.

The acquisit on costs incurred i relation to the above ana prior year business combinations amounted to £3.3m for the year
and are included within other expenses in note 6 of the financial staterments

The Directors do not consider any individual in-year acquisitior to be matenal to the Group and therefore have not
separately disclosed these.

Business combinations in previous years
Details of business combinations in the comparat ve year are presented in the consalidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2020.

Business combinations subsequent to the year-end

Subsequert 1o the year end. the Group has made one acquisition on 19 August 2021 The Group purchased 100% of tre
share capitat of Quality Pet Care Limited, a company registered in Ergland and Wales, for consideration of £20.4m. This
1S @ business comprising eight companion animal veterinary practice sites across the UK

The acquisition was purchased for total cash consideration of £20.4m Assets acquired comprised principally goodwill
and intangible patient data records with a provisional farr value of £20.4m.

16. Investments
a) Available-for-sale financial assets
Avallable-for-sale financial assets, which are denominated in Sterling, consist of an investment In managed investment funds.

The Group holos an investment in managed investment funds which have a quoted market price in an active market ard are
accordingly measured at farr value. Gains and losses ansing from changes in the fair value are recognised directly in equity
until the security 1s disposed of or deemed to be ‘mpared.

b} Shares in subsidiary undertakings

Comibeny MNote £rn
Cost and net beok amount

AT July 2019 685
Opuons granted to empiloyees of subsdiary undertakings 1 09
At 30 June 2020 6534
Options granted 1o employees of subsidiary undertakings Ll 22
At 30 June 2021 e

The principal subsidiary undertakings of CVS Group plc are set out in note 1

17. Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are used for hedging 'n the managerrent of exposure to market risks. Thrs enables the optimisation of the cverall
cost of accessing debt capital markets, and the mitigatior of the market nisk which would otherwise anse from movements
In nterest rates.

I he neffective element of cash flow hedges in 2021 was immatenal (2020: immaterial)

Cash flow hedges

On 28 February 2020, the Group enered Inta ar interest rate swap arrangemean: imting the Group's exposure (o interest
rate increases. At 30 June 2021 £70 O of debt was hedged (2020: £70 Om); the remainder of the dent was unhedged
at the year end.

The Group is exposed to Sterling LIBOR within a fair value hedge accounting relationship, which is subject to interest rate
bencmark reform. The Group has applied the amendments set oLt In Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 ard IFRS 7) and concluded that 111s appropriate to continue to apply hedge accounting, as detalled more fully in note 2.

The Group has closely monitored the market and the output from the various industry working groups managing the transition
to new benchmar < interest rates. This necludes announcements made by LIBOR regulators (including the Financial Conduct
Authonty ("FCA")) regarding the transition away from Sterling LIBOR to the Sterling Overnight Index Average Rate ("SONIA")
The FCA has rrade clear that, at the end of 2021, 1t will no longer seek to persuade or compel banks w submit ta LIBOR

In response to the announcements, the Group hias idertfied where LIBOR exposures are within the business and will
prepare and deliver an action plan o enable the smaooth trarsition to altarnative berchmark rates.
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17. Derivative financial instruments continued

Cash flow hedges continued

For the Group's derivative, the International Swaps and Dervatives Association's (1SDA") fall-back clauses were made avalable
at the end of 2019 and the Group has begun discussions with its banks with the aim of implementing this language into 1ts
ISDA agreements.

Below are detalls of the hedging instruments and hedged items In scope of the IFRS S smendments due to interest rate
benchmark reform. The terms of the hedged items listed mateh thnge nf the carresponding hedging instruments.

Hedge lype INgtrument type Maturing in Mo nal Hedged tem

Cash flow hedge Receve one-month Sterling 2024 £700m Sterling fixed rate issued
LIBOR, pay Sterling fixed debt of the same maturity
INterest rate swaps and nominal of the swap

The Group will cantinue to apply the amendments to IFRS 9 until the unceartainty arising from the interest rate benchmark
reforms that the Group is exposed to ends. The Group has assumed tnat this uncertainty vall not end until the Group's
contracts that reference LIBCR are amended to spacify the date on which the interest rate benchmark will be replaced,
the alternative benchmark rate and the relevant spread adjustment. This will, in part, be dependant on the introduction
of fall-back clauses which have yet 1o be added to the Group's contracts and the negotiation with fenders.

The Group classifies its Intarast rate swap arrangement as a cast flow heage ana utilses hedge accounting to minimise
incorne statement volatility in relation to movements i the value of the swap arrangerrent,

The fair values of the Group’s interest rate denvatives are establishad using valuation techmques, primarnly discounted cash
flows, based on assumptions that are supportaed by ohservable market prices or rates.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have been disclosed n the Group consolidated and Company statement
of financial position as follows:

2021 2020
Assets Liabilities Sasats Lizh it es
roup anc Company £m £m £m e
Non-current
Interest rate swap arrangements - cash flow hedges — (0.4) — (09)
Movements in fair values
[nl=rest
ratae swao
al rangemems
Groun and Company oo
Fair value at 1 July 2019 Q1
Fair value loss through reserves - brought forward (8X))]
Fair value loss through reserves - hedged (0.9)
At 30 June 2020 (0.9)
Fair value loss through reserves - nedged 05
At 30 June 2021 {0.4)

The cash flow hedge reserve represents the cumulative amount of gaing and losses on hedging instruments deemed effective
in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement
only when the hedgea transaction impacts the profit or loss, or 15 included directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount
of the hedged non-financial iterns.

The cost of hedging reserve includes the effects of the changes in farr value of the time value of option when only the
intrinsic value of the option is designated as the hedging instrument.

The changes in fair value of the time vatue of an option in relation to a transaction-related hadged item accumulated in the
cost of hedging reserve, are reclassified to the income statement only when the hedged transaction affects profit o loss, or
included as a basis adjustment to the nen-financial nedged item. The changes in fair value of the time value of an option in
relation to a time-pericd related hedged item accurnulated in the cash flow hedging reserve, are amortised to the income
stetement on a rational basis over the term of the hedging relationship
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 30 June 2021

18. Financial instruments

Assets
2021 2020
Loans and Available Loans and Avalarie
receivables for sale Total rece vables for sale Total
Groug Mote £m £m £m £rm £m £m
Available-for-sale financtal assets — 01 041 — 0 01
Trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments) 20 395 — 395 354 — 354
Cash and cash equivalents 337 — 33.7 215 — a5
73.2 01 73.3 56.9 o) 570
2021 2020
Loans and Available Loans ara Avallable
receivables for sale Yotal rece vables for sale Total
Coruary ezl £m £m £m £m rm £m
Ar-ounts owed by Group undertakings 32 82.3 — 82.3 816 — 816

Amounts owed by Group undertakings of £82 3m (2020, £81.6m) are ircluded in non
Interest-free and have no fixed date of repaymenrt

-current assets These are unsecured,

Liabilities
201 2020
Derivative Dervative
ingtruments INSIrLMments
in designated A designared
hedge Other hecge Orher
accounting fimancial aczountirg HOERISET
relationships liabilities Total ielatarshuos liztolt s Total
Sroar iote £m £m £m om £m Lm
Borrowings 23 — (83.9) (83.9) — (83.6) (83.8)
Trade and other payables {excluding
social security and other taxes) 21 — {69.1) {69.1) - (594} {59.4)
Right-of-use habilities 14 — (98.8) (98.8) (98.6) (98.6)
Derivative finarcial 'nstrurments 17 {0.4) — {0.4) (0.9} — (0.9}
{0.4) (251.8) (252.2} 09 (2M6) (242.5)

19. Inventories

All inventories are goods held for resale. The Directars do not consider the difference batween the purchase price of

nventories and their replacement cost to be material.
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20. Trade and other receivables

Group Zroup Company Compeny
2021 2070 2021 2020
£m £m £m £
Trade receivables:
wWithin therr due period 19.2 174 — —
Past due:
Not impaired 78 56 - —
Fully imparred 6.4 69 - —
Total tracle recevables 33.4 299 - -
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (6.4) (6.9) — —
Trade receivables - net 27.0 23.0 - —
Other receivables a4.4 B.4 _ _
Prepayments 8.6 80 — —
Accrued income 81 6.0 — —
Total trade and other recervables 481 434 — —
Group

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is deemed to be a reasonable approximation to fair value, The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 1s the fair value of each class of recevable above with the exception of prepayments
which hold no credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. The Group's trade and other receivables are
denominated in Sterling.

A provision for impairment 1s established based on credit risk. The amount of the provision was £6 4m (2020: £6.9m)
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2021 20201

£m cm

At the beginning of the year 6.9 50
Charged to the income statement within administrative expenses 07 25
Utilisation of the provision during the year 1.2) (08)
At the end of the year 6.4 89

Other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

At 30 June 2021, there is a contract asset recorded in accrued income of £8.1m {2020: £8.0m), relating to customer

lovalty schemes including the Healthy Pet Club ("HPC") contract. The contract asset anses from customers having received
consultations and treatments which are weighted towards the beginning of the twelve month scheme, in advance of cash
payments, as detailed more fully In note 2.

Company
Amounts owed by Group undertakings of £82.3m (2020: £816m) are Included in non-current assets. These are unsecured
and interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

21. Trade and other payables

Grongy Cornpany
2021 2020 207 2020
£m £m £m £m
Current
Trade payables 40.3 394 — —
Socizl security and other taxes 16.9 283 — —
Other pavables 127 51 — —
Deferred income’ 2.8 33 — —
Accruals 13.3 "6 — -
Total frade and other payables 86.0 877 - —
1 Gefaved ncormre refates to the contract haoil .ty ~elatirg to the Healby Pet Club ["HPC™) contract.
22. Provisions
Group Campany
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m

At the beginning of the year 5.0 — - —
Charged to the ircome statement within administration expenses 0.9 34 — —
Charged to the income statement within exceptional items —_ 16 - -
Utiised in the period (2.0) — — —
At the end of the year 39 50 -_ -

Provisions charged to the income statement relate to announced site closures during the year of £0.6m (2020: £1.6m) and costs
set aside for properties of £0.3m (2020: £3.4m) and therefore satisfy the recognition criteria under IAS 37 The announced site
closures include amourts charged to the income statement of £0.6m (2020: £1.6m) comprise £0.6m for dilapidation costs
(2020 £1.5m) and £l for redundancies (2020: £Q Ty},

23. Borrowings
Borrowings compnse bank loans and are denormmated in Stering. The repayment profileis as follows:

2021 2020

Group £m £m
Within one year or on demand — 01
Between one and two years - —
Afrer more than two yaars 839 835
83.9 836

The balances above are shown net of issue costs of £11m 2020 £1.5m), which are being amortised over the term of the
bank loan. The carrymng amount of borrowings 1s deemed to be 3 regsonable approximation to fair value.

The Group has total facilities of £170.0m. These “acilities are provided by a syrdicate of ‘our banks: Natwest, HSBC, BOI
and AB, and comprise the following elerents:

+ afixed term loan of £85 0m, repavabie on 31 January 2024 via & single bullet repavment; and
- g four-year Revolving Credit Faaility ("RCF™) of £85 0m that runs 1o 31 fanuary 2024,
In acdition, the Group nas a £5.0m overdraft fac lity renewable annually.

The two financial covenants associated with these facilities have remained unchanged, and are based on the ratios of Group
borrowings to EBITDA and Group EBITDA to interest. The Group horrowings to EBITDA ratic must not exceed 3.25x. The Group
EBITDA to interest ratio must not be less than 4.5« The facilities require cross-guarantess from the most significant of CvS
Group's trading subsidiaries but are not secured on the assets of the Group. EBITDA is based on the last twelve months’
adjusted EBITDA performance adjusted ‘or a twelve-maonth adiustment for businesses acquired., transaction costs and
defer-ed consideraton on business combirations and share option expenses, prior to the impact of IFRS 16
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23. Borrowings continuad
Bank covenants are tested guarterly and the Group has considerable headroom in both financial covenants and in its
undrawn but committed facilities as at 30 June 2021

Interest rate risk Is also managed centrally and derivative instruments are used to mitigate this risk. On 28 February 2020,
the Group entered into a four-year interest rate fixed swap arrangement to hedge flactuations ininterest rates on £70 Om
of its term loan,

At the consolidated and Company statcrment of finarcial pusilion date £70.0m of the term loan was hedged using an
Interest rate swap. The remainder of the debt is not hedged.

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
At 30 June 2023, the Group has a committed overdraft facility of £5.0m (2020: £5 0m) and an RCF of £85.0m {(2020: £85.0m).
Both the overdraft facility and the RCF were undrawn at 30 June 2021 and 30 june 2020.

24. Deferred income tax

Defarred income tax assets and hakilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. Deferred
income tax balances are calculated using tax rates expected to apply In the period when the liability or asset is expected
1o be realised based on rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets comprised

20N 2020
Group £m £
Tax effect of temporary differences:
Share-based payments 2.6 0.2
Accelerated tax depreciation 0.2 086
Derivative financiat instruments 01 02
Tax losses 01 -
Other 01 01
31 11

The Group's deferred tax assets have been recognised based on historical performance and future budgets. The Directors
believe that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits aganst wh ch the assets will reverse.

Deferred income tax liabilities comprise the excess of carrying value over the tax base.

2021 2020
Groun £m £m
Tax effect of temporary differences.
Excess of quabfying amortisation and intangible fixed assets acquired via a business combination 235 215
235 215
The movement in the net deferred Income tax assets and liabilities is explained as follows:
Acgaistion of
Created” Clargedta Credited to suksidiary aned
{charged, heer staremaent of deferren tax
Azl uly wncore  compreherswve changes i reeoyniged 1N At 30 June
2020 statement [Ialootes T equty gooowsll 201
SGrouwn £ £m £ £m £m £€m
Share-based payments 02 06 — 18 — 26
Dervative financial instrumen:s 02 — (0.1} — — 0.1
Other temporary differences Qal — — — - aa
Property, plant and equipment 06 {0.3) — — (on 0.2
Tax losses — G1 — — — 01
Intangible assets and fixed assets acquired
via a business combination (215) — — — (2.0} (23.5)
(20.4) 0.4 (on 18 (2.1} (20.4)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

24, Deferred income tax continued
Azqquisition of

(Chargeal) Crediea o Creckted 1o sabsidiary and
zrethted atner statorment of deerred wax
a1 July to rcome  compiehensive changesin recogrised n At 30 June
2004 statament INCCIme £ty goodwill 2020
Grour £rm £rh £ £m £ £m
Share-based payments 02 o0 — 01 — 02
Denvative financial instruments — — 0.2 — — G2
Other temporary differences - 01 — — - ol
Property, plant and eguipment 08 — - — — 06
Intangible assets and fixed assets acauired
via a business combination (21.8) 08 — — {05) (21.5)
(210} 08 Q2 a3 05 {204)

The deferred tax balance 1s non-current.

Deferred tax assets have been offset against deferred tax Tabilities as the balances relate to the same taxation authority, the
Group has a legally enforceable nght to offset and intenas te settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, In the year
ended 30 June 2020, the deferred tax assets of £11m were not offset against deferred tax liabilities. If these had been offset,
the net deferred tax balance at 30 June 2020 would have been a deferred tax liability of £20.4m.

The Group has carmed forward unutilised tax losses of £4 9m (2020 £1.1m) that are available indefinitely for offsetting agamst
future taxable profits of Group companies within the tax junsdiction In which the losses arose. A deferred tax asset has been
recogn sed of £01m {2020 £nil) In respect of some of these losses as it is probable that sufficient future taxable profits will
anse agamnst which the asset will reverse The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset on ramaining losses of £3.9m
(2020: £1.1m) as 1tis not probable that sufficient future taxable profits will anse against which the losses can be utised.

No deferred tax 1s recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidianies. The earnings are continually reinvested
by the Group and there 1s nointention for these entities to pay dividends, no tax 1s expected to be payable on themin the
foreseeable future.

25, Share capital

2021 2020
Loy £m £m
Issued and fully paid
70,753,782 (2020: 70654, 959) Ordinary shares of 0 2p each 0.1 )]

During the year, shares were issuea for a total consideration of £1.2m {(2020: £0.1m) as follows: 318 shares (2020: 19,019 shares)
in respect of SAYEQ; 37296 shares (2020 nil shares) in respect of SAYETD; 1,053 shares (2020: nil shares) in respect of SAYEN:
147 shares (2020 ril shares) in respect of SAYE12; and @ shares (2020: nil shares} in respect of SAYE13.

Details of shares under option are provided in note 11 to the finarcial staterments.
The authorised share canital of the Company 15 352,000,000 Ordnary shares of 0.2p each

Dividends
The Directors have proposed & final dividend of 8.5p (2020: Exil) per share, gving a total of E4.6m (2020, Eril). Duning the vear
"0 dvided was paid (2020: £3.9m),

EBT own shares
The Group operates an EBT which holds 710 shares {2020: 24,279 shares} 195,000 shares were bought at open market value
for £21min the year ended 30 June 2017

In the year erded 30 June 2017, the Group establishea an Employee Benefit Trust ("EBT™} for the purposes of satisfying
tne exercise of certain share options vesting under the Group's LTIP and SAYE schemes. The Group has accounted for the
nurchase of the shares held by the EBT as Treasury shares and has decucted these from raserves.

During the year, the Group did not sell shares (2020: 56,350 shares) 1o satisfy shares vesting under LTIP schemes The Group
sold 23 569 shares (2020: 114,371 shares) to satisfy shares vesting under SAYE schemes for proceeds of £0.3m (2020 £0 9my).
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26. Share premium

The share premium reserve comprises the premium received over the nominal value of shares 1ssued.

27. Anglysis of movement in ligbilities from financing activities

AT July tigllities on Mor-Lasn At 30 June

2020 Cash flow New leases dissosed leases MOVEmeit 2021

Group Lm £m £m £r £m £m
Right-of-use lease liabilities (AR A) 177 {15.4] 21 (4.0} (98.8)
Borrewings on ai — — — —
Bank loans (83.5) 10 - — (14) (83.9)
Total liabilities from financing activities (182.2} 182 (15.4) 21 {5.4) (182.7}

L ahumies cn

VT arlopr o and Lizoltesan MNor-cash A30 un=

2015 Cash flow new leases oisnosed loeses Movartent 2020

Grotp £ £ £ £m fm L
Right-of-use lease abilities — 18.3 {112.8) — (4.1} (98.6)
Borrowings (0.3) 0.2 — — — on
Bank loans (M4.2} 317 — — 1.0} (B35)
Total liabilities from financing activities {114.5) 50.2 {112 8} — (51 (182.2)

Non-cash movements on right-of-use assets mainly comprise interest on right-of-use lease liabilities. Non-cash movements
on borrowings and Bank loans mainly include amaortsation of 1ssue costs on bank toans, bank debt acquired and transfers

between categories of borrowings.

28. Cash flow generated from operations

Groun: Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £ £m £r
Profit/(loss) for the yaar 19.3 57 {0.5) (0.4
Taxation 13.8 42 — —
Total finance costs 7.0 36 —_ —
Amortisation of intangible assats 23.8 222 — —
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets’ 24.3 24.2 — —
Increase in inventories {0.4) (1.4} - —
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other recevables {3.4) 85 (0.7) 4.3
(Decrease}/increase in trade and other payables (5.2) 15 - —
(Decrease)/increase N provisions (1.1) 50 — —
Share aption expense 2.2 09 - —
Exceptional items' — 54 — —
Total net cash flow generated from/(used in) operations 80.3 948 (1.2) 39

1 Imparrments in the year ended 30 June 2020 are shown i cxceptional items
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2021

29. Guarantees and other financial commitments
Capital commitments
The Group had no capital commitments as at 30 June 2021 (2020 £nil),

Bank guarantees

The Company is a member of the Group’'s banking arrangement. under which it 1s party to unlimited cross-guarantees
in respect of the banking facilities of other Group undertakings, amounting to £175.0m at 30 June 2027 (2020: £175.0m).
The Directors do not expect any matenal loss to the Company to arise in respect of the guarantees.

Contingent liabilities
A letter of support has been provided to certain subsidiaries indicating the intention of the Company to support them,
if required, for a period of a minimum of twelve maonths from the date of signing their financial staterments,

30. Pension schemes

The Group contributes to certair employess’ personal pension schemes in accordance with their service contracts. The
amounts are charged to the income staterment as they fall due. The amounts charged during the year amounted to £5.0m
(2020: £4.5m). The amount cutstanding at the vear-end includea in trade and other pavyables was £0.9m (2020: £0.8m).

31. Events after the reporting period

On 189 August 2021, the Group completed the purchase of 100% of the share capital of Quality Pet Care Limited, a company
registered in England and Wales, for consideration of £20 4m. This 1s a business comprising eight companion animal veterinary
practce sites across the UK, aligned with the Group's strategic goals. Further information can be found in note 15.

32. Related party transactions
Directors’ and Key Management's compensation is disclosed in note 8.

Company
During the year the Campany had the following transactions with CVS (UK) Limited:
2021 2020
£m e
Recharge of expenses incurred by CVS (UK) Limited on behalf of the Company (0.5) (0.4)
Cash advanced to fund payment of dividend - {3.9)
The following balances were owed by related companies:
202) 2020
Receivable Payable Recenakle Payable
£m £m £rm £m
CVS (UK) Limited 82.3 — 816 —

Amounts owed by CVS{UK) Limited are unsecured and interest free and have no fixed date of repayment.

Transactions with Directors and key management

During the year, no dividends ware pad to the Directors of the Group (2020 The following dividends were paid to the
Directors: R Connell - £3,9534, D Kermp - £361, M McCollum - £2127. R Fairman - £80 and B Jacklin - £40. Dividends were
also pad to the spouse of R Fairman of £550)

Ultimate contrelling party
The Dwectors consider there 1s no ultimate conirolling party
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Five-year history — unaudited
for the year ended 30 June 2021

20 2000 209 2018 2017
£m om £m £m Bl

Revenus 5101 4278 4065 3273 278
Gross profit 221.9 1701 1682 1516 1245
Operating profit 401 185 15.6 177 172
Finance expense 7.00 (8.6) (3.9 (3.6 (27}
Profit betore income tax 331 =)e] 1.7 141 145
Income tax expense (13.8) (4.2} (3.5} (34) (3.0}
Profit for the year 19.3 3.7 32 167 m5
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA 975 no 545 476 421
Adjusted profit before income tax 66.2 382 414 360 335
Cash generated from operations 80.3 g4.8 521 48.7 372
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (16.6) {12 4) {12.9) (107) (13.8)
Proceeds from sale of property. plant and equipment
and intangble assets 0.6 — — — —
Repayment of obligations under right-of-use assets (13.0} (14.2} — — -
Business combinations (ret of cash acquired) (19.4} (7.2) {(56.6) {303} (46.9)
Loans and borrowings acguired through
business combinations (1.0) — {15) (30 (1.5)
Taxation pald {13.0) (93) (7.3) (8.2 (543
Interest paid (7.1) (70) (34) {37) (Zn
Amortisation of debt 1ssue costs (0.4) (1.0) (0.5) (04) (0.8)
Proceeds from Ordinary shares 1.2 0 06 610 306
Proceeds from Treasury shares 0.3 08 — — —
Purchase of own shares - — — — (21
Exceptional items - 0N — - —
Dividends paid - {39} (3.5) (2.9) (21)
Recuction/(increase) in net debt 1.9 389 (33.0) no (6.9)
Year-end net debt 50.2 621 1020 690 1000

Pence Teroe Pence Fence Pance
Basic earnings per share 273 81 16 8.0 18.5
Adjusted basic earnings per share 751 420 AB7 424 428
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